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Chairman’s Statement

EE®|E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board") of directors (the "Directors”), | herein present the
annual report of Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited (the “Company”, and together with
its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024 (the “Reporting Period").

BUSINESS REVIEW

Looking back at 2024, although the overall macroeconomic recovery was slower
than expected, the digital economy had penetrated deeply into all aspects of China's
socioeconomic activities. As the trend of digitalisation has become increasingly prominent,
digital equity-based products and services have become ubiquitous, which is reshaping
the consumption pattern of the nationals. The core needs of consumers will be more
focused on digital equity products, which undoubtedly become one of the key motivators
of the Group's development. The Group continues to solidify its strengths in its core
business, deploy diversified digital equity business to drive revenue growth, grasp business
opportunities in the everchanging digital economy, further strengthen its risk resilience
ability to cope with complex and volatile market environment through implementing
a number of measures such as strategy of reducing costs and enhancing efficiency,
promoting refined management and improving operational efficiency, and to maintain the
continued profitability of the Group.

In 2024, with the concerted efforts of the Board and the management of the Company,
as well as the significant efforts and contributions of all staff, the Group continued to
successfully develop the digital marketing services business. Driven by the strong growth
of its digital marketing services business revenue in 2024, the Group's revenue for the
year ended 3| December 2024 was approximately RMB128.6 million, which increased
by approximately 41.3% as compared to revenue of approximately RMB91.0 million for
the year ended 3| December 2023. Gross profit increased by approximately 38.3% from
approximately RMB73.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMBI102.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2024. Profit attributable to owners
to the Company for the year ended 3| December 2024 was approximately RMB31.9
million, which increased by approximately 94.5% as compared to profit attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately RMBI 6.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, mainly due to (i) during the Reporting Period, the management of the
Company continued to optimize the cost structure of its principal business segments and
adopted marketing strategies which were more precise than that in the corresponding
period of previous year, resulting in an increase of overall gross profit for the year ended
31 December 2024 as compared to the year ended 3| December 2023; and (ii) the
transaction amount of digital marketing services increased significantly as compared to the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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TOP UP SERVICES

In 2024, the Group strived to increase the annual gross transactions value of the mobile
charges and mobile data usage top-up service, and continued to source stable and
preferentially priced mobile top-up resources from suppliers, which increased the revenue
of mobile charges and mobile data usage top-up services from approximately RMB84.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately RMB104.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

DIGITAL MARKETING SERVICES

In 2024, the Group continued to extend the use of the strategic target set in 2023 to
deeply explore the blue ocean of data traffic of digital equity business while further
aggregating the resources of the Group to successfully develop an equity-based digital
marketing services business with a higher gross profit margin. The digital marketing services
business of the Group achieved revenue of approximately RMB24.1 million in 2024,
representing a significant increase as compared to the revenue of approximately RMB6.6
million in the corresponding period in 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group's revenue from digital marketing services business accounted for approximately

18.7% of the Group's total revenue.

Shenzhen NNK; an operating entity of the Group, has successively won bids in 2024
for a number of digital marketing and equity-related product projects for large state-
owned banks, joint stock commercial banks (such as Bank of China Limited, Industrial and
Commercial Bank of China Limited, China Construction Bank Corporation and Postal
Savings Bank of China Co., Ltd.) and renowned internet brands (such as QQ music
and Alipay) in China, which helped to maintain the Group's competitiveness within the
industry. As more new customer businesses will be launched successively in 2025, the
Board expects that the proportion of new businesses will continue to increase in the

coming years.
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Chairman’s Statement

EE®|E

OUTLOOK

The launch of DeepSeek model in January 2025 further substantiates the scale-down
of model and reduction of cost of artificial intelligence (Al), which in tumn increases the
popularity of the application of Al. The Group will continue to make investments in
research and development with the focus on integration strategy and customer value
creation, in an effort to foster the continuous growth of its business by strengthening
its technical solution capabilities and project delivery capabilities. The Group will also
work on the close strategic collaboration with professional partners such as Guangdong
Communication Industry Association, Shenzhen Commodity Exchange Market Federation
and Tencent Zhiying for exploring more sustainable business models in vertical fields
such as well-being and health, banking, insurance and digital cultural tourism to provide
comprehensive solutions to fulfil the needs of different industries, thereby further
enhancing the competitiveness of the Company in the digital marketing service industry

and providing customers with more value.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to our staff and management team for their dedication and contribution in the
past year, as well as to our shareholders and business partners for their confidence in and

support to the Group.

Zhou Jinhuang

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately RMB128.6
million, representing an increase of approximately 41.3% as compared with approximately
RMB91.0 million for the year ended 3| December 2023. The increase in revenue was
primarily due to the increase of transaction volume of digital marketing services business

and top up services business during the Reporting Period.

In 2024, the Group achieved a revenue of approximately RMB24.| million in the digital
marketing services business, representing a significant increase as compared with the
revenue of approximately RMB6.6 million for the same period in 2023, which was mainly
due to the expansion of cooperation between operating subsidiaries of the Group
and China's renowned lifestyle service brands such as WeChat Pay, Alipay instant cash
reduction, card coupons and credit marketing in 2024 and strengthening of cooperation
with customers in financial channels and large state-owned banks such as Postal Savings
Bank of China Co., Ltd. and China Construction Bank Corporation, which led to a

significant increase in digital commodity transactions.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased by approximately 42.4% to approximately RMB23.5 million
for the year ended 3| December 2024 from approximately RMB16.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the increase in the cost of digital marketing

related services during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENRR DN

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit increased by approximately 38.3% to approximately RMB102.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB73.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2023.

The Group's overall gross profit margin decreased slightly to approximately 79.4% for
the year ended 3| December 2024 from approximately 81.1% for the year ended 3|
December 2023.

Other Income, net

Other income (net) decreased by approximately 1.4% to approximately RMB7.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB7.2 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Such decrease was primarily due to the net effect of the
increase in government subsidy and the decrease in income on additional credit for the

input value added tax (“VAT").

Distribution and Selling Expenses

Distribution and selling expenses increased by approximately 65.0% to approximately
RMBI16.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB10.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly due to the restructure of the
marketing team by the Group in response to business expansion during the year ended
31 December 2024, which led to an increase in labor costs and business sales expenses as

compared to the previous year.

Administration Expenses

Administration expenses increased by approximately 6.4% to approximately RMB38.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB36.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly attributable to the increase in staff costs in

response to the needs of the Group's business expansion during the Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased by approximately 58.2% to approximately
RMBI12.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB7.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, primarily due to the increase in staff costs

during the Reporting Period.

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased by approximately 45.5% to approximately RMB3.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 from approximately RMB2.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2023, primarily due to the capital needs for various new digital marketing
services business projects, which led to an increase in average bank borrowings during the

Reporting Period.

Income Tax Expense

The Group's income tax expense increased from approximately RMB8.4 million for the
year ended 3| December 2023 to approximately RMB9.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, which was mainly due to the increase in total assessable profit for the

Reporting Period.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the Company

As a result of cumulative effects of the foregoing, profit attributable to owners of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB31.9 million,
as compared with profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 of approximately RMB16.4 million, mainly because the Group continued
to develop new businesses during the Reporting Period, which led to an increase in

revenue and gross profit as compared to the corresponding period of previous year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MIEJE n—.l-nﬂ?]& *ﬁ'

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Company during the Reporting
Period. The capital of the Company consists of net debts (including borrowings), net cash
and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company (including issued
share capital, retained profits and other reserves). The borrowings were all denominated
in RMB and were repayable within one year with interest rates ranged from 3.1% to 4.9%.
The cash and cash equivalents were mainly denominated in RMB and Hong Kong dollars.

Certain financial data are summarized as follows:

RBESRUBERURELER
ARENEREERNREBANLEEE) - A
RAMBABEERFHE (BEER) - B
FReEBYMFERAAREAR ABGER
(BREBETRE REHENREMER)
EFTIRARBE YR —FAEE - F
ENF31%249% - ReE KR FENEEIN
AR RBTHE - B THMBEEEINMT

As at 3| December

W+=—RA=+-—H

2024 2023

—B-mE —T-=F

RMB000 RMB000

ARETT AREFT

Cash and cash equivalents RekAeEEY 50,841 89,782
Net current assets mEEEFE 313,611 281,581
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities rEEe (FTA) /s Re %8 (123,716) 117,148
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities WEEHHE (TR REFE 47,648 (33,062)

As at 31 December 2024, cash and cash equivalents of the Group was approximately
RMB50.8 million, as compared with approximately RMB89.8 million as at 31 December
2023. The Group reported net current assets of approximately RMB313.6 million as at 31
December 2024, as compared with approximately RMB281.6 million as at 31 December
2023. The Group's current ratio was approximately 2.3 as at 31 December 2024, as
compared with approximately 3.3 as at 31 December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2024, net cash used in operating activities was
approximately RMB123.7 million, as compared with net cash from operating activities of
approximately RMBI 17.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. For the year
ended 31 December 2024, net cash from financing activities was approximately RMB47.6
million, as compared with net cash used in financing activities of approximately RMB33.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase in net cash used in operating
activities was due to an increase in advance payments to upstream suppliers and increase

in trade receivables from customers.

The Group generally finances its operation with internally generated cash flow and credit
facilities provided by its principal bankers. The management reviews the Group's capital
needs on a monthly basis to meet the capital requirement for mobile top-up services and
new business operations. As at 3|1 December 2024, the borrowings of the Group was
approximately RMB122.0 million, as compared with approximately RMB30.0 million as
at 31 December 2023. As at 31 December 2024, the total borrowings, being interest-
bearing borrowings which were denominated in RMB, carried interest rate at 3.1%-4.9%
per annum (31 December 2023: interest rate at 4.0% per annum) and were repayable
within one year. For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, the Group had not

used any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

The Group continues to adopt a prudent financial management approach towards its
treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the Reporting
Period. The Board closely monitors the liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity
structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding

requirements from time to time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENRR DN

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables mainly represent receivables from the Group's customers in relation
to its mobile top up service, digital marketing services and telecommunication equipment
business with amounts of approximately RMBI 3.8 million, RMB162.4 million and RMB9.9
million, respectively. Trade receivables from mobile top up service decreased from
approximately RMB132.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
RMBI 13.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, primarily due to the decrease
in transactions with longer credit period (about 30 to 45 days from invoice date) with the
banks.

Trade receivables turnover days (calculated by the average of the beginning and ending
balances of trade receivables of the year, divided by the gross transactions value with
mobile users for the year and multiplied by 366 days) for the year ended 31 December
2024 was 596 days (for the year ended 31 December 2023: 5.77 days). The Company
realised that the increase in transactions with longer credit period would require a much
closer monitoring of the settlement in order to ensure business turnover. The Company
will continue to monitor the credit risk by ongoing review the settlement of customers,
and evaluate the credit limits annually accordingly to the track record and financial
position of the counterparties. The Group's trading terms with the customers of the two
businesses, namely Dealership Business and Telecommunication Equipment Business, are
mainly on credit with credit periods ranging from three months to three years depending
on several factors including trade practice, the size of the contracts, credibility and
reputation of the customers. In order to manage the credit risks associated with trade
receivables with these customers effectively, credit limits of these customers are evaluated
periodically. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the senior management. An
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit

losses.

Exposure to bad debts attributable to customers intensified with China's weak economic
performance in 2024. The management of the Group has appointed dedicated staff
members to determine credit limits, approve credit and handle other monitoring
procedures, to ensure follow-up with all receivables in a timely manner. The Group
reviewed the collectability of receivables and the credit risks at the end of the Reporting
Period, to ensure that sufficient impairment losses are provided for in respect of
uncollectible monies. As a result, the amount of impairment loss recognised for trade
receivables increased from approximately RMB66,000 for the year ended 31 December

2023 to approximately RMBI.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the gearing ratio (calculated by dividing borrowings by total
equity as at the end of the year) of the Group increased to approximately 39.5% from
approximately 10.7% as at 31 December 2023 due to the increase in borrowings during

the Reporting Period.

Capital Expenditures
The Group's capital expenditures remained stable at approximately RMBI.5 million for the
years ended 3| December 2023 and 2024.

Significant Investment

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant investment.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant capital commitments.
During the Reporting Period, the Group paid the capital commitment of RMB5. | million
which was related to the establishment of the Shenzhen Yinsheng Huitang Technology
Co, Lid. (RYIFRBBIERHLARAT) (Yinsheng Huitang’).

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group's reporting currency is in RMB to which the Group's material transactions
are denominated. The net proceeds from global offering are denominated in Hong Kong
Dollars, which exposes the Group to market risk arising from fluctuations in foreign
exchange rate. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group will monitor foreign exchange exposure closely

and consider the usage of hedging instruments when the need arises.

Charges on Assets
As at 31 December 2024, borrowings with amounts of RMBI12.0 million were secured

by certain trade receivables and bank deposits of the Group (2023: RMB30.0 million).

Contingent Liabilities and Guarantees
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent

liabilities, guarantees or any litigation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

On 8 December 2023, a wholly foreign-owned enterprise of the Company entered into
the joint venture agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent third party, for the
establishment of the Yinsheng Huitang. Based on the Agreement, the Group fully paid the
share capital of Yinsheng Huitang amounted to RMB5. | million in 2024.

Save as disclosed above, for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not have

any specific plan for matenial investments or acquisition of material capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS
During the Reporting Period, there was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,

associated companies and joint ventures by the Group.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM") will be held on
Friday, 20 June 2025. Notice of the AGM will be published in due course.

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the transfer books
and register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 17 June 2025 to
Friday, 20 June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no share transfers can be
registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, unregistered holders
of shares of the Company should ensure that all share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
I712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, |6 June 2025. Shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) whose names are recorded in the register of members of

the Company on Friday, 20 June 2025 are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

DIVIDEND
The Directors did not recommend payment or the declaration of final dividend for the

year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 3| December 2023: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 156 (31 December 2023: 124) full-time
employees. Total staff cost (including Directors’ remuneration) was approximately
RMB5 1.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2024, as compared with approximately
RMB36.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group believes that
employees are one of its most important assets and the Group strives to offer a
competitive remuneration to its employees. The Group has been recruiting and
promoting individuals based on merit and their development potentials. Remuneration
package offered to all employees including Directors is determined with reference to
their performance, qualifications, experience and the prevailing salary levels in the market.
Apart from basic remuneration, share options or award may be granted under the share
schemes of the Company to eligible participants (including employees or Directors) by
reference to the Group's performance as well as the individual's contribution. Besides, the
Group has been providing training opportunities for its employees in order to enhance

their qualifications and equip them with necessary skills.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Zhou Jinhuang (A€ H), aged 59, our chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”),
has been an executive Director of the Company since 8 November 2022. Dr. Zhou
graduated from PLA Information Engineering University* (BRIIE {5 B T2 X&)
(currently known as the PLA Strategic Support Force Information Engineering University*
(PEIR M E B R SR EE B TR KE)) in 1987 and obtained a master's degree in
economics from the School of Economics of Peking University (1t R A4 EET) in
1998 and a doctorate degree in economics from Beijing Normal University (1 SRl EE
AE) in 2007. From March 2019 to October 2022, Dr. Zhou was the general manager
of the Information Technology Department of China Huarong Asset Management Co,,
Ltd. (PEIERIE E BRI AR AF]) and the chairman of the board of directors of
Huarong Rongtong (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd* (ZERENA (ILR) RIEBRAR]).
From November 2016 to November 2018, Dr. Zhou worked as the chairman of the
board of directors of J|J Bill Exchange (R EBRIFER ZF LM AR F]). From
May 2015 to November 2016, Dr. Zhou was the vice-president of Shanghai Huarui Bank
(E/BEEIHIRTT). From December 1998 to May 2015, Dr. Zhou successively served as
the secretary and the deputy director of the secretariat department of the general office
of the People’s Bank of China (R BI AR ER1T), the deputy director of the payment and
settlement department of the People’s Bank of China and the director of the general
office of the payment and settlement department of the People’s Bank of China. He has
over 25 years of experience in the field of banking and finance in the People’s Republic
of China. From June 2016 to August 2019, Dr. Zhou served as an independent non-
executive director of China Smartpay Group Holdings Limited (P B B EBIERE
PR 2 F]), a company listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 8325).

Mr. Guan Heng (B818), aged 44, has been appointed as an executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 2 November 2022. Mr. Guan
obtained a bachelor’s degree in telecommunication engineering from Beijing University
of Posts and Telecommunications (1L REEAZ) in 2003, and a master of science
degree in telecommunications from Queen Mary University of London in 2004. Since
2015, Mr. Guan has been the managing partner, director and a member of the investment
committee of ChiFortune Venture Capital Co., Ltd. (At R RIEHREE BB R A F).
From 2015 to 2022, Mr. Guan was the chief operating officer of Beijing Inspiry Technology
Co, Ltd. At REHFTEIEHE B R 2 7)) and co-founder and director of Beijing Payment
Union Technology Co,, Ltd. Gt RIKEE B BEHZ B R A R]). From 2014 to 2015, Mr.
Guan was the general manager of the Interet Car Business Division of Autopia (Beijing)
Mobile Tech Co., Ltd* (BRE (It R) BBEHZERAE]). From 2008 to 2014,

Mr. Guan consecutively served as the project manager and research and development
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

department manager of Sony Ericsson Mobile Communications Inc. and Sony Mobile
China Ltd. From 2005 to 2008, he worked as the R&D engineer in the Beijing Research
and Development Centre of Nortel Networks Inc. of Canada (M2 AL B 27

AL, He has accumulated over |8 years of experience in telecommunication industry.

Mr. Huang Junmou (E#& ), aged 58, is our honorary chairman and has been an
executive Director of the Company since 18 June 2014. He is a founder of the Group and
has served as a director and chairman of the board of directors of Shenzhen Niannianka
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (RINTTFE R EHR AR F]) (“Shenzhen NNK")
since its incorporation. He is responsible for overseeing the Group's overall strategic
planning and management. Mr. Huang has over |8 years of experience in information
technology related industries, including over 16 years of experience in the mobile top-
up service industry. Prior to founding Shenzhen NNK, he was the general manager
of Shenzhen Motivity Telecom Co., Ltd. (ZYITHREVNEFA AR A A), a company
primarily engaging in the provision of information technology outsourcing services, from
June 2004 to May 2006, where he was responsible for business development. Mr. Huang
was a shareholder and a director of Shenzhen Honglingyu Industrial Limited Company
from May 2001 to May 2004, where he was responsible for strategic planning and
management of the company. Prior to that, Mr. Huang was a shareholder and worked as a
supervisor for Shenzhen Difulan Industrial Limited Company from May 1998 to May 2001,
where he was responsible for administrative and financial management. Mr. Huang was an
employee of the Shenzhen Post Office (RYIITTESE /B) from September 1988 to August
1992, and an employee of Shenzhen Telecommunications Development Company (3l
MEEZEEZAT]) from November 1992 to November 1995, Prior to that, Mr. Huang
worked for Shenzhen Fengsheng Intemational Textile and Fashion Company (& 3II 8%
R ARE AR A A]) from October 1986 to October 1988. Mr. Huang is a director
of Fun Charge Technology Limited (“Fun Charge Technology"), a substantial shareholder
of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Fan Weiguo (SB&E), aged 61, was first appointed to our Board as a non-executive
Director on 28 October 2021 and his term of appointment ended on 10 February 2022.
He was re-appointed as a non-executive Director on |7 March 2022, He is currently the
president of Shenzhen City Commodity Exchange Market Federation* (ZRIITI& 2
SIS A ). He served as the assistant to president, senior reporter and vice general
manager of Economic Herald (£ B& %) from 1992 to 2008. Mr. Fan was the special
assistant to the chairman of the board of directors of China Resource and Transportation
Group Limited (FEIERZAEE AR A]), a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™) (stock code: 0269),
from 2009 to 2010. Between May 2011 and March 2013, he also held two positions at
North Mining Shares Company Limited (At 77 &5 B R A 7]), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0433), including executive director from
May 2011 to May 2012, and non-executive director from May 2012 to March 2013. Mr.
Fan was the executive director of Global Strategic Group Limited (REK BB BB R
/A A)), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8007),
from 2014 to 2016. He was also the vice chairman of the board of directors of Universal
Television GRIRER &) from 2016 to 2019.

Mr. Fan graduated from International East-West University of United States of America
with a master’s degree of business and administration. He is also a senior economists
and senior planner qualified by the Ministry of Labor and Social Security of the People’s
Republic of China.

Mr. Yu Zida (% F3), aged 60, has been a non-executive Director of the Company since
18 June 2014 and is responsible for overseeing the strategic development of our Group.
Mr. Yu has served as the president of Shenzhen Sinomaster Investment Group Co,, Ltd.
(YT IR E B AR A F]) since September 2013. He has been a director of
T&S Communications Co, Ltd. (RYIARKBERNBRAF]) (2 company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 300570) since March 2014. He has been a
director of Shenzhen Aisidi Co., Ltd. (RYITTE HEEAR A B MR A ) (a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002416) since 20 March 2015. He has been
the executive director and the general manager of Shenzhen Sinomaster Photovoltaics
Technology Co,, Ltd. (ZRINT 8N B S ABHE B R AR since | August 2023,
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Yu is an executive committee member and a deputy director of the China National
Accreditation Service for Conformity Assessment (FEI A EHRRAAIELZER)
from November 2008 till now. He was recognized as a National Young and Middle-aged
Expert with Outstanding Contributions (FEIFR EF B REBRER) by the State
Council of the PRC in 1999 for his contribution to engineering services, therefore enjoys
the allowance granted by the State Council. He was awarded the title of Qingdao Top
Talent (BEMHEAT) in April 2013 and was recognized as a national-level talent by

the Shenzhen Municipality from November 2013 till now.

He served as the director of the technology center of Haier Group (/8RS BT L)
from 1988 to 1995; as the deputy general manager of Haier Group Air Conditioning Co.,
ltd. (EREBEFERAR QA from 1995 to 1997 as the deputy general manager at
the headquarters of Haier Air Conditioning Electronics (835 B %= E F4<E) from
1997 to 1999; the general manager at the information products division of the Haier
Group (BREEE EEMAEL) from 1999 to 2002; as the vice president of Haier
Group Company (/5% B A7), the general manager at the information products
division of the Haier Group and the head of the research and development promotion
division of the Haier Group from 2002 to 2009; as the senior vice president and executive
vice president of the Haier Group Company, the chief technology officer of the Haier
Group Company and the CEO of the Haier Group Digital and Personal Products Group
(BREBEZEREAAERER) from 2009 to 2013; as a director of Qingdac Haier
Co. ltd. (F&BRANBMAT]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600690), from June 2010 to April 2013.

Mr. Yu received a bachelor's degree in power engineering from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology (EEF RHXAER) (formerly known as Huazhong College of
Engineering*(ZEH T2F7)) in July 1985. He further obtained a master 's degree in power
engineering from Huazhong University of Science and Technology (ZEFRHE KER)
(formerly known as Huazhong Polytechnic University* (E£F 22 T AE8)) in May 1988. He
received his doctorate degree in management from Xi'an Jiaotong University in February
2006.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEBEBEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Li Yao (Z#8), aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director by
the Board on 30 June 2023. Dr. Li has approximately 30 years of experience in financial
industry. Dr. Li served as chief executive officer of a large-scale China overseas investment
fund and the chairman of its investment committee, and as co-chief executive officer of
a wholly-owned investment management company for one of leading insurance groups
in China. Earlier in his career, Dr. Li worked at the head office of a top state-owned
commercial bank, where he was responsible for the establishment and expansion of
a multinational investment fund advisory business and a domestic investment banking
business. In addition, Dr. Li received his bachelor's degree in finance from China Nanjing
University, his master's degree in finance from Nankai University of China, and his
doctorate degree in economics from Renmin University of China. Dr. Li is currently
an independent non-executive director of Bairong Inc, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 6608).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Zhang Mingqun (SRS E¥), aged 49, has over 20 years of experience in supply chain
management, financial trading, commodity trading, investment and energy industry. Mr.
Zhang was the partner of C&Y Global Inc, a company primarily engaged in the wholesale
export of scrap metal in the global market, from March 2008 to October 2016, where
he was mainly responsible for handling metal and commodity trading matters. Mr. Zhang
also served as the managing director of a private equity investment institution, namely
Nio Capital, from November 2016 to October 2018, where he was mainly responsible
for the overall management of the investment and financing business of the corporation.
Mr. Zhang is currently an investment and operation partner of Starquest Capital Equity
Investment Management (Shenzhen) Co, Ltd* (2 REAREREEE (ORI BRA
a]) and is responsible for the overall management of the company’s operation. Mr. Zhang
received a bachelor's degree in computer science from York University in June 2001
and a master's degree in business administration from PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua
University in May 2023. Mr. Zhang was the vice president of the energy division of the
Asia Pacific of General Electric Company, a company listed on New York Stock Exchange

(stock code: GE), from October 2003 to February 2008.

Ms. Zou Guoying ($FEIZE), aged 61, obtained her bachelor's degree in finance from
the Department of Finance of Lanzhou Business School (currently known as Lanzhou
University of Finance and Economics) in June 1987 and an on-the-job master's degree
in international finance from the School of Economics of Peking University in 1996. Ms.
Zou has over 30 years of experience in the banking and finance industry. She joined
the People’s Bank of China in June 1987, where she served as the deputy director of
the Financial Research Division of the Research Bureau of the head office before her
departure in August 2000. She consecutively served as a deputy director and director of
the Economic Department of the Liaison Office of the Central People’'s Government in
the Macao from August 2000 to December 2002. She was an assistant to the president
of the Shenzhen Development Bank, Shanghai Branch from January 2003 to July 2005. She
joined China Minsheng Bank in July 2005, where she served as the chief audit officer of the
East China Audit Centre of the head office and the leader of the first and second batch
of inspection teams of the Party Committee of the head office before her departure in
March 2019. She was also the vice chairman and subsequently the chairman of the China
Minsheng Bank Shanghai Minsheng Art Foundation from July 2011 to March 2019. Since
March 2021, Ms Zou has been served as an independent director of Shenergy Group
Finance Co. Ltd. (R BB BB R A)).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEBEBEFE

Save as disclosed above,

(1) the Directors did not hold any directorship in other listed public companies of
which the securities are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas
in the last three years prior to the date of this report and does not hold any other

positions with the Company or other members of the Group; and

(2)  the Directors do not have other relationship with any other Directors, senior

management, substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Hung Hing Hung (B 4I), aged 43, is the Chief Financial Officer and Joint Company
Secretary of the Company. Mr. Hung joined the Company in November 202 1. He has
over |8 years of experience in the field of auditing, accounting and financing. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Hung held senior positions in different organisations, including
an international accounting firm and various public and private companies in Hong Kong.
Mr. Hung is responsible for the financial management and company secretarial matters of

the Group.

Mr. Hung graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and obtained a bachelor's
degree in business administration (professional accountancy) in 2006. He is a fellow

member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

It is the belief of the Board that good corporate governance plays a vital part in maintaining
the success of the Company. The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the

“Shareholders™) and to enhance corporate accountability.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company has complied with all the applicable
code provisions (the “Code Provisions') of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix Cl to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules"). The Company will continue to review the current
corporate governance structure from time to time and make necessary changes when

appropriate and report the same to Shareholders accordingly.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its
code of conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry
to all Directors, all the Directors have confirmed that they complied with the required
standard of dealings set out in the Model Code during the year ended 3| December
2024.

THE BOARD

Corporate culture and strategy

The Company is committed to the development of the digital economy, and will leverage
on digitalisation and adhere to the concept and corporate culture of benefiting the
public, with an aim to provide customers with safe, reliable, stable and trustworthy high-
quality services. The Board recognises that corporate culture is an important support for
the Group's long-term development and good corporate governance. The Company
strictly abides by the national laws and regulations, constantly optimises the corporate
governance structure, so as to enhance the corporate governance level and continue to
promote the corporate culture of integrity. Taking high standard of business ethics as the
yardstick to carry out its business, the Company actively undertakes and fulfills its social
responsibilities and strives to lay a solid foundation for the realization of high-quality and
sustainable development of the Company to continue creating values for shareholders,
customers, employees and society. For details of the Company's corporate culture, values
and strategies, please refer to the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this

annual report.
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Corporate Governance Report
== M \A $& H

BOARD COMPOSITION
The Board currently comprises eight Directors, including three executive Directors, two

non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board for the year ended 3| December 2024 and up to the date

of this annual report is as follows:

Executive Directors

Dr. ZHOU Jinhuang (appointed as Chairman on 26 January 2024)

Mr. GUAN Heng (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. HUANG Junmou (resigned as Chairman and appointed as honorary chairman on

26 January 2024)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. FAN Weiguo
Mr. YU Zida

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHANG Mingqun

Ms. ZOU Guoying

Dr. Ll Yao

‘C.
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Corporate Governance Report

The biographical details of the Directors and the relationships among the board members
and the senior management are set out in the section headed "Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 18 to 24 of this annual report. Details
regarding the term of appointment of the non-executive Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment” on pages 80 to

81 in this annual report.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer of a listed company should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. In accordance with Code Provision C2.| of the CG Code, during
the year ended 31 December 2024, the roles of the Chairman and chief executive officer
are separately performed by Mr. Zhou Jinhuang and Mr. Guan Heng, and the division of
their responsibilities is clearly established and set out in writing in order to ensure a clear

distinction between the responsibilities of the Chairman and chief executive officer.

Mr. Zhou Jinhuang has been appointed as the Chairman with effect from 26 January
2024 and primarily responsible for providing leadership to the Board and overseeing the
Group's overall strategic planning and management. The Chairman provides leadership
and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with good
corporate governance practices. With the support of the company secretaries of the
Company, the Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive, in
a timely manner, adequate information, which must be accurate, clear, complete and
reliable, and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The Chairman
encourages all Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, to actively

participate in all board and committee meetings.

Mr. Guan Heng is the chief executive officer of the Company. He is responsible for the
Group's day-to-day management, operations and business development in the PRC. Mr.

Guan has accumulated over |8 years of experience in telecommunication industry.
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Corporate Governance Report
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Independent non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board at all times met the has complied
with requirements Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing one-
third of the Board, with at least one of whom possessing appropriate professional

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the independent
non-executive Directors in respect of his/her independence in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with the

independence guidelines as set out under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and oversees the
Company's businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The
Directors take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. The Board has
delegated to the chief executive officer, and through him, to the senior management the
authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management and operation of the Group.
In addition, the Board has established board committees (the “Board Committees”)
and has delegated to these Board Committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. Further details of these committees are set out in section

headed “Board Committees” in this annual report.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy matters, strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating to
implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and

management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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Corporate Governance Report

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and

professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

All Directors have access to all the information of the Company as well as the services
and advice of the company secretary and senior management. The Directors may, upon
request, seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company's expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders

at all times.

The CG Code requires directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held in
public companies or organizations and other significant commitments as well as their
identity and the time involved to the issuer. Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments to the Company in a timely manner and the Board regularly reviews
the contribution required from each Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the

Company.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ liabilities in

respect of legal actions against its Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board revised and adopted a board diversity policy on 30 March 2022 which set
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. The Company considered diversity
of board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualification, skills, knowledge and industry and length of service. The Company aims to
maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant
to the Company's business growth. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the

benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
qualification, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be made

upon the merits and the contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy, as annually appropriate,
to ensure the effectiveness of this policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for

consideration and approval.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises of eight Directors, covering
different genders and has a broad age distribution and a diverse mix of background,
knowledge and skills. The Nomination Committee considers that, appropriate balance has

been stricken among the Board members in terms of skills, experience and perspectives.
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Corporate Governance Report

GENDER DIVERSITY

Board Composition

The Board believes that gender diversity is a manifestation of board diversity, among
all other measurable objectives. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board
comprises seven male directors and one female director. The Company will continue to
apply the principle of appointments based on merits with reference to the Board Diversity

Policy as a whole.

The Group recognises the importance of diversity and has a diverse workforce in terms
of gender, providing a variety of ideas and levels of competency that contribute to
the Group's success. In the hiring process, the Group takes into account a number of
measurable factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional specialisation, experience, skills, knowledge and other
qualifications. Appointment of candidates is solely based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Group. As of 31 December 2024, the gender ratio of the Group's workforce is
50% male and 50% female. Overall, the Board considers the recruitment strategy adopted

by the Group is effective and adequate.
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BOARD MEETINGS

Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are normally made available
to Directors in advance. The Board meets at least four times per year at approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with Code Provision C5.1 of the CG Code. Notice
of not less than |4 days would be given for all regular board meetings to provide all
Directors with an opportunity to attend pursuant to Code Provision C.5.3 of the CG

Code and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other board and committee meetings, reasonable notice would be given. Board
papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all
Directors at least three days before each board meeting or committee meeting to keep
Directors have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately prepared for the
meetings. All Directors can access to the senior management and the joint company
secretaries of the Company at all times and upon reasonable request seek independent

professional advice at the Company's expense.

Minutes of the meetings are kept properly with copies circulated to all Directors for
information and record. Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail of the matters considered by the Board and the committees
and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes
of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which meeting is held. The minutes of the

board meetings are available for inspection by Directors.

The articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”) contain provisions requiring
Directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for
approving transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material

interest.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS
The attendance record of each Director at the Board, Board Committees meetings and
general meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set

out in the table below:

EERZEEREHFERTR
HEZS-_WF+-_A=+—HLEFEEAR

ARESHREFE EX

RAGHEHEN TR

Attendance/Number of Meetings

CREABE

ZEEEALK

R/ EBRE

Annual/

Board  Nomination Remuneration Audit  Extraordinary

Name of Director Meeting ~ Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee General Meeting

BREF/

s Ex6E3 REZEE FMZRE EBUzEe ERIVN |
Executive Directors UiTEs

Mr. HUANG Junmou BR#LE 5/5 I Il NATER n

Dr. ZHOU Jinhuang AeERT 55  NATER  NATER  NATER n

Mr. GUAN Heng BELE 55  NATER  NATER  NATER 0
Non-executive Directors FHTES

Mr. Fan Weiguo SEEERE 55  NATER  NATER  NATER 0N

Mr. YU Zida WL 55 NATER  NARER  NATER 0

Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES

Mr. ZHANG Mingqun RERLE 55 NIARNER I 0 n

Ms. ZOU Guoying FEEL 565 I/ I/ 0 0N

Dr. LI Yao FIREL 55 i NATER 0 0

The Company held an annual general meeting and an extraordinary general meeting AARBE_Z_ME+_A=+—HILF

during the year ended 3| December 2024. BRIT-ARFRBFRG R—RERRE

N
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Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman should hold at
least one meeting annually with the non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) without the executive Directors present. For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Chairman met with the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors without other executive Directors present to understand their

concerns and to discuss pertinent issues.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as Directors of the Company and of the conduct,

business activities and development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored induction
on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction
shall be supplemented by visits to the Company's offices and meetings with senior

management of the Company.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4 of CG Code, Directors should participate in appropriate
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Intemnally
facilitated briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on relevant topics
will be issued to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company's expenses. According to the records of the
Company, in 2024, all Directors attended training sessions on duties and obligations
of directors of companies listed on the Stock Exchange which was conducted by the

Company's legal adviser as to Hong Kong laws.
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During the vear ended 31 December 2024, the key methods of attaining continuous

professional development by each of the Directors are summarised as follows:

Name of Directors

Corporate Governance Report
SEEAHE

BE_Z_WF+_A=+—HLEFE &

EREGHEEXEROIENEHMANT :

Attending Reading
courses/ Regulatory
seminars materials

HERE BREE

L Mg REEHR

Executive Directors HiTES

Mr. HUANG Junmou ERHEE V v

Dr. ZHOU Jinhuang EEA \ V

Mr. GUAN Heng (AR e \ y

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. Fan Weiguo DeRfEbie V y

Mr. YU Zida TERE v V

Independent non-executive Directors BUFHTES

Mr. ZHANG Mingqun RISBELA V V

Ms. ZOU Guoying FERLL \ V

Dr. Ll Yao TREL \ v

'.‘
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Code Provision B.2.2 of the CG Code states that all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment and that every director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall

be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company
and is appointed for a specific term of three years unless terminated by not less than three

months’ notice in writing served by either the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract/signed an appointment letter with the Company and is

appointed for a specific term of three years.

All appointments of Directors are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of
Directors under the Articles. In accordance with the Articles, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director appointed
to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that

meeting.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors are
laid down in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Board composition, developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination
and appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession planning of

Directors and assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company's affairs. All Board Committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board Committees

are posted on the Stock Exchange's website and Company's website.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and paragraph D.3 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among other things, to review and supervise
the financial reporting process, risk management and internal control system of the Group,
oversee the audit process and select external auditors and assess their independence and

qualifications.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Zhang Mingqun, Ms. Zou Guoying and Dr. Li Yao. Ms. Zou Guoying is the chairlady of the
Audit Committee and she is the Company's independent non-executive Director with the

appropriate professional qualifications.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 December 2024 to
review the annual financial results and report in respect of the year ended 3| December
2023 and interim financial results and report for the six months ended 30 June 2024 as
well as significant issues on the financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal
control and risk management systems and issues such as the effectiveness of the

Company's interal audit function.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code and the roles and the responsibilities delegated to
the Remuneration Committee by the Board. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are, among other things, to establish, review and make recommendation to
the Board on the remuneration policy and remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management; and to establish transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her

associates will participate in deciding his’/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors,
being Mr. Zhang Mingqun and Ms. Zou Guoying and one executive Director, being Mr.

Huang Junmou. Mr. Zhang Mingqun is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 December
2024. During 2024, the Remuneration Committee reviewed background information
on market data including industry indicators and remuneration announcements, the
Group's business activities and human resources matters, number of employees, staff
costs and the remuneration framework for Directors and key management personnel.
The Remuneration Committee also reviewed the remuneration packages for executive
Directors, proposed the Directors’ fees of executive Directors to the Board and assessed

the performance of the executive Directors..

For the year ended 3| December 2024, no material matters relating to the share schemes

have been reviewed by the Remuneration Committee or recommended to the Board.
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The Board adopted a revised remuneration policy in December 2022. The primary goal
of the Group's remuneration policy for executive Directors is to enable the Company
to retain, provide incentive and reflect their individual performance by a reasonable
remuneration package. The remuneration package includes basic salary, performance and/
or discretional bonus, participation in the share option scheme (the “Scheme”) and other
benefits. Remuneration of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors mainly includes the director’s fee which is a matter for the Board to decide
by reference to the duties and responsibilities of the non-executive Directors and

independent non-executive Directors and their participation in the Scheme.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of reference
in compliance with the requirements of the CG Code and the role and responsibilities
delegated to the Nomination Committee by the Board. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are, among other things, to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of Directors and evaluate the structure and composition
of the Board. In the nomination procedures, the Nomination Committee makes reference
to criteria including reputation of candidate for integrity, accomplishment, experience,

professional and educational backgrounds.

The Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors, being
Ms. Zou Guoying and Dr. Li Yao and one executive Director, being Mr. Huang Junmou.
Dr. Li Yao has been appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee on 26

January 2024.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting on 27 March 2024 to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board, assessed the independence of independent
non-executive Directors to determine their eligibility and discussed the re-appointment of

Directors and succession planning for Directors.

The Board amended the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee in March
2024. This amendment aims to set out the approach to guide the Nomination Committee
in relation to the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, and to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives

appropriate to the requirements of the Company's business.

CREABE

Exen-
BHERSR -

EREVF 1

T _FT_RARMEEINEH
K/Elﬂ%ﬁjlfTi% TR EE
BRREHAEETMES

Mﬁm‘kﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁAﬁﬁ°ﬁM
FBBREEAE S - BUR,/IBBEEL
SHEBRELT S ([FHE]) REMBET - 3EH
TESRBUYFNTESNFM I ZEE
e MZESFHREDREEELLEH
HMTEERBUFRTERNRBELBE
RRE2EENIERMET °

REZEE

ARBERIURELZES  HEABELE
MACEELRTAREREFSERRRELER
BEMBBKLIRBE - REZESIEMAR
(AR eR) 2 EkBL2ESLAEERS
HRBRAKRAEFSRIERRE - R
2T  REZBE2ENREGRRE

ARVBAEE - K3t - B8 EERHERR o

REZECMMABIFNTES (AIRE
TEREBELT) R—2RTES (MEER
TEVAR - TREBIR T -_NF—A=+
NAEZTRREEEGERE -

REZEEN_Z_MFE=-A_ttRAEH

—REH - MABEFENER  ARKA
X~ RHE B IFMITE R B 1 AREE 1R
ENERUARTHENZEEETREFEL
RE

EFeR T _ME-ARNCEITNRE
ZEEMBERE - ZETMEMEEIH
HOREEZESREME ZENBEEZAE

EHENFH  THERESSERRE &
B AELZT B IEIRGYE Y4
NARREBRENR o

'.‘

RAUEHFARAT 30 &
Y

2024 F 3R



Corporate Governance Report

PDesaipa

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend candidate(s) for

directorships to the Board by giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited

to (collectively, the “Criteria"):

@)

®

©

oy
‘40

Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational

background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of available time and

relevant interest;

Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries

the Company's business is involved in;

Compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules for the appointment of an independent non-executive Director;

Reputation for integrity;

Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the Board; and

Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring Director(s) to the
Board for re-appointment by giving due consideration to the criteria including but not

limited to:

(@)  The overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s) to the Company,
including but not limited to the attendance of the meetings of the Board and/or
its committees and general meetings where applicable, in addition to the level of

participation and performance on the Board and/or its committees; and

(b)  whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.

In order to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board, the Company
has formalised and adopted written terms of reference on the division of functions
reserved to the Board and those delegated to the management. The Board reserves for
its decision on all major matters of the Group, including the approval and monitoring of
all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the company secretary and senior management of the
Company, with a view to ensuring compliance with Board procedures and all applicable
laws and regulations. Any Director may request independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense, upon reasonable request being
made to the Board. The Board annually reviewed such mechanism and concluded that the

mechanism was effective for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties including:

. to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on corporate

governance;

J to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of

Directors and senior management;
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O to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on compliance with

legal and regulatory requirements;

0 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to employees and
Directors; and
. to review the Company’s compliance with CG Code and disclosure in the

corporate governance report in the annual report of the Company.

The Board has performed the above corporate governance duties during the year ended

3| December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure that the financial statements of the Group are published in a

timely manner.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no

realistic alternative but to do so.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the Consolidated Financial Statements is set out in the Independent

Auditor's Report on pages 130 to |36 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year ended 3| December 2024, the Board conducted a review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group, including
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and

budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function.

‘C.
42 Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited
Annual Report 2024

« BREEFEADAEETERREER

ETHNBRRRFER
- HIE  BRRERERRNEERESRH
‘R R

HEZ-WF+-_A=+—HIFE &
ZEDETHINEERNBE -

EERMBHRRNELE

ESRABREARREAAABE_S -1
¢+:HZ+—H¢¢§W%%ﬁ$°§$
TERANEARERAEENRERRER
T -

REREEMBHRERE EFA TN EAR
BERELER D  BE (ER) HELE

MBAFEIMERAFELEEEGTREE - iR
FEERBAKEBRIF LSRRI
SN S AR B AR o

ARBBYZEMEBERGEMBRERE
[ERFEEPIHNANFERSE 1302 136 AHE
S IZEE RS o

B % R B B A
BE_ZT-_MF+_A=+—HLEFE &
EERNTASERREERANIDES R
RHAEMMN - BEAEEE  AHEZK
MRERBENERZRE BIEEREK
B BIIREREE



Corporate Governance Report

The Board is responsible for overseeing the risk management and internal control
system of the Group and review their effectiveness at least once a year. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. A defined management structure with specified limits of authority
and responsibilities is developed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, maintaining proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for intemal use or for publications, and complying with applicable laws, rules

and regulations.

The Company's risks are identified from operations in its established enterprise-wide
risk assessment methodologies. The Company periodically reviews each position of the
operating departments and other functional departments to identify, analyse and evaluate
the risks. The risk assessment results and the proposed internal control measures are
submitted to the Directors and senior management of the Company for review and
approval. The Directors and senior management of the Company are also responsible for
supervising the effectiveness of implementation and future execution of the risk control

measurements.

The Company has an internal audit function to carry out the analysis and independent
appraisal of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's risk management and
internal control systems. The results of the internal audit and review are reported to
the executive Directors and the Audit Committee. The Group has engaged Zhonghui
Anda Risk Services Limited (“Zhonghui Anda”) to conduct a review on the effectiveness
of the major cycles of the Group's internal control system for the year ended 3
December 2024. Such review covered material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and it did not reveal any significant defects. Zhonghui Anda
has reported major findings and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's internal audit function and is satisfied with its
adequacy and effectiveness for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Audit Committee
also reported the risk management assessment conducted by Zhonghui Anda to the
Board in the Board meeting held on 27 March 2025.
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Relevant recommendations made by Zhonghui Anda have been properly followed up by

the Group to further enhance its internal control policies, procedures and practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and internal control systems, including the adequacy of the
Company's resources, the qualifications and experience of its staff, its manpower training
programmes and budget for the accounting and financial reporting functions, covering
financial control, operational control, compliance control and risk management functions,
and considered the risk management and internal control systems to be effective and

adequate.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the Company in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 3| December 2024 amounted to
approximately RMBI.17 million and RMBO.18 million respectively. Non-audit services
performed by the external auditors included agreed-upon procedures carried out in
connection with the Group's interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024,

connected transactions and preliminary announcement of 2024 final results.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Hung Hing Hung and Ms. Wong Wai Ling are the joint company secretaries of the
Company. Ms. Wong Wai Ling is a vice president of a corporate services provider, SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, and assists Mr. Hung Hing Hung in
company secretarial affairs. The primary corporate contact person of Ms. Wong Wai Ling

at the Company is Mr. Hung Hing Hung.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Hung Hing Hung and Ms. Wong Wai Ling
have undertaken not less than |5 hours of relevant professional training respectively in

compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

‘C.
44 Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited
Annual Report 2024

$Elﬁm“ﬁ RERERLNARRE
5 WE—TMRARBEHREK  BFEE
ﬁ°

@E:%:@¢+:ﬂ:+faﬁiﬁvﬁ
EEERIADAIRBERRABEE RS
mﬁﬁﬁ'a%$LﬁE%ﬂ&M%$ﬁ%
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁf~§lﬁﬁﬂmﬁ~ﬁAiﬁ
JREREERE AR S REN e

1EER ARERELREREERY 'E%E
B RALELERRBERNTTE

A

ARRMEREMRBE_ST_MNF+_A
=+ B EFENERRE RIFEZREH
BN D ROARBLITAEETRAR
%018 BB - MIMNEEEREAIEFA R
BEREREBAREBEE_T_MF A=
THLEANEANTHES  BEXSL-F
—MERBRENT T A EETNBERF ©

BEARDWE

AEAEERBERR R RARARINBER
AME ERR XTI REERBRERSE
CERBEE (BE) ARARZEIRE - I
ERRANEEB I HBAELLL - B
RETERRANTIRBARMBKARSREL
FokE o

HE_Z_WF+_A=+—HILFE ' &
FH%E&”ﬁ%ﬁiﬂaaﬂﬁtmﬁw
FEIVMFEIT ORI NEEREEEE -



Corporate Governance Report

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure for formulating policies
on remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group. Details of the
remuneration of each of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out

in note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this annual report.

The senior management's (including the executive Director) remuneration for the year

ended 31 December 2024 is within the following bands:

Remuneration bands

FeEE

CREABE

EEREREEENTMH
ARREMHEAEEEERSRERESH
M BR R L EXBRANEF - BE-FT
MET-A=+—HIEFE  ZSEZNOFMH
AHEERAF RS PRRAMEI2 -

HE-_Z-_N&E+-_A=1+—HIFEaH&
ERE (RRATESZ) MFMERTHE
:

Number of

individuals

AE

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000

Z 21,000,000/ 7T

1,000,001 T ZE 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,001 4 7L £ 2,000,000 7T
2,000,001 87T 22,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001 7T 2 3,000,000 7T
3,000,001 A 7.2 3,500,000 7T
3,500,001 772 24,000,00078 7T

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company and the Board believe that effective communication with Shareholders and
other investment communities is essential for enhancing investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies, improving the level of corporate governance
transparency and strategic credibility. The Company's objectives on investor relations
are to maintain strong contacts with investors, to provide them with accurate and timely
information and to listen to Shareholders’ suggestions and concerns, and answer raised

questions sincerely.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in
particular, through annual general meetings and other general meetings. The Chairman,
non-executive Director, independent non-executive Directors, and the chairmen and the
chairlady of all Board Committees (or their delegates) will make themselves available at

general meetings to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.
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The 2025 annual general meeting (the “AGM") of the Company will be held on Friday, 20
June 2025.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website at
www.ysdf.com.cn, where up-to-date information and updates on the Company's business
operations and development, financial information, corporate goverance practices and

other information are available for public access.

The Company and the Board value the views and the inputs of Shareholders and
investors. The Company welcomes suggestions from investors and Shareholders in
relation to the development of the Company to the Company's investor relations team

via email or telephone.

After reviewing the implementation and effectiveness of the Group's Shareholder
communication policy including steps taken at the annual general meeting and other
general meetings, and the handling of queries received (if any) which were conducted
during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board was of the view that the Group's

Shareholder communication policy remained effective and adequate.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a dividend policy, which aims to set out the
principles and guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration,
payment or distribution of its profits, as dividends to the Shareholders. According to the
dividend policy, the Board shall take into account the following factors of the Group when

considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

. operation requirements;

0 eamings;

. financial condition;

J capital requirements; and

0 any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions are proposed at
Shareholder's meeting on each substantial issue at general meetings, including the election

of individual directors.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles, general meeting shall be convened on the
written requisition of any one or more Shareholders deposited at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong at 40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre, No.
248 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong or, in the event that the Company ceases
to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting
and the resolutions to be added to the meeting agenda, and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the issued shares
of the Company which as at that date carries the right to vote at general meetings of
the Company. If the Board does not within 21| days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days,
the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the

Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a Director

Pursuant to article 16.4 of the Articles, no person shall, unless recommended by the
Board, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
during the period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing no earlier than the day
after the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and ending
no later than seven days prior to the date of such meeting, there has been given to the
company secretary notice in writing by a member of the Company (not being the person
to be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given,
of his/her intention to propose such person for election and also notice in writing signed

by the person to be proposed of his/her willingness to be elected.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles or Cayman Islands Companies Law for
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general meeting. Shareholders who wish to
move a resolution may request the Company to convene a general meeting in accordance
with the procedures set out in the preceding paragraph headed “Procedures for

Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting”.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the Company's
Hong Kong share registrar, namely Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the Company
to the Board could send their enquiries to the Company's headquarters and principal
place of business in the PRC at |3/F, Building C2, Nanshan iPark, No. 1001, Xueyuan
Boulevard, Nanshan District, Shenzhen, the PRC.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company passed the special resolution on the amendments to its memorandum and
articles of association at the annual general meeting held on 21 June 2024, which includes
(i) updating the existing memorandum and articles of association to bring it in line with the
relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules in respect of the electronic dissemination
of corporate communications by listed issuers which became effective from December
31, 2023, and (i) making other corresponding and internal amendments. An up-to-date
version of the memorandum and articles of association is available for review on the

Company's website and the Stock Exchange's website.
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

Regarding the disclosure of inside information and internal control measures, the
Company understands its duties under the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO"), and adheres to the important principle of timely publication of
the inside information. The Company abides by the “Guide on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures Commission, and has developed
a complete system of internal procedures and internal control measures for processing
and publication of information in order to ensure the timely, accurate and appropriate

disclosure of relevant information to the public and regulatory authorities.

The Company has established an inside information handling team which consists
of executive Directors, chief financial officer and company secretary and the senior
management of the Company to identify, evaluate and report to the Board about any
potential inside information. The Company is required to disclose inside information
as soon as reasonably practicable in accordance with SFO and Listing Rules. The
Company conducts its affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information” issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. The Company also
included in its information disclosure polices a strict prohibition on the unauthorized use
of confidential or inside information. The Board will determine further escalation and

appropriate handling the dissemination of inside information.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is pleased to present this environmental, social and governance report (“ESG
Report”) for the year ended 31 December 2024, pursuant to the Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG") Reporting Guide provided in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules
(the “ESG Guide"), which sets out the Group's policies and practices in four aspects,
namely environmental protection, employment and labour practices, operating practices
and community involvement. The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG
Guide and complies with the principle of “comply or explain” provision in the Listing
Rules. The ESG Report is designed to allow Shareholders, investors (including potential
investors) and the public to have a more comprehensive and profound understanding of

the corporate governance and culture of the Company.

The Group is committed to put emphasis on environmental protection and sustainable
development. The Group strives to utilize resources efficiently and effectively in workplace
and reduce impacts on the environment; raise its social responsibility and improve
well-being of its employees; and demonstrate the Group's commitment to the corporate
social responsibility. Apart from pursuing corporate profits, the Group also took into
consideration the sustainable development of the environment, the society and corporate
governance in all aspects of the business operation of the Group, so that those standards

could be sustained.

The Board is responsible for the Group's ESG strategy and reporting. The Group has
established an ESG working team to engage the management and employees across all
functions in order to identify relevant ESG issues and to assess their materiality to the
Group's business as well as the Company's stakeholder, through reviewing the Group's
operations and internal discussions. Disclosures relating to the material ESG issues
identified have been included in this ESG Report pursuant to the ESG Guide. This ESG
Report focuses on mobile top-up services business, the principal business of the Group.
It covers the operations of the Group's PRC operating entity, Shenzhen NNK (the
"Operating Entity").
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group maintains communication with various stakeholders which refer to groups
and individuals that materially influencing or affected by the Group's business. Through
various channels, the Group can timely access the latest request of the stakeholders
and proactively respond to their requests in order to foster the Group's capability in

fulfilling its environmental and social responsibilities and achieving the Group's sustainable

development objectives.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Stakeholders FEEEE Communications and Responses BREEE
+  Government and «  BUSKEEZF  Direct communication BREAR
Regulatory Authorities Relevant conference Vel

Field visit B
Compliance management BRER
Policy compliance BRER

*  Media . e Announcement and notice NERBE
Interview £Rah
Group websites and WeChat public SEPEL R AR

account

0 Community 0 o Volunteer activity ERERY

Donation to community IR

The business of the Group affects different stakeholders, and these stakeholders have

various expectations for the Group. To enhance the materiality analysis, the Group will

continue to expand the scope of stakeholders' engagement and collect a diverse range of

stakeholders’ views through various activities in the future.

‘C.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group understands that its daily operations could have impacts on the
environment, therefore the Group looks for ways to achieve environmental
sustainability while continuing its business growth. The Group encourages
environmental protection, complies with environmental legislations and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to its employees. To put into
practice, the Group has implemented a series of environmental-friendly measures
in the workplace to minimize its environmental impacts. The Group seizes every
opportunity to engage its staff in supporting green initiatives in daily operations to
call for collective effort in sustaining the environment. To this end, the Group has
introduced several initiatives to improve energy efficiency, minimize greenhouse
gas ("GHG") emissions and enhance indoor air quality. For the year ended 3|
December 2024, the Group has complied with all relevant environmental laws and

regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Emissions

As a specialized online mobile top-up service provider in the PRC, the Group's
operations do not involve in production-related air, water and land pollution that
are regulated by applicable laws and regulations in the PRC. For the year ended 3|
December 2024, the Group did not produce hazardous waste or harmful pollutants
in the course of its business. The Group has always been actively seeking various
environmental protection measures to reduce the indirect impact of business

development on the environment.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “A3 The Environmental and Natural
Resources” in this ESG Report, the Group considered only limited non-hazardous
waste was produced in the course of business, therefore relevant data for the year

was not available.

The carbon emissions resulting from the daily operations of the Group mainly

come from the GHG emissions generated from electricity use.
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The Group also realized that transportation by any means can result in GHG
emissions. As the Group has extensive and numerous channel partners in different
regions in the PRC, travelling on business trip is also one of the major contributions
to GHG emissions. As at 31 December 2024, due to unavoidable commercial
activities, the total emissions of GHG of the Group was 38,107.4kg, representing
an increase of 13,861.7kg of GHG emissions as compared with 24,245.7kg as of 3|
December 2023. The total emissions intensity of GHG was 244.28kg/employee,
as compared with 95.5kg/employee as at 31 December 2023. Such increase was
mainly attributable to the increase in business trips due to COVID-19 pandemic
restrictions were lifted in 2023. The Group aimed at monitoring GHG emissions by
not more than 40,000kg for the year ended 31 December 2024. To achieve this
target, the Group will continue to encourage its employees to conduct meeting
with channel partners and suppliers by video conferencing and teleconferencing
and thus minimize GHG emissions. In addition, the Group also encourages staff
to take public transportation in order to reduce GHG emissions. The Group has
also adopted measures such as maintaining Company's vehicles and tires status
on regular basis, and switching off idle engines during long time waiting to reduce

energy consumption in order to reduce GHG emissions.

Use of Resources

With the vision of protecting the planet and incorporating environmental
sustainability into its business function and processes, the Group proactively seeks
opportunities to enhance operating efficiency in workplace to reduce the use
of resources. The Group closely monitors the utilization of resources and takes

remedial actions whenever necessary.

Staff are well-informed of Group's energy-saving measures through different
communication channels, such as intranet and regular meetings. The Group

continuously cultivates its staff awareness and encourages their behavioral change.

Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited
Annual Report 2024

A2

AEETEHRD  FAHFANRBESR
EEENRERBHEN - ARAKE
ERBREMHER BT RERHN KK
TTANEREREHNNEERE 2
— o RZEZMF+A=T—H" &
REZBENEEEE  A5EAER
BUNEALA38,1074F 5% BEHE
TR ZF+-A=+—HB/24,2457
TREMREERERE3861.7F
RoRERBBHNEER24428F
RN MRZE_=F+=-A=F
—BAI955FR /A ZEMFER
BRCOVID-19EIER T - = F i
LSREIRITEN - BEZT-NEF+ =
A=T—BILFE  AEENEERE
EREREHNTER40,000F7 ° &
ERULAE  AEEREESREET
WREERREAEROFERBEMN
RIFEENE®  KISERDEER
B o WA ARETMEEE TS
DEZBIA  UEDBREREHR
AEBMREUER - IE BREARAA]
R EEH REmia R kAR REREEN
eS| B LR K AEROBAE - MR R
EREEHERR o

HoA

E

ERER
REEREIRRERTAFHE A
REBEERRE - ARERES KR
LSRR S EREROEE AR
BRER - ARETEIERE RO
PR 5 R ERERFE RUAE 1 ©

AEEGEEEEEN AR HeH
ETRBRREAS NEAT - A%H
BEREBTHERSSR HBHETH
B(1h -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERERSE

As disclosed above, several measures have been implemented to improve energy WEXARE  AEBSEIIESHH

saving in the Group's workplace. The followings are examples of energy saving 1151815 - TRATEIRERE - AKET

measures adopted by the Group: FANRETRER R BI T -

—  maximizing the use of natural light and energy-saving systems; - REFRBRLRERRL

= zoning for optimal control of lighting and air-conditioning; - SEEtEHRARER

—  using energy-saving light bulbs, installing and purchasing energy-efficient office - [FRfRER RRKEBESE
equipment; WNHE

= maintaining the room temperature at an average of 26 C; - ERRBETH6T

—  maintaining air conditioning systems and cleaning the filters of air conditioners - THEETRZAGRBEZZERAB
on a regular basis; BEE

—  switching off air conditioning systems and lighting in vacant working areas - BERBEREBRZEIER
after operation hours; Az T Z A SRR

—  tuming off office equipment when not in use; -  BERTMERSORARE

—  switching off water dispenser after operation hours; and —  EEXRREAR R SOKHE

54

—  putting reminder message about the importance of energy and resources - ERARBLHFTERAE D

savings on or next to office equipment. RNERNEZURT -
'.‘
REHBHFERAA

]
20244 5 52'.



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE HEREAR

oy
‘56

wE

While complying with environmental laws and regulations, the Company strongly
encourages all employees to focus on energy conservation and emission reduction
in their work and reduce GHG emissions and promote indoor air quality. As at 31
December 2024, the Group used a total of 149,013kWh of electricity, a decrease
of 13,892kWh of electricity as compared with 162,905kWh as at 31 December
2023. Such decrease was mainly due to the relocation of some data servers. The
electricity consumption intensity was 83.39kWh/square meters for the year ended
31 December 2024, as compared with 88.77kWh/square meters for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Energy consumption efficiency goal was not set during
the Reporting Period as energy consumption for the business of the Group is

immaterial.

The Group does not involve any production and manufacturing processes;
however, the Group still persists on raising staff awareness of water conservation
and regularly checking office pipes to prevent leakage. The Group encourages
employees to save water. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group used
a total of 1,593 tonnes of water, a decrease of 482 tonnes of water as compared
with 2,075 tonnes of water used as of 31 December 2023. Such increase was
mainly due to the closing of office in Beijing during the year. The water consumption
intensity was 16.7 tonnes/employee for the year ended 3| December 2024, as
compared with 16.7 tonnes/employee for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
Group aimed at monitoring the water consumption to not more than |,700 tonnes
for the year ended 3| December 2024. To achieve this target, the Group will
continue to encourage its employees to actively participate in the activities of saving

water resources within the Group and to do its best to protect water resources.

During the year ended 3| December 2024, the Group did not have any issue in

sourcing water that was fit for purpose.

Due to the nature of business, the Group does not use any packaging material

during the course of its business.
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The Environmental and Natural Resources

Waste management and reduction are crucial to conservation of the earth's finite
resources. In order to improve waste management mechanisms, the Group has
adopted various waste reduction measures, especially in cutting down paper
consumption in the course of operation and purchase of paper made scratch

top-up cards.

The Group encourages staff to view the documents on electronic devices instead
of printing out hard copies. When printing is unavoidable, duplex printing is
defaulted and staffs are encouraged to reuse the single-sided printed papers. The
designated collection points have been set up in the workplace to facilitate paper
and toner cartridges recycling. Staff are also advised to reuse office consumables.
For the year ended 3| December 2024, the Group used a total of approximately
172,000 pieces of paper (2023: 128,500 pieces). The increase was mainly due
to the increase in employees and business development activities. The Group
will continue to recommend green office and conserve resources. The Group
will continue to contribute to the sustainable development of mankind, while

continuously enhancing its business capabilities.

Regarding to the Group's paper made top-up cards inventory, the Group has
chosen to purchase larger proportion of virtual top-up cards, supplemented by
a small amount of prepaid paper made top-up cards. For the year ended 3|
December 2024, the Group did not purchase any paper made top-up cards. For
the already-purchased paper made top-up cards, the Group stipulates that once
the prepaid card are used, they shall be sent to the designated collection points for
paper recycling so as to reduce the waste of paper and increase the paper recycling

rate.
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The Group understands that good air and water quality are vital to health. The
Group cares about its staff and therefore makes every effort to provide a healthy
workplace environment for them. The Group has implemented various measures to
maintain good indoor air quality for staff, such as regular cleaning of air-conditioning
systems and filters of air conditioners. Professional cleaning personnel are engaged

to maintain the indoor environment of workplaces.

Climate change

As the Group engaged in mobile top-up services that can perform at in-house,
significant climate-related issues do not affect daily operating activities. In view of
extreme weather such as typhoons and thunderstorms frequently occur in summer,
the Group provides guidance to employees whether commuting to office is
required under extreme weathers. The Group has policies in place to ensure doors
and windows are closed properly after work, in order to prevent any damages by

overnight typhoons and thunderstorms.

SOCIAL

The Group believes that employees are the valuable assets of an enterprise
and regards human resources as its corporate wealth in maintaining its leading
position in the mobile top-up service industry. To empower our staff, the Group
continuously provides on-the-job trainings and development opportunities to
enhance employees’ career progression. The Group offers competitive employment
package and benefits to attract and retain competent persons. The Group also
cherishes employees' well-being and strives to provide them with a healthy and safe

working environment.

Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited
Annual Report 2024

A4

AEB TR RFNEREENKE
HEFEZHEE - AKERLET
B RERERENTHERER - A%E
%?% Bt (MEHBRZEHRH K

BRAF) ABENTREER
ﬁDﬁ%l IR RFRABMET(E
ST ERRE ©

RIFEML

HRAREREAEENETHFER
RS EXREEBAEHLIETE
AEEEEY BEREFTHERERE
LRERRERGRAR  AEEREIR
LR EEMHAR T EIHRHEES] o A
SEFTEBE AR T2 2 E R
& AP EARERR R ERRMIEK
AR

HE

AEERS EEREGENESEE
W ANERGEEREEFERATR
BORBEHUNRRHNE - RLEER
BHETRE ARETHRRHEERS
IIRERES  HBESNBERER

AEBRRRARFEDNER G RE
M R REEEFAT - RAEETE
REBWER  SHREAERELR 2
B TR °



Bl

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Employment

Workforce

The Group keeps track of the updates of the laws and regulations in the PRC and
has strictly abided by the relevant laws and regulations such as the Labour Law of
the PRC (2 AR HEFBI%E))%) and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC (FF
= N\REFE LB A F)%) for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Group
has entered into labour contracts with all employees to protect their legitimate
rights and interests. Recruitment is open for all qualified personnel and conducted
in a fair, just and open manner, and recruitment information is announced with the
Company's information or disclosed to the public. Recruitment and promotion
are based on the candidates’ capability instead of other factors such as gender,
race, age and religion. All employees and candidates enjoy equal opportunities and
fair treatment. The Group has established a selection and evaluation system to
optimize the allocation of human resources and interal promotion. The philosophy
of developing a wide array of talents helps to build up the overall strength of the

Group and maintaining its leading position in the industry.

The Group has also established policies and procedures regarding the dismissal of
its employees. Compensation for dismissed personnel is well-settled and the Group
has strictly abided by the provision of Labour Law of the PRC (FFZE A R 70
B2 8)7%). The Group will conduct interviews and conversations with dismissed
personnel to comfort their frustrations and collect their feedbacks. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the Group was involved in 9 cases of legal proceeding
related to dismissal matters. 3 cases of the legal proceeding related to the
dismissal matters was fully settled as at 31 December 2024. 2 cases are still in legal
proceeding up to date. The Group's subsidiaries have engaged legal advisors in the
PRC to handle relevant legal proceedings of such litigation.

The comprehensive workforce is essential to optimize the Group's operation. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group had 156 full time employees, an increase of 26%
as compared to the 124 employees as at 31 December 2023. The female to male
ratio are approximately |:I. The Group's employees are allocated in departments
of research & development (18.6%), business operations (62.2%), administration
(5.8%) and others (13.4%). The Group has a young and energetic workforce, with
the 31% are aged below 30 and 60% are aged 31-40. The Group's employees are
allocated in areas of Guangdong Province (32%); Sichuan Province (22%); Hubei
(14%) and Hong Kong, PRC (0.1%).
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Analysis of 2024 and 2023 annual employee turnover rate

The Group's employee turnover rate in 2024 was 15.56%, which was decreased
by 16.08% as compared to the turmnover rate of 31.64% in 2023. The decrease in
tumover rate was mainly due to the completion of the Group's departmental and
structural restructuring in 2024, which resulted in a decrease in natural attrition

compared with that in 2023.
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THE EMPLOYEE TURNOVER RATE OF 2024 AND 2023 (BY LOCATION)
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Benefits and Compensation BRI R

The Group endeavours to offer a comprehensive and competitive remuneration
package to attract, retain and motivate talent employees. Remuneration adjustments
are based on staffs' performance and their overall quality of work. Based on the
performance and the potential of employees as well as the macroeconomic
environment, the Group offers attractive fringe benefits, reasonable level of salary
increase and flexible individual holiday arrangements so as to ensure a balanced life

for its employees.

For the year ended 3| December 2024, the Group strictly abided by the provisions
of Labour Law of the PRC (F1# AR MBI &)%) and the provisions of the
Company's staff handbook expressly specify the working hours and rest periods.
The Group adopts an eight-hour shift, five working days and the staff are also
entitled to statutory holiday. For the staff who cannot enjoy the statutory holiday
while on shift, the Group will provide overtime pay according to the relevant laws
and regulations. Apart from the usual annual leave and paid sick leave, the Group
also offers additional leave entitlements for other circumstances like marriage,
bereavement, maternity, paternity and work-related injury, etc, which allows the
staff to have flexible leave arrangement. The Group also grants certain amount of

mobile credit as birthday gifts for all employees.
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Equal Opportunities

To ensure equal employment and advancement opportunities for all individuals,
the Group assesses individuals based on their experience, qualifications and abilities
when it comes to employment, remuneration and promotion. The Group's
employment practices will under no circumstances, be influenced or affected by a
candidate’s or employee's race, gender, age, disability or family status. The Group
offers equal working opportunities and discourages any kind of discrimination,

including discriminating on the basis of the personal characteristics of its employee.

Health and Safety

The Group has committed to provide employees with a safe working environment
and pay tremendous attention to employees’ own health. The Group has strictly
abided by the relevant laws and regulations such as the Labour Law of the PRC (/
EAREFELENE) and the Regulations on Work-Related Injury Insurance (T
SIRBEA) for the year ended 31 December 2024,

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and congenial work
environment. The Group is required to comply with occupational safety laws
and regulations imposed by the government authorities in the PRC. The Group
has implemented various occupational health and safety procedures to maintain
a safe work environment, including (i) providing guidelines for operational and
safety control procedures to all employees; (i) adopting protective measures at
its facilities; (iii) inspecting facilities regularly to identify and eliminate safety hazard;
and (iv) providing training to employees on safety awareness. Inspections and
management review of health and safety policies have been performed by the

Group to ensure the effectiveness of the arrangements, training and guidelines.

Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited
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During the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has implemented various

hygiene measures in the workplace including:

S Social distancing at the workplace

. Temperature taking and recording before entering the Group's premises
. Use hand sanitizer provided

. Wear face mask all the time

. Disinfect entire office before starting work

. Briefing matters about COVID-19 to all staff

In addition, the Group prioritizes the health and well-being of its employees.
In order to provide employees with sufficient medical care, in addition to the
medical insurance coverage required by laws, the Group has provided pension,
unemployment, occupational injury and matemnity insurance for its employees in
compliance with applicable PRC laws and regulations. As the Group's business
expands, the Group will continue to regularly review and assess its risk portfolio
and adjust its insurance coverage based on its need and industry practice. The
Group has also provided annual medical check-ups for its employees and carried

out cultural and sports activities to promote staff relationship and physical fitness.

The Group did not encounter any major accident during the operation which had
caused the death of an employee in each of the past three years including the year
ended 3| December 2024. During the year ended 3| December 2024, the Group
did not encounter any accident which made any employees suffer loss of work days

because of injuries on job.
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Development and Training

The Group believes nurturing talents is the cornerstone of the Group's business
development. The Group has committed to offer different training opportunities
to its staff, to provide them with a suitable platform for career advancement
and professional development. The Group holds regular training for new
employees in order to build cohesion amongst new joiners as well as provide
in-depth understanding of the Company's philosophy and strategies. The Group
also encourages employees to share their know-how and experience with
other departments’ colleagues in order to improve everyone's comprehensive
competence and horizon. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company arranged all the departments to launch related training course within
colleagues, such as technical department courses, new employee orientation,
work training and several experience exchanging seminars. Directors and senior
management attended a two-hour continuous professional training course

organized by Company's legal advisor.

During the Reporting Period, the percentage of employees trained by gender and

employee category, and the average training hours completed per employee by
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gender and employee category are as follows: 2D BEEE KN TR
BRET
2024
Gender 4 31 —E-NE
Percentage Hour
Bak N
Male Bt 64.1% 1.3
Female gL 71.8% 1.3
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2024

Employee category EEHER —E-mE

Percentage Hour

BO N
Senior management =EBEEAR 62.5% 60.0
Middle management HEEEAR 100% 60.0
Basic employee HEEET 65.4% 2.0
Labour Standards B4 HIXA
The Group strictly prohibits the use of child and forced labour in the Group, and is AEEBRETEREEERET RA
fully committed to create a work environment which respects human rights. Staff of HIELSE - SCHIREIREEE AN T
human resources department audit and verify staff identity during the recruitment 1EIRIE - HIRRT - ANBRINE
process to ensure that no child labour will be employed. IHETIHSHEERERR  BRIME
[RIEMET
The Group attaches great importance to the protection of rights and interests AEEREERE ITRHRE - BIgE
for employees, strictly complies with the relevant provisions of national and local SRR 8 TERAEHRTE (B
employee rights and interests (including the Labour Law of the PRC, the Social FEARLNBELEE - PEARKLMN
Insurance Law of the PRC , and the Labour Contract Law of the PRC). The Bt gRBENMPEARLNELSSS
provisions of the Company's staff handbook expressly specifies the working hours, R%) o NARIB ISP RIASGRE T
rest and leave, labour protection and so on to encourage work-life balance and R REKR - BBREZAD @ &
prevent any compulsory labour. By Sikisa N R H 58 -
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Supply Chain Management

The Group selects telecommunication operators, distributors of
telecommunications operators, e-commerce platform and third-party online game
operators (collectively “suppliers”), to support the business operations, and is
committed as much as possible to conduct the business with suppliers that act in a
socially responsible manner to meet the ethical expectations. As at 31 December
2024, the Company had 213 suppliers (2023: | 17). As a specialized mobile top-
up service provider in the PRC, the Group understands the importance to work
closely with its supply chain to ensure the sustainability of the Group's business.
A supplier evaluation system in terms of price, quality, cost, delivery and after-
sales service has been established by the Group and applies to all suppliers. The
Group expects suppliers to meet its standards in environmental, social, corporate
governance and commercial ethics. Before establishing any long-term cooperation
with a potential supplier, the Group will evaluate the environmental and social
risks associated with the supplier's operations to ensure the supplier to comply
with trade laws and relevant environmental and social regulations as well as other
standards, and will examine the supplier's awareness of the said aspects. The Group
prefers suppliers who use environmentally friendly products and services during the
screening process, and works to minimize the potential environmental and social
risks. The Group carries out long-term quality monitoring and conducts regular
reviews on all suppliers as well as random examination on different suppliers to
ensure sustainable quality material supplies and services. The Group will also take
into account suppliers’ reputation, their track record of high corporate standards,
expertise, capacity and etc. so as to select the qualified suppliers and appropriate
management's approval is required before entering an agreement. Such procedures

aim to support operational efficiency and segregation of duties.
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Distribution of suppliers by region
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Northern China 3] g 36 19
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Product Responsibilities

On the basis of strictly abiding by the relevant laws and regulations, the Group has
taken a variety measures to ensure the quality of service. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group was not aware of any violation of the laws and
regulations on its services (including advertising, labelling, service quality, customer
privacy protection and consumer rights etc.) and any event that had material impact
on the Group. The Group did not have any services provided subject to recalls for

safety and health reasons.

The Group primarily engages in providing mobile top-up services and data usage
top-up services. The Group has developed a reliable, secure and scalable platform,
007ka top-up platform, through which the Group processes mobile top-up request
received from mobile users. The Group has committed to deliver high-quality
top-up services through its 007ka top-up platform and WeChat public account
to the customers. In order to ensure delivery of high-quality top-up services, the
Group has set up a real-time automatic mechanism to monitor irregularities of top-
up results such that administrator can deal with such irregularities proactively and
enable customers to enjoy fast, reliable and convenient top-up services. The Group
provides customer services on a 24/7 basis to enhance service quality, in particular,
to PRC banks, the Group has also established a 24-hour real-time monitoring
mechanism which reports irregularities in the systems to relevant personnel so
that irregularities can be dealt proactively. The above monitoring systems allow the
Group to quickly respond to and resolve network malfunction issues to ensure the
stability and security of the network and the mobile top-up services. In addition, the
Group has also maintained a dedicated customer service team to exclusively handle

enquiries or complaints from different channel partners’ customers.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The customer service team and the customer hotline numbers are posted on the
websites of the channel partners and the Company’'s websites. Users who use
the mobile top-up services through the channel partners can make enquiries or
complaints through the customer hotlines of the Company. The Group defines
complaints as customers’ explicit or implicit expressions of dissatisfaction with the
mobile top-up or mobile data top-up services, which requires the actions to resolve
the problem and the response to the customers about the solution. During the year
ended 3| December 2024, the Group received 271 complaints from customers,
increased by 2.3% as compared with 265 complaints for the year ended 3|
December 2023. These customer's complaints are generally associated with delays
in the top-up process, unsuccessful recharges and failure of users to receive mobile
top-up results. Upon receipt of complaints from customers, the customer service
team immediately makes preliminary judgment on the nature of the complaints and
provides instruction to guide customers to solve problems. Unresolved complaints
relating to urgent or material issues are reported to the relevant managers on-duty.
The Group also closely monitors the feedbacks from customers. Through collecting
and analyzing customer feedbacks, the high-quality customer service team helps to
enhance customer satisfaction and loyalty. For cases of unsuccessful mobile top-up
requests, recharge of the mobile accounts for customers or refund of payments for

the mobile top-up services to customers per their requests are usually adopted.

The Group emphasizes the importance of protecting the privacy of its channel
partners and customers, and has complied with relevant laws and regulations
during the collection, processing and use of customer’s personal data. Employees
have signed the non-disclosure agreement to ensure the protection of customer’s
personal data. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not
receive complaints from channel partners or customers due to unauthorized

disclosure of information.
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Since the Group is principally engaged in providing mobile top-up services to
mobile users through electronic banking systems of the PRC banks, offline channels
and other channels including third-party online platforms, its own websites and
WeChat public account. No massive advertising campaigns were launched by the
Group. In addition, due to the nature of the Group's business, labelling of products

was not applicable to the Group.

Intellectual Properties

The Group's principal business is considered to be value-added telecommunications
services, a sector where foreign investment is subject to significant restrictions
under the PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, we, as foreign investors, cannot
hold controlling interest in Shenzhen NNK, the PRC operating entity, which holds
certain intellectual properties required by the Group to operate its principal
business in the PRC. Accordingly, our wholly foreign-owned enterprise Daily
Charge Technology (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd (“Daily Charge Shenzhen") entered into
an exclusive intellectual property purchase option agreement with Shenzhen NNK|
the PRC operating entity, and its shareholders, pursuant to which Shenzhen NNK
agreed to grant an exclusive option to Daily Charge Shenzhen to purchase certain
of Shenzhen NNK's intellectual properties, including but not limited to trademarks,
patents, domain names and copyrights and whether registered or unregistered,
purchased entirely or partially, at the minimum purchase price permitted by the
PRC laws and regulations. The exclusive intellectual property purchase option
agreement has no definite term commencing on |5 November 2021 until the
agreement is terminated upon the earlier occurrence of (i) Daily Charge Shenzhen
gives Shenzhen NNK 30 days’ prior written notice of termination; or (i) all the
intellectual properties of Shenzhen NNK have been transferred to Daily Charge
Shenzhen. Shenzhen NNK is not contractually entitled to terminate the exclusive
intellectual property purchase option agreement. Our management team regularly
monitors the impact of new regulations in the PRC on the exclusive intellectual
property purchase option agreement and the Group's principal business. At the
same time, the Group engages the PRC lawyers to review annually the contractual
arrangements (including the exclusive intellectual property purchase option
agreement) signed between Daily Charge Shenzhen and Shenzhen NNK and issue

legal opinions on the validity of such contractual arrangements.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

We are committed to protect the proprietary intellectual property. Our
management team and our operation team work closely to develop and maintain
the intellectual property portfolio owned by the Group, and ensure our intellectual

property are not infringed through research and control.

The Code of Ethics of the Group details the way of using intellectual property
from other companies and individuals in compliance with the laws and regulations
by our operation team when necessary. Our non-disclosure agreements protect
the intellectual property shared among us, the suppliers, distributors, dealers, other

customers and contract employees from any infringement or piracy.

Anti-corruption

The Company has strictly abided by the relevant laws and regulations such
as the Criminal Law of the PRC (FZE A RELMEIZ), the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the PRC (FEARAMBE RN EE HFE) and the
Anti-Money Laundering Law of PRC (# A REMEIRJEEE) for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The Group is committed to prevent and monitor any
malpractice or unethical actions. The Group maintains and effectively implements
whistleblowing procedures for anti-corruption and anti-fraud and is committed
to promote integrity and prevent unethical issues. The Group encourages the
reporting of suspected business irregularities and provides clear channels specifically

for this purpose.

The Group requests its staff to maintain a high level of business ethics to protect
the interests and business operations of the Group. To reinforce staffs integrity,
the Group has established the code of conduct and laid down procedures in
the staff handbook to fight against corruption, bribery, extortion and fraud. The
Group has established regulations and procedures to prevent and monitor money
laundering in the operations. All new joiners are well-briefed of these regulations
and procedures during orientation and existing members can assess relevant
information in the Group's intranet to raise their awareness on anti-corruption,
anti-fraud and anti-money laundering. We circulated the anti-corruption training
materials by electronic means to the Directors, senior management and heads of
departments during the year so that our employees could be well-informed of their

obligations.
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When suspected wrongdoings are identified, such as breach of duty, abuse
of power, receiving bribes, staff can report to the Board for investigation and
resolution. The Board will then carry out investigation and verification, and report

to the regulator or law enforcement authority when necessary.

The Group is committed to adhere to the highest ethical standards. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had not been a party to any corruption,
bribery or fraud proceedings and was not aware of any pending or threatened
proceedings related to corruption against the Group or any of the Directors. The
Group will continue to comply with ethical requirements and upholds its reputation

to prevent corruption.

Community Investment

The Group has not established a specific community policy, however, social care
is deep-seated in the Group's corporate culture and the Group is committed to
its corporate responsibilities by proactively participating in community and charity
works. During the Reporting Period, the Group donated RMB5,000 to the local

charitable organisation in Shenzhen, PRC.
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The Board is pleased to present this annual report and the audited Consolidated Financial

Statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of mobile top-up services to mobile
subscribers in the PRC and digital marketing services for the banking industry in the
PRC and specific customers which includes multi-category digital product procurement

resources, multi-scenario digital marketing mix solutions and multi-channel user promotion.

Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on page
[37. The financial position as at 31 December 2024 of the Group is set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position on pages 138 to 139. The cash flow of the
Group during the year 31 December 2024 is set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows on pages 142 to 143.

The Directors did not recommend payment of final dividend in respect of the year ended
31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are provided in the Chairman's
Statement on pages 6 to 8. A discussion on the key financial performance indicators of the
Group for year ended 31 December 2024 is provided in the Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 9 to |7 of this annual report. The review and discussion thereof form

part of this Report of the Directors.
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Report of the Directors
EZEWE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The following are among the principal risks and uncertainties facing the business of the

Group:

. The Group provides mobile top-up services through electronic banking systems
to customers of the PRC banks. The Group's business depends on establishing
and maintaining relationships with the PRC banks. The Group's failure to continue
the contractual relationship with the existing PRC banks or enter into business
relationships with additional PRC banks in a timely manner or on favorable terms
may impair the Group's ability to continually expand its business; changes in the rate
of commission fees charged by the PRC banks may also have a significant impact on

the Group's cost of revenue and gross profit margin;

. the Group's reliance on the PRC telecommunication operators and their
distributors to source mobile top-up credits, any deterioration or termination
of the Group's relationships with them may result in severe disruptions to the
Group's business operations, loss of revenues and a material and adverse effect
on the Group's financial condition and results of operations. The Group’s profit
margin may also be effected by the decline in the discounts offered by the PRC

telecommunication operators and their distributions in the future;

0 the Group's ability to grow its business depends, in part, upon policies of the PRC
telecommunication operators. If the PRC telecommunication operators decide
to continue expand mobile top-up services or cooperate with the PRC banks or
third-party online platforms directly, the Group's results of operations may be

materially and adversely affected;

0 the Group's business may face competition from the other mobile top-up services,
local branches of the three leading PRC telecommunication operators and
E-commerce platforms. If the Group or the PRC banks fail to compete effectively,
the Group's market share may decrease and the Group's business, financial

condition and prospect will be matenially and adversely affected;
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the Group's business and results of operations may be effected by the growth of
intemet market and mobile penetration and usage in the PRC, changes in customer
behaviors and preferences on the mobile top-up channels. Any decline in the
popularity of online top-up services in general, or the Group's failure to respond
to industry trends and customer requirements, may adversely affect the Group's

business and results of operations;

development of the PRC telecommunication industry could be negatively affected
by factors such as unfavorable government policies and changes of consumer
preferences which may decrease spending on mobile telecommunication services. If
the PRC telecommunication industry does not develop as anticipated, the Group's
business may be harmed and the Group may need to adjust its growth strategy and

the Group's results of operation may be adversely affected; and

the Group's business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may
be influenced to a significant degree by political, economic and social conditions and

government policies in the PRC.
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The details of risk factors are set out in the section headed “Risk Factors” in the

prospectus of the Company dated 24 December 2015 (the “Prospectus”).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
For the purposes of ascertaining the members' eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM,

the Company's register of members will be closed during the following periods:

AGM

Latest time to lodge transfers documents for registration

R BRI B P X AMEE R R B AR R
Closure of register of members
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Report of the Directors
EZEWE

To be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer documents, accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company's share
registrar in Hong Kong, namely Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong

Kong not later than the latest time as stated above.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2024 are set out in note

34 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the change in the share capital of the Company for the year ended 3|1

December 2024 are set out in note 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in reserve of the Company (which is the same as distributable
reserve of the Company) during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note

33 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not have distributable reserve available
for distribution to Shareholders. The distributable reserves are calculated under the

Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year ended 3|

December 2024 are set out in note |5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MAJOR CHANNEL PARTNERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 3| December 2024, the gross transaction value derived from
the Group's five largest channel partners accounted for approximately 83.7% of the
Group's total gross transaction value. The Group's largest channel partner contributed to

approximately 74.1% of the Group's total gross transaction value.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the cost of sourcing from Group's five
largest suppliers who are telecommunication operators and distributors accounted for
approximately 40.4% of the Group's total sourcing cost. The cost of sourcing from the
Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately 16.1% of the Group's total sourcing

cost.

As far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors nor his/her close associates and
none of the Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors possessing over 5%
of the interest in the issued share capital of the Company) possessed any interest in the

Group's five largest channel partners and suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Relationships with Employees

The Group believes that employees are its greatest assets. The Group believes that a
good working environment promotes employees’ physical and psychological wellbeing.
The Group provides on-the-job training and career development opportunities to its
employees to enhance staff professional skills and retain talents. The Group provides
competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate the employees. The Group
regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary

adjustments to conform to the market standard.

Relationships with Channel Partners
The Group's mobile top-up business consists of mobile top-up services through electronic
banking systems of the PRC banks and third-party online platforms, Group's self-operated

websites and Group's WeChat public account.
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Report of the Directors
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The Group primarily provides mobile top-up services through electronic banking systems
of the PRC banks and the gross transaction value derived through electronic banking
systems accounted for approximately 85.1% of the total gross transaction value in 2024.
The Group maintained long-term cooperative relationships with the PRC banks as a
result of the Group's satisfactory service quality, strong brand recognition and reputation
and leading market position. The Group had an average of approximately twelve years
of business relationship with the five largest state-owned commercial banks. The Group
worked with 78 PRC banks, including the five largest state owned commercial banks and
10 of the 12 nation-wide joint stock commercial banks up to the end of 2024. The Group
also utilized other channels (third-party online platforms, Group's websites and its WeChat
public account) to provide mobile top-up services. The Group evaluates the effectiveness

and profitability of each channel when considering cooperation with the online platforms.

Relationships with Customers

The Group primarily provides mobile top-up services to mobile users, who are customers
of the Group's channel partners, including the PRC banks, offline channel partners and
other channel partners. In other words, customers of the Group's channel partners are the
Group's indirect customers. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the number of
mobile users who used the Group's services was approximately 43.7 million and the five

largest customers collectively contributed less than 83.7% of the gross transaction value.

Relationships with Suppliers

The Group primarily sources mobile top-up credits from the PRC telecommunication
operators and their distributors. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had
business relationships with 213 suppliers. The Group maintained long term relationship
with most of suppliers, and the Group's five largest suppliers had an average of

approximately 4.8 years of business relationships with the Group.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this annual

report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. ZHOU Jinhuang (appointed as Chairman on 26 January 2024)

Mr. GUAN Heng (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. HUANG Junmou (resigned as Chairman and appointed as honorary chairman on

26 January 2024)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. FAN Weiguo
Mr. YU Zida

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. ZHANG Mingqun

Ms. ZOU Guoying

Dr. LI Yao
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Report of the Directors
EZEWE

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles, Dr. Zhou Jinhuang, Mr. Guan Heng and
Mr. Zhang Mingqun will retire in the forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, have offered

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Company are set

out on pages |8 to 24 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Mr. Huang Junmou, Dr. Zhou Jinhuang and Mr. Guan Heng, the executive Directors, have
entered into a service contract with the Company and were appointed for a specific term
of three years commencing from | January 2024, 8 November 2022 and 2 November
2022 respectively unless terminated by not less than three months' notice in writing

served by either the executive Director or the Company.

Mr. Yu Zida and Mr. Fan Weiguo, the non-executive Directors, have entered into a
service contract with the Company for a specific term of three years commencing from
18 June 2023 and |7 March 2025 respectively unless terminated by not less than three

months' notice in writing served by either party on the other.
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Ms. Zou Guoying, Mr. Zhang Mingqun and Dr. Li Yao, the independent non-executive
Directors, have entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a specific term
of three years commencing from 5 May 2023, 24 May 2023 and 30 June 2023 respectively
unless terminated by not less than three months' notice in writing served by either party

on the other.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of directors are set
out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and recommending to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for the Directors, in particular the Chairman and chief

executive officer.

There was no service contract entered into/appointment letter signed by the Company
and any Directors to be re-elected in the forthcoming AGM which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
All independent non-executive Directors have confirmed their independence pursuant
to the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the

independent non-executive Directors independent.
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Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments and five highest paid individuals for the
year ended 3| December 2024 are set out in note 12 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the emolument policy of the Company is set out in the Corporate

Governance Report on page |7 of this annual report.

No Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Directors' remuneration is subject to Shareholder’s approval at general meetings.
Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to Directors’ duties
and responsibilities, the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee and the
performance and results of the Group. None of the Directors, or any of their respective
associates, was involved in deciding his/her own remuneration for the year ended 3|

December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and in the section
headed “Connected Transactions” of this annual report, no Director or an entity
connected with a Director has or had a material beneficial interest, directly or indirectly,
in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting as at 31 December

2024 or at any time during the year ended 3| December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or their respective
associates has engaged in or has any interest in any business which were in competition or

were likely to compete, directly or indirectly with the business of the Group.
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RELEVANT SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Relevant Shareholders (as defined below) or their subsidiary has or had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance, whether
for the provision of services or otherwise, to the business of the Group to which the

Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 3| December 2024.

COMPLIANCE OF THE DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company entered into a deed of non-competition
(“Non-Competition Deed”) with Mr. Huang Junmou, Mr. Yang Hua, Mr. Li Xiangcheng,
Mr. Xu Xinhua, Fun Charge Technology, Happy Charge Technology Limited (“Happy
Charge Technology”), Cool Charge Technology Limited (“Cool Charge Technology”)
and Enjoy Charge Technology Limited (“Enjoy Charge Technology”) (collectively, the
“Relevant Shareholders”) on 23 September 2015, under which the Relevant Shareholders
jointly and severally agreed not to, whether as principal or agent whether undertaken
directly or indirectly (including through any associate, subsidiary, partnership, join venture
or other contractual arrangement of theirs) and whether for profit or otherwise, carry
on, engage, invest, participate or hold any right or be interested in or render any services
to or otherwise be involved in any business which is in competition, directly or indirectly,
or is likely to be in competition, directly or indirectly, with the business referred to in the
Prospectus that is carried on or contemplated to be carried on by any member of the

Group.

Notwithstanding the above, the foregoing restrictions do not preclude any of the Relevant
Shareholders from having any interest in shares of not more than 5% in any company
which is or whose holding company is listed on any recognized stock exchange even
though the business carried out by such company is or is likely to be in competition
with the business, provided that the aggregate number of shares held by the Relevant
Shareholders do not exceed 5% of the issued shares of such company and none of the
Relevant Shareholders is a director of such company or is entitled to appoint any director

of such company.
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Each of the Relevant Shareholders has undertaken in the Non-Competition Deed that
during the term of the Non-Competition Deed, if a new business opportunity is made
available to any Relevant Shareholder or its/his respective associates, such Relevant
Shareholder will or will procure that its/his associates to notify the Company in writing
and provide to the Company all information that is reasonably necessary for the Company
to consider whether or not to pursue such business opportunity. For details of the Non-
Competition Deed, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with Controlling

Shareholders — Deed of Non-Competition” in the Prospectus.

As stated in the Prospectus, the Non-Competition Deed would become effective upon
listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange on 7 January 2016 and remain in full force
and be terminated upon the earlier of (i) the date on which the Relevant Shareholders
and its/his respective affiliates cease to be controlling shareholder of the company within
the meaning of the Listing Rules; or (i) the Company’s shares no longer being listed on

the Stock Exchange.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Relevant Shareholders were regarded as the
controlling shareholders of the Company due to the concert party agreement entered into
by Mr. Huang Junmou, Mr. Yang Hua, Mr. Li Xiangcheng and Mr. Xu Xinhua on |5 April
2015, and the concert party agreement was terminated on |5 May 2020. Accordingly, the
Relevant Shareholders were no longer controlling shareholders of the Company during
the year ended 3| December 2023, and thus the Non-Competition Deed has lapsed and
ceased to have effect during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interest or short positions of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which would be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein, or
which would be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant

to the Model Code were as follows:
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Long Position in the ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) REQREER (RHE ) WEFR

Approximate

percentage of

Number of issued share
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held capital®
HEBRTRAE
EEpR 5%/ RmME BEROHE BHED L
Mr. Huang Junmou® Interest in controlled corporation 44,500,000 10.72%
BERTE R AE R
Notes: BifsE

(1) Mr. Huang Junmou beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of Fun Charge () EEFEEEZEHEAFUn Charge Technology
Technology. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Huang Junmou was deemed to be interested in M2 BEBITRA - REFHRBEED
44,500,000 Shares held by Fun Charge Technology. BB R ERE BRFun Charge Technology

F5H 944,500,000 e A A

(2)  The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company's total issued share Q REESLIEZE-_MFF+=A=+—H
capital of 415,000,000 Shares as at 31 December 2024. AREZHPE EITIRA415,000,000/ 815 5
g

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors and chief — Br EXFTHEEIN  RZBE-WNF+-A=
executives of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in +—H BEERARFESTBRAEHER
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations KRR ERE AR (T&RBEHFRBE KD
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which was required to be notified to the EXVE) KRG - HEARGOEEETHES
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO Y%&%ﬁ{”ﬂ?ﬁﬁﬁﬂf S MENE EHISEXVERSE7
(including interest or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under 8D EfBAIE AN R R TR RS SR B
such provisions of the SFO) or which would be required to be recorded in the register ( EIEIRIE B A M AN Z FERER
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which was EER G ABEBENERIORR) JREEHFK
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock HNE 6P 352 1% 2 FLER A ARITFENER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons
(other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had or deemed or taken
to have an interest and/or short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares which are
required to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of

the SFO were as follows:

TERRRROREBERDOEE R LR

RZBE_NFE+-A=+—B BEEMH
Mo TNIAL (BEERARARSTRABR
) RERBAR RS E R D sk ARRA R D P
BIREE =R ERPIEXVERF2 K375
AT BB CBREA R AREE 77 R
BIRPIEBHAFENELCMANER L,/

KR
Long positions in the Shares RRGBHEFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued share
Substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held capital®
HERITRAE
FTERR 51/ BEME BEROEE CREE A
Fun Charge Technology Beneficial owner 44,500,000 10.72%
ESBEAA
Spring Harbour Development Limited Beneficial owner 119,400,000 28.77%
("Spring Harbour")") EnEBA
Ms. Lam Ching Wan() Interested in controlled corporation 119,400,000 28.77%
MEFR L L0 R LB
China Charge Technology Limited Beneficial owner 60,000,000 14.46%
(“China Charge Technology”)® ERBEAA
Mr. Huang Shaowu® Interested in controlled corporation 60,000,000 14.46%
BRRTE® RIS E RS
Harvest Gold Capital Limited® Beneficial owner 56,100,000 13.52%
ExfBA
Mr. Chong Wing Kin® Interested in controlled corporation 56,100,000 13.52%

FoKRELEe

R LB
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Notes:

(1) Ms. Lam Ching Wan is the director and beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of
Spring Harbour. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Lam Ching Wan was deemed to be interested in
119,400,000 Shares held by Spring Harbour.

(2)  Mr. Huang Shaowu is the director and beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital
of China Charge Technology. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Huang Shaowu was deemed to be
interested in 60,000,000 Shares held by China Charge Technology.

(3)  Mr. Chong Wing Kin is the director and beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of
Harvest Gold Capital Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chong Wing Kin was deemed to be
interested in 56,100,000 Shares held by Harvest Gold Capital Limited.

(4)  The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company's total issued share
capital of 415,000,000 Shares as at 31 December 2024

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
Shares or underlying Shares which are required to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO.
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SHARE SCHEMES
SHARE AWARD SCHEME
The Company adopted a share award scheme (2024 Share Award Scheme”) on 30

October 2024, which is subject to the administration of the share scheme committee of

the Board (the “Share Scheme Committee”). For details of 2024 Share Aware Scheme,

please refer to the circular of the Company dated 14 October 2024.

oy
‘88

Purpose

The purposes of the 2024 Share Award Scheme are (i) to recognise and
acknowledge the contribution of the eligible participants and to motivate the
participants to contribute to, and promote the interests of, the Company by
granting Awards to them as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
growth and development of the Group; (i) to attract, retain and motivate high-
calibre participants to promote the sustainable development of the Group in
line with the performance targets of the Group; (iii) to develop, maintain and
strengthen long-term relationships that the participants may have with the Group
for the benefits of the Group; and (iv) to align the interest of the selected persons
with those of the Shareholders to promote the long-term performance (whether in

financial, business and operational aspects) of the Group.

Eligible participants

Eligible participants under 2024 Share Award Scheme include any director or
employee of, or any person who has accepted an employment offer (whether
full time or part time) from, or who is being granted Awards as an inducement to

enter into employment contract with, any member of the Group.
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Offer and acceptance
The Share Scheme Committee is empowered, in its sole and absolute discretion,
to determine whether the Shares to be subject to any Award shall be acquired by

subscription, or by purchase from the market or otherwise.

Subject to approval by the Remuneration Committee of the grant of Awards
proposed by the Share Scheme Committee, an Offer shall be made by the Share
Scheme Committee in writing in an Award Agreement. The Award Agreement
shall be in such form as the Share Scheme Committee may from time to time
determine and shall specify, the number of Shares in respect of which the Offer is
made, the date of vesting or vesting schedule, and such other terms and conditions
to which the Award shall be subject, and requiring the Eligible Participant to hold
the Award on the terms on which it is to be granted and to be bound by the rules

of the 2024 Share Award Scheme.

An Offer shall remain open for acceptance by the Eligible Participant concered
for a period of 21 days from the date on which the Offer is made or such other
period as the Share Scheme Committee may specify in writing. An Offer shall be
deemed to have been accepted when the counterpart of the Award Agreement
duly signed by the Grantee is received by the Company at the place specified in the
Award Agreement. Under the rules of the 2024 Share Award Scheme, the Share
Scheme Committee may determine the amount, if any, payable by a Grantee on
acceptance of the Award and the period within which payments or calls must or
may be made or loans for such purposes must be repaid, taking into consideration
factors such as the identity of the Eligible Participant(s), the prevailing closing price
of the Shares, the purpose of the 2024 Share Award Scheme, the performance of
the Eligible Participant(s) and his/her potential and expected contribution to the
growth and development of the Company, in order to align the overall terms of
the Awards with the purpose of the 2024 Share Award Scheme. For avoidance of
doubt, the Awards under the 2024 Share Award Scheme could be exercised at nil

consideration or at certain price.
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Maximum number of shares

Subject to refreshment and adjustment pursuant to the 2024 Share Award Scheme
Rules, the maximum number of new Shares which may be allotted and issued in
respect of all awards to be granted under the 2024 Share Award Scheme and
all share options and share awards to be granted under any other schemes (i.e.
the scheme mandate limit) shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of
issued shares of the Company as at the adoption date (or such other limit (if
any) prescribed by the Listing Rules from time to time), and the service provider
sublimit shall not in aggregate exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue
as at the adoption date, unless the Company has obtained separate approval by

Shareholders.

As at the adoption date, the Company had 415,000,000 shares in issue. Accordingly,
(i) the total number of shares which may be issued in respect of all share options
and awarded shares that may be granted under the 2024 Share Award Scheme and
all share options and awarded shares that may be granted under any other schemes
shall not exceed 41,500,000, representing no more than approximately 10% of the
total number of shares in issue as at the adoption date; and (ii) the total number
of shares which may be issued in respect of all share options and awarded shares
that may be granted under the 2024 Share Award Scheme and all share options
and awarded shares that may be granted under any other schemes to services
providers shall not exceed 4,150,000, representing no more than approximately %

of the total number of shares in issue as at the adoption date.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares which may be granted
under the 2024 Share Award Scheme is 41,500,000 shares, representing

approximately 10% of the total issued Shares (excluding treasury shares).

Maximum entitlements to participants

The total number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of all awards granted
under the 2024 Share Award Scheme and all share options and all share awards
granted under any other schemes (including both exercised or outstanding share
options and vested or outstanding awarded shares and awards but excluding any
awards, share options and share awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the 2024 Share Award Scheme or any other schemes) to each participant in any
| 2-month period up to and including the relevant offer date shall not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares in issue (excluding treasury shares) (i.e. individual limit).
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Grant price

The grant price of the awarded shares (if any) shall be such price which shall be
determined by the Board from time to time based on considerations such as the
prevailing closing price of the Shares, the purpose of the award, the performance
of the selected person and his/her potential and expected contribution to the

growth and development of the Company.

Vesting period of awards

The vesting period in respect of any awarded share shall not be less than |2
months (or such other period as the Listing Rules may prescribe or permit from
time to time). Awards granted to employee participants may be subject to a shorter
vesting period as determined by (i) the Remuneration Committee if such employee
participant is a Director or a senior management (as defined under Rule 17.01A of
the Listing Rules) of the Company, or (i) the Board if such employee participant
is not a Director or a senior management (as defined under Rule 17.01A of the

Listing Rules) of the Company, under any of the following circumstances:

(@)  grants of “make-whole” awards to a new employee participant to replace
the awards or options that such employee participant forfeited when leaving

his/her previous employer;
(b)  grants to an employee participant whose employment is terminated due to

death or disability or occurrence of any out of control events;

() grants of awards with performance-based vesting conditions as determined

by the Board, in lieu of time-based vesting criteria;

(d)  grants of awards that are made in batch during a year in order to accommodate
administrative and compliance requirements;

(e)  grants of awards with a mixed or accelerated vesting schedule such as where

the awards may vest evenly over a period of 12 months; and

(f)  grants of awards with a total vesting and holding period of more than 12

months.

()
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Duration

Subject to the early termination of the 2024 Share Award Scheme by the Board at
any time, the 2024 Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
|0 years commencing from its adoption date (i.e. 30 October 2024).

The total number of Shares available for grant under the 2024 Share Award
Scheme as at 31 December 2024 was 41,500,000 Shares.

No share awards were granted, vested, lapsed or cancelled under the 2024 Share

Award Scheme during the Reporting Period.

The remaining life of 2024 Share Award Scheme is 9 years and 6 months.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company terminated the share option scheme adopted on 14 December 2015 and
amended on 4 November 2016 (the “2015 Share Option Scheme”) on 30 October
2024. No option has been granted, exercised, lapsed nor cancelled under the 2015 Share

Option Scheme at any time during the year ended 3| December 2024.

On the same day, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the “2024 Share
Options Scheme”) for the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible
participants (the “Eligible Participants”) as defined in the 2024 Share Options Scheme to
recognize and acknowledge their contribution to the Group and motivate them to higher
levels of performance. For details of 2024 Share Option Scheme, please refer to the

circular of the Company dated 14 October 2024.

Under the 2024 Share Option Scheme, the Share Scheme Committee is empowered, in
its sole and absolute discretion and based on such factors as it shall consider relevant, to

grant options (the “Options”) to eligible participants it shall select from time to time.

()  Purpose
The purpose of the 2024 Share Option Scheme is established to recognize and
acknowledge the contribution that Eligible Participants had or may have made to
the Group. The 2024 Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants an
opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with the view to achieve the
objective of attracting and retaining high caliber Eligible Participants to motivate the
Eligible Participants to higher levels of performance and to promote the success of

the Group's business.

(i)  Eligible participants
The Eligible Participant under 2024 Share Option Scheme include any director or
employee of, or any person who has accepted an employment offer (whether full
time or part time) from, or who is being granted Options as an inducement to

enter into employment contract with, any member of the Group.
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Offer and acceptance

An Option shall be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the grantee and
to have taken effect when the duplicate offer document constituting acceptances of
the Options duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance in favour of the
Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant thereof, is received by
the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date. Such payment shall in no
circumstances be refundable. Any offer to grant an Option to subscribe for Shares
may be accepted in respect of less than the number of Shares for which it is offered
provided that it is accepted in respect of a board lot for dealing in Shares on the
Stock Exchange or an integral multiple thereof and such number is clearly stated in
the duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the Option. To the extent
that the offer to grant an Option is not accepted by any prescribed acceptance

date, it shall be deemed to have been irrevocably declined.

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which Options may be granted
under the 2024 Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 0% of the total number of Shares
issued on 30 October 2024, being 41,500,000 Shares, excluding for this purpose
Shares which would have been issuable pursuant to Options which have lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme (or any other share option schemes of
the Company). Subject to the issue of a circular by the Company and the approval
of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed

under the Listing Rules from time to time, the Board may:

(i) refresh this limit at any time to 0% of the Shares in issue as at the date of

the approval by our Shareholders in general meeting; and/or
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(i)

grant options beyond the 0% limit to Eligible Participants specifically
identified by the Board. The circular issued by the Company to the
Shareholders shall contain a generic description of the specified Eligible
Participants who may be granted such Options, the number and terms of
the Options to be granted, the purpose of granting Options to the specified
Eligible Participants with an explanation as to how the Options serve such
purpose and the information required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing

Rules.

Notwithstanding the foregoing and subject to the effect of alterations to
capital, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding Options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company at any time
shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time. No options
shall be granted under any schemes of the Company (including the Scheme)

if this will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

As at the date of this report, the total number of Shares which may be
granted under the 2024 Share Option Scheme is 41,500,000 Shares,

representing approximately 10% of the total issued Shares.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise
of the Options granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each Eligible
Participant in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed % of
the Shares in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant of Options in excess of

this 1% limit shall be subject to:

() theissue of a circular by the Company containing the identity of the Eligible
Participant, the numbers and terms of the Options to be granted (and
Options previously granted to such participant) and the information as

required under Rule 17.02(2)(d) of the Listing Rules; and

(i) the approval of the Shareholders in general meeting and/or other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time with
such Eligible Participant and his associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
abstaining from voting. The numbers and terms (including the exercise
price) of Options to be granted to such participant must be fixed before
the Shareholders’ approval and the date of the Board meeting at which the
Board proposes to grant the Options to such Eligible Participant shall be
taken as the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the subscription

price of the Shares.

The subscription price per Share

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular Option granted under
the 2024 Share Option Scheme shall, subject to any adjustments made pursuant to
the terms of the 2024 Share Option Scheme, be determined by the Share Scheme
Committee and notified to an Eligible Participant and shall be at least the highest of:

() the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant in respect of the relevant Options

which must be a business day;
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(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the date

of grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant, and as subsequently
adjusted pursuant to the terms of the 2024 Share Option Scheme, if

relevant.

(vii) Duration
Subject to the early termination of the 2024 Share Option Scheme in accordance
with its rules, the Listing Rules, applicable laws and other regulations and the
Memorandum and Articles of Association from time to time in force, the 2024
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years

commencing from its adoption date (i.e. 30 October 2024).

The total number of Shares which may be granted under the 2024 Share Option
Scheme as at | January 2024 and 31 December 2024 is 41,500,000 shares.

Since the adoption of the Scheme and up to the date of this annual report, no

Option has been granted, exercised, lapsed nor cancelled under the Scheme.

The remaining life of 2024 Share Option Scheme is 9 years and 6 months.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2024 was the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that would enable
the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the

Company or any other body corporate.
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PENSION SCHEME

Hong Kong

Qualified directors of the Group in Hong Kong are members of Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes (the “MPF Schemes”) administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF Schemes, the Group and its directors are each required to make contributions to the

plan at 5% of the directors’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income

of HK$30,000.

PRC

The directors of the Group's operations in Mainland China are required to participate in
central pension schemes operated by the local municipal governments, the assets of which
are held separately from those of the Group. Contributions are made by the Group based
on a percentage of the participating directors’ salaries and are charged to profit or loss as

they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension schemes.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have forfeited contributions that

reduce the contributions payable in future years.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(@)  Existing Contractual Arrangements and New Contractual Arrangements
The Company is primarily engaged in, through Shenzhen NNK; the provision of
mobile top-up services and data usage top-up services (the “Principal Business"),
which is considered to be value-added telecommunications services, a sector
where foreign investment is subject to significant restrictions under the PRC laws
and regulations. Accordingly, the Company, as foreign investors, cannot directly
hold controlling interest in Shenzhen NNK, the Company’'s PRC Operating
Entity, which holds certain licenses and permits required for the operation of
the Company's Principal Business. As a result, the Company's wholly foreign-
owned enterprise (the “WFOE"), Daily Charge Shenzhen entered into a series
of contractual arrangements with Shenzhen NNK; the Company's PRC Operating
Entity, and its shareholders (the "Existing Contractual Arrangements”) in order to
conduct the Principal Business in the PRC and to exercise effective control over the
operations of, and enjoy all economic benefits of, the Company's PRC Operating
Entity. The series of the Existing Contractual Arrangements as a whole allow the
financial performance and economic benefits of the business of Shenzhen NNK
to be included in the financial information of the Company as if the Company
is the parent company of Shenzhen NNK. Pursuant to the Existing Contractual
Arrangements, Shenzhen NNK has an obligation to pay the consulting and technical

‘C.
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supporting services fees to WFOE and WFOE has legal rights to retain such fees
as its revenue, and the Company is able to acquire the entire profits (including the
retained eamings) of Shenzhen NINK under the terms of the Existing Contractual

Arrangements.

Shenzhen NNK was owned as to 31.5% by Mr. Huang Junmou, 21% by Mr. Yang
Hua, 18.7% by Mr. Li Xiangcheng, 8.8% by Mr. Xu Xinhua and 20% by Mr. Huang
Shaowu (collectively, the “Existing Registered Shareholders”). Daily Charge
Shenzhen, Shenzhen NINK and the Existing Registered Shareholders, as the case

may be, entered into the following agreements as at 31 December 2020:

The management and operation agreement dated 4 March 2015 and its
supplemental agreement dated |6 April 2015 entered into among Daily
Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the Existing Registered Shareholders,
pursuant to which Daily Charge Shenzhen agreed to provide to Shenzhen
NNK and its subsidiaries management and operation services. Pursuant
to the management and operation agreement, Shenzhen NNK shall pay
to Daily Charge Shenzhen a service fee that equals to 100% of the annual
revenue of Shenzhen NINK after deducting costs and expenses (except the
service fee) incurred during the course of management and operation of
Shenzhen NNK and any taxes, the prior-year loss (if any) and contribution
of social insurance and housing provident fund by Shenzhen NNK in any
given year. In addition, Daily Charge Shenzhen may at its absolute discretion
adjust the service fee or agree to any postponed payment so as to avoid any

financial difficutty of either Shenzhen NNK or itself.
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The exclusive option agreement dated 4 March 2015 entered into among
Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the Existing Registered
Shareholders, pursuant to which the Existing Registered Shareholders
irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive option to Daily Charge
Shenzhen which entitles Daily Charge Shenzhen to elect to purchase, when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the equity
interests in Shenzhen NNK from the Existing Registered Shareholders
itself or through its designated person(s). Such designated person(s) shall
be appointed by Daily Charge Shenzhen in its sole discretion. The transfer
price of the relevant equity interests shall be the minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC law, and the Existing Registered Shareholders have
undertaken to return in full the consideration received in relation to such

transfer of equity interests to Daily Charge Shenzhen.

The entrustment agreement dated 4 March 2015 entered into among Daily
Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the Existing Registered Shareholders,
with an annexure of the power of attorney dated 4 March 2015 executed
by each of the Existing Registered Shareholders in favour of Daily Charge
Shenzhen and/or its designated person(s). Pursuant to the entrustment
agreement and the powers of attormey annexed thereto, each of the Existing
Registered Shareholders irrevocably agreed to authorize Daily Charge
Shenzhen or its designated person(s) to exercise all of his rights and powers
as shareholder of Shenzhen NNK; including the rights to convene and attend
shareholders’ meetings, to exercise voting rights in shareholders” meetings, to
appoint and dismiss directors and supervisors, to decide on any acquisition
or disposal of his equity interest in Shenzhen NNK or the winding-up or
dissolution of Shenzhen NNK; to file documents with relevant government
authorities or regulatory bodies, and to exercise such other shareholders'

rights as stipulated under the articles of association of Shenzhen NNK.
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The equity pledge agreement dated 4 March 2015 entered into among Daily
Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the Existing Registered Shareholders,
pursuant to which the Existing Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge
all of their respective equity interests in Shenzhen NNK to Daily Charge
Shenzhen to secure performance of all their obligations and the obligations
of Shenzhen NNK under the management and operation agreement, the
exclusive option agreement and the entrustment agreement underlying the
Existing Contractual Arrangements. Under the equity pledge agreement, if
Shenzhen NINK declares any dividends during the term of the pledge, Daily
Charge Shenzhen is entitled to receive all dividends or other income arising
from the pledged equity interests, if any. If any of the Existing Registered
Shareholders or Shenzhen NNK breaches or fails to fulfil the obligations
under any of the aforementioned agreements, Daily Charge Shenzhen, as the
pledgee, will be entitled to dispose of the pledged equity interests, entirely
or partially.

The exclusive intellectual property purchase option agreement dated 4
March 2015 entered into between Shenzhen NNK and Daily Charge
Shenzhen, pursuant to which Shenzhen NNK agreed to irrevocably and
unconditionally grant an exclusive option to Daily Charge Shenzhen to
purchase certain of Shenzhen NNK's intellectual properties, including but not
limited to trademarks, patents, domain names and copyright and whether
registered or unregistered, entirely or partially, at the minimum purchase

price permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
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The detailed terms of which are set out in the section headed “History,
Reorganization and Corporate Structure — Contractual Arrangements” of the

Prospectus.
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In addition, the Existing Registered Shareholders granted the individual appointed
by WFOE, to exercise their shareholder’s rights, including without limitation, to
declare, receive or decline the dividends or distribution. In the event that the
Existing Registered Shareholders receive any dividends or distribution of assets
declared by Shenzhen NNK, the Existing Registered Shareholders are required
to return the dividend or distribution of assets so received to WFOE. Therefore,
WFOE controls the management and board of directors of Shenzhen NNK and
is able to acquire the entire profit generated from Shenzhen NNK under the

Contractual Arrangements.

On 15 November 2021, Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK, Shenzhen
Haimeng Investment Company Limited (“Shenzhen Haimeng"), Mr. Huang
Junmou, Mr. Li Xiangcheng and Mr. Huang Shaowu (Shenzhen Haimeng, Mr.
Huang Junmou, Mr. Li Xiangcheng and Mr. Huang Shaowu, collectively, the “New
Registered Shareholders”) entered into a new contractual arrangements which
are on the same terms and conditions of the Existing Contractual Arrangements,
mainly due to the change of the nominal shareholders of Shenzhen NNK from
Mr. Yang Hua and Mr. Xu Xinhua to Shenzhen Haimeng, a company owned as to
80% by Ms. Lin Peizhen (“Ms. Lin") and 20% by Ms. Chen Yixi (“Ms. Chen”) (the
“New Contractual Arrangements”). The Existing Contractual Arrangements were
terminated concurrently. Shenzhen NNK is now owned as to 31.5% by Mr. Huang
Junmou, 29.8% by Shenzhen Haimeng, 18.7% by Mr. Li Xiangcheng and 20% by Mr.
Huang Shaowu. Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the New Registered

Shareholders entered into the following agreements as at 31 December 2021:
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The management and operation agreement dated |5 November 2021
entered into among Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK; the New
Registered Shareholders, Ms. Lin and Ms. Chen, pursuant to which Daily
Charge Shenzhen agreed to provide to Shenzhen NNK management and
operation services. Pursuant to the management and operation agreement,
Shenzhen NNK shall pay to Daily Charge Shenzhen a service fee that
equals to 100% of the annual revenue of Shenzhen NNK after deducting
costs and expenses (except the service fee) incurred during the course of
management and operation of Shenzhen NNK and any taxes, the prior-year
loss (if any) and contribution of social insurance and housing provident fund
by Shenzhen NNK in any given year. In addition, Daily Charge Shenzhen may
at its absolute discretion adjust the service fee or agree to any postponed
payment so as to avoid any financial difficulty of either Shenzhen NNK or

itself,

The exclusive option agreement dated |5 November 2021 entered into
among Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the New Registered
Shareholders, Ms. Lin and Ms. Chen, pursuant to which the New Registered
Shareholders irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive option
to Daily Charge Shenzhen which entitles Daily Charge Shenzhen to elect
to purchase, when permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any
part of the equity interests in Shenzhen NNK from the New Registered
Shareholders itself or through its designated person(s). Such designated
person(s) shall be appointed by Daily Charge Shenzhen in its sole discretion.
The transfer price of the relevant equity interests shall be the minimum
purchase price permitted under the PRC law, and the New Registered
Shareholders have undertaken to retum in full the consideration received in

relation to such transfer of equity interests to Daily Charge Shenzhen.
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The entrustment agreement dated 15 November 2021 entered into among
Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK;, the New Registered Shareholders,
Ms. Lin and Ms. Chen, with an annexure of the power of attomey dated |5
November 2021 executed by each of the New Registered Shareholders in
favour of Daily Charge Shenzhen and/or its designated person(s). Pursuant
to the entrustment agreement and the powers of attorney annexed
thereto, each of the New Registered Shareholders, Ms. Lin and Ms. Chen
irrevocably agreed to authorize Daily Charge Shenzhen or its designated
person(s) to exercise all of his rights and powers as shareholder of Shenzhen
NNK; including the rights to convene and attend shareholders” meetings,
to exercise voting rights in shareholders” meetings, to appoint and dismiss
directors and supervisors, to decide on any acquisition or disposal of the
New Registered Shareholders', Ms Lin's and/or Ms. Chen’s equity interest in
Shenzhen NNK or the winding-up or dissolution of Shenzhen NNK, to file
documents with relevant government authorities or regulatory bodies, and
to exercise such other shareholders' rights as stipulated under the articles of

association of Shenzhen NNK
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The equity pledge agreement dated |5 November 2021 entered into
among Daily Charge Shenzhen, Shenzhen NNK and the New Registered
Shareholders, pursuant to which the New Registered Shareholders agreed
to pledge all of their respective equity interests in Shenzhen NNK to
Daily Charge Shenzhen to secure performance of all their obligations and
the obligations of Shenzhen NNK under the management and operation
agreement, the exclusive option agreement and the entrustment agreement
underlying the New Contractual Arrangements. Under the equity pledge
agreement, if Shenzhen NNK declares any dividends during the term of
the pledge, Daily Charge Shenzhen is entitled to receive all dividends or
other income arising from the pledged equity interests, if any. If any of the
New Registered Shareholders or Shenzhen NNK breaches or fails to fulfil
the obligations under any of the aforementioned agreements, Daily Charge
Shenzhen, as the pledgee, will be entitled to dispose of the pledged equity

interests, entirely or partially.

The exclusive intellectual property purchase option agreement dated |5
November 202 entered into between Shenzhen NNK and Daily Charge
Shenzhen, pursuant to which Shenzhen NNK agreed to irrevocably and
unconditionally grant an exclusive option to Daily Charge Shenzhen to
purchase certain of Shenzhen NNK's intellectual properties, including but not
limited to trademarks, patents, domain names and copyright and whether
registered or unregistered, entirely or partially, at the minimum purchase

price permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
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Spring Harbour is a substantial shareholder of the Company and Ms. Lam Ching
Wan is the ultimate beneficial owner of Spring Harbour. Given Ms. Lin, who
entered into the New Contractual Arrangements as one of the New Registered
Shareholders, is the sister-in-law and accordingly an associate of Ms. Lam Ching
Wan, Ms. Lin is a connected person of the Company under Chapter [4A of the
Listing Rules. As Shenzhen Haimeng is a majority-controlled company held by Ms.
Lin, Shenzhen Haimeng is also deemed to be a connected person of the Company
under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules. Meanwhile, the other three New
Registered Shareholders, Mr. Huang Junmou, Mr. Li Xiangcheng and Mr. Huang
Shaowu, remain as the nominal shareholders of Shenzhen NNK under the New

Contract Arrangements and as connected persons of the Company.

Apart from the above, there was no new contractual arrangements entered into,
renewed or reproduced between the Group and the PRC Operational Entity
during the year ended 3| December 2024. There was no material change in the
Existing Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances during the period
from | January 2021 to 14 November 202 and there was no material change
in the New Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances during the
period from 15 November 2021 to 31 December 2024. None of the contracts
mentioned above has been unwound during the year ended 31 December 2024 as
none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of the contracts under the Existing

Contractual Arrangements and New Contractual Arrangements has been removed.
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Set out below is certain key financial information of Shenzhen NNK as prepared
in accordance with the PRC accounting standards during the year ended 31
December 2024:
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Year ended

31 December 2024
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Revenue
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Total assets

/

120,935
571,612

The Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) are of the view
that the Existing Contractual Arrangements and New Contractual Arrangements
are (i) fundamental to the Group's legal structure and business operations; and (ii)
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, on normal
commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a

whole.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 26 November 2021 for

further details of the New Contractual Arrangements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements prescribed in
Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules with respect to the continuing connected

transactions of the Group.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions under the Existing Contractual
Arrangements and the New Contractual Arrangements for the year ended 31 December
2024 and confirmed that:

(i) the transactions carried out during the year ended 31 December 2024 have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Existing Contractual
Arrangements and New Contractual Arrangement respectively have been operated so
that the revenue generated by the Company’s Operating Entity has been substantially
retained by Daily Charge Shenzhen; (i) no dividends or other distributions have been
made by the Company's PRC Operating Entity to the holders of its equity interests which
are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and (iii) apart from
the New Contractual Arrangements, there were no new contracts entered into, renewed
or reproduced between the Group and the PRC Operating Entity during the year ended
31 December 2024.

Pursuant to Rule [4A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has engaged the auditors of the
Company to carry out procedures in relation to the Existing Contractual Arrangements
and the New Contractual Arrangements, in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information”. Based on the work performed, the auditors

of the Company have provided a letter to the Board confirming that:

() nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of the Company
to believe that the Existing Contractual Arrangements, the New Contractual
Arrangements, the Framework Agreement and the Supplemental Framework

Agreement have not been approved by the Board;
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i nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of the Compan i RARZER W E T EREMNEESH
(if) g pany

to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, BEZERHETERTIEBRER
in accordance with the relevant agreements under the Existing Contractual BENRH - MeTH - EXRHR
Arrangements, the New Contractual Arrangements, the Framework Agreement MAERBE TREZZERZNEE R
and the Supplemental Framework Agreement governing such transactions; BT

(i) nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of the Company to (i) ANATZEEMTEIZINERNFESH

believe that dividends or other distributions have been made by Shenzhen NNK to BERNFEFREMEREREAEL
their equity interest holders; REFKEMAIK :
Waiver from Stock Exchange and Annual Renew BXRR R FEER

The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver from strict compliance with (i) the BRAERLRE  REROEBRIMET
announcements, circulars and independent shareholders' approval requirements under WEFHRRERF204E205BFIHENE T
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules; (i) the requirement of setting a maximum aggregate 4 BIRERERBIRETIATEIR : ()£
annual value, i.e. an annual cap, for the fees payable to Daily Charge Shenzhen under HAETTNAZN RS - BB ILE
the Existing Contractual Arrangements and New Contractual Arrangements; and (iii) BE  (NVRBBRASNRHER &AL
the requirement of limiting the term of the Existing Contractual Arrangements and New EARARZEHRNZNNEARERS
Contractual Arrangements to three years or less, for so long as the Shares are listed on EaEE (BIFE ER)BRE : Ki)REIHR
the Stock Exchange subject to certain conditions as disclosed on pages 204 to 205 of the BENRHERTRANTHNERE=F4E
Prospectus. REEANRTE o
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE NEW CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
AND THE ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE COMPANY TO MITIGATE THE

RISKS

Risks associated with the New Contractual Arrangements

BHENZHAHENER

EHENZHERNEARRADRASE
2R e, B T BRI Y 8 3

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

ARFERRANERE R

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the
structure for operating the Company's business in the PRC do not
comply with the PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, the Company could be subject to
severe penalties or be forced to relinquish the Company's interests in
those operations.
WPERARRZYARREFREEXGORENRETTS
RENERER - I TR RERBRRAMNE - AREH
XA BRERITIENER ARG AER

The Company's New Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and the Company's
PRC Operating Entity or its shareholders may fail to perform their

obligations under the Company's New Contractual Arrangements.
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The Directors will closely monitor the latest development of the
existing or future applicable PRC laws or regulations (such as Foreign
Investment Law), and will take measures to ensure that the Company
is under the control of the PRC investors so as to comply with

relevant rules and regulations in the PRC.
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According to the entrustment agreement and powers of attorney,
equity pledge agreement and the management and operation
agreement, the arbitration tribunal may decide compensation for
the equity interests or property ownership of the PRC Operating
Entity or their shareholders, decide enforceable remedy or demand
a bankrupt on the PRC Operating Entity or their shareholders for
relevant business or enforceable asset transfer. Any party is entitled to
request the competent court to execute the arbitration award when
it comes into effect.
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Risks associated with the New Contractual Arrangements

R ENZHEHENER
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

A QR PRI R R i

The Company may lose the ability to use assets held by its PRC
Operating Entity that are material to the operation of the Company's
business if the Company's PRC Operating Entity declares bankruptcy or

becomes subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.
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The Company's New Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be imposed.
A finding that the Company owes additional taxes could substantially

reduce the Company's net income and the value of the investment.
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Pursuant to the exclusive option agreements, in the event of a
mandatory liquidation required by the laws of PRC, the New
Registered Shareholders irrevocably and unconditionally granted
an exclusive option to Daily Charge Shenzhen which entitles Daily
Charge Shenzhen to elect to purchase, when permitted by the then
applicable PRC laws, all or any part of the equity interests in Shenzhen
NNK from the New Registered Shareholders itself or through its
designated person(s). Such designated person(s) shall be appointed
by Daily Charge Shenzhen in its sole discretion. The transfer price
of the relevant equity interests shall be the minimum purchase price
permitted under PRC laws and the New Registered Shareholders
have undertaken to return in full the consideration received in relation
to such transfer of equity interests to Daily Charge Shenzhen.
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Having considered (i) the tax compliance certificate issued by
the relevant tax authorities; and (ii) that the Company has not
encountered any interference or encumbrances from any PRC tax
authority or other government authorities to the New Contractual
Arrangements, the Directors are of the view that the New
Contractual Arrangements are not likely to be challenged by the PRC
tax authority and other government authorities.
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Risks associated with the New Contractual Arrangements

Mitigation actions taken by the Company
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The shareholders of the Company's PRC Operating Entity may have (a)  The independent non-executive Directors will review, on an

conflicts of interest with the Company, which may materially and
adversely affect the Company's business.
ARRHRLLERNRRAIGEERARA BN R ER  ErlaeH
ARARINEBERBATFFE
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(d)

annual basis, the compliance with and enforcement of the
Non-Competition Deed that the Company entered into with
the Relevant Shareholders on 23 September 2015;

BUFNTEERRFRMARRRAABREN T~
AFENAZ+=RRIN AN THEFRENET RATER |

each of the Relevant Shareholders undertakes to provide
all information necessary for the annual review by the
independent non-executive Directors and professional advisors
of the Company with regard to the compliance with and
enforcement of the Non-Competition Deed;

ARRRE B FGHRUHEBUFNTEERARARE
BRI HFRBETIATERETFEENME B
VREFTHER ;

each of the Relevant Shareholders will disclose decisions
on matters reviewed by our independent non-executive
Directors of the Company related to the compliance with and
enforcement of the Non-Competition Deed in the annual
report of, or by way of announcement; and
FARREERRFERIUNAEARABRBEELIFNTE
EMEHNERETRATIRFRBENETEMEL AR
R

the Relevant Shareholders will make an annual confirmation on
compliance with their undertaking under the Non-competition
Deed in the report of the directors in Company's annual
report.
AABRRENARAFRAEZERETRETERT
BFRER NEAGEELFERERE -



Risks associated with the New Contractual Arrangements

B ENZHEHENER

Report of the Directors
ESEHE

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR PRI R A i

The New Contractual Arrangements between the Company's WFOE
and the Company's PRC Operating Entity may subject the Group to
increased income tax due to the different income tax rates applicable
to the Company's WFOE and the PRC Operating Entity and adversely

affect the Company's results of operations.

ARERARARASNABECE R TREEEROIERNEE
EEE  ARARINEBECFEA NN TEELERE 2R
AR BEEREBMASHE ML HRARNEEREE
ETMEE

The Company conducts its business operation in the PRC through its
PRC Operating Entity by way of the New Contractual Arrangements,
but certain terms of the New Contractual Arrangements may not be

enforceable under PRC law.

ERAHANTEN T A ETERRER S
THFRL AR R BA R R BT -

ARAFEBTELE
& RO ET

The WFOE was accredited as a “software enterprise” in January 2016
and therefore is entitled to an income tax exemption for two years
starting from the first profitable year and an income tax rate of 12.5%
after a 50% reduction for the subsequent three years. From 2021
onward, the WFOE will be subjected to an income tax rate of 25%,
which will be the same as the income tax rate applicable to the PRC
Operating Entity.

NEBECER T A"F-ABRARIRMEE] AitE
ENEEENFERAMFZEREHARRNER=FZR
FHRRGHRBR 125%88 - BT —Fif - IEBELER
BRBRWOHMEHMABE - ZHERIELEBRBERANAGT
HEEARR -

The New Contractual Arrangements contain provisions to the effect
that the arbitral body may award remedies, injunctive relief over the
shares and/or assets of PRC Operating Entity and/or wind up PRC
Obperating Entity. These agreements also contain provisions to the
effect that courts of competent jurisdictions are empowered to grant
interim remedies in support of the arbitration pending the formation
of an arbitral tribunal. Any party is entitled to request the competent

court to execute the arbitration award when it comes into effect.

HENTHEB GG AFEBE R T RELERORN
B/ BZEERTRNER SHELR SETELEER

EITER - ZEBRNEB GG RE SR ERMNE A
1R B S R R M SRS IR B DA AL (R ERJE IR ERR 3R
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Report of the Directors
EZEWE

Risks associated with the New Contractual Arrangements Mitigation actions taken by the Company
HEHENREARNER AN BRI R IR e

If the Company exercises the option to acquire equity ownership of the ~ Pursuant to the New Contractual Arrangements, Daily Charge
PRC Operating Entity, the ownership transfer must be approved or filed ~ Shenzhen (or its designee) has the exclusive right to purchase all or
with PRC governmental authorities and is subject to taxation, which may  any part of the equity interests in the Company's PRC Operating
result in substantial costs. Entity from the respective shareholders for the minimum price
permitted under the then applicable PRC laws. The equity interest
transfer is subject to the approval from or filings with Ministry of
Commerce of the PRC (the “MOFCOM"), Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology of PRC (the “MIIT") and/or their local
competent branches. According to the exclusive option agreement,
the transfer price of the relevant equity interests shall be the minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC law and the New Registered
Shareholders have undertaken to return in full the consideration
received in relation to such transfer of equity interests to Daily
Charge Shenzhen. In addition, the equity interest transfer price may
be subject to review and tax adjustment by the relevant tax authority.
The shareholders of the Company's PRC Operating Entity will be
subject to PRC individual income tax on the difference between the
equity interest transfer price and the then current registered capital
of the Company's PRC Operating Entity. The shareholders of the
Company's PRC Operating Entity will pay, after deducting any such
tax, the remaining amount to Daily Charge Shenzhen under the New
Contractual Arrangements. The amount to be received by Daily
Charge Shenzhen may also be subject to enterprise income tax.
MARBITEEREUNBETESSERNBREESRE  AEARE REFNGOLRY  RAFRRERI (ZEBEAL) BBZET
ERUAKTERTRBI SRR  YRSRHE  EEE UERERNPREEAFNREERKSKRREBEARARH
EARRA HE2ERN 2 EMAE - BEERACTEmSHE (7
B PEIEMESEH ([ TEH]) R HZEBAIHS
DXBEHEIER - REBREREAR - HEBRENEER
EBERRTEZRAMNKEREE BN ECKRREARTH
RIER AR R TR EORY EEAAE BB RAB © Lo - e
EREMEACHEBARGREREL EHIAHE - AR5 E
RERBNBRSREEERERARAATEEEERERR
AMEARZ HHNERAATBREAMGH - AARITFELE
ERORRBREH G QDT BERRRFERERIN SRR %
HIRREVERER - RRFERHORYIFTUCERE SR IR A] BE RS (2
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For details of the risks associated with the New Contractual Arrangements, please
refer to the section headed “RISKS RELATING TO THE NEW CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS" in the Company's announcement dated 26 November 2021.

(b)

Continuing Connected Transactions — The Framework Agreement

On 14 December 2021, the Company and the Yinsheng Communication Company
Limited (a connected supplier of the Company) (the “Connected Supplier”)
entered into a framework agreement in relation to the purchase of the mobile
top-up services and mobile data usage top-up services (the “Products”) by the
Company and supply of the Products by the Connected Supplier (the “Framework
Agreement”). The annual caps in respect of the Framework Agreement for the
period from 26 October 2021 to 31 December 2021 and each of the two financial
years ended 3| December 2022 and 2023 were RMB120 million, RMB700 million
and RMB864 million respectively. The independent shareholders of the Company
approved the proposed annual caps for the period from 26 October 2021 to 3
December 2021 and each of the two financial years ended 31 December 2022
and 2023 in respect of the continuing connected transactions pursuant to the

Framework Agreement at the extraordinary general meeting held on |0 February

2022.

AREE
$®T MR-F——
AEEFHENTHERORR

(b)
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Report of the Directors
EZEWE

In view of the growth in demand for the Products under the Framework
Agreement as a result of the growth in business of the Group, the Board expects
that the original annual caps under the Framework Agreement would be insufficient
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023. Therefore, on 26 May 2022,
the Company and the Connected Supplier entered into the Supplemental
Framework Agreement to revise the original annual caps to the proposed revised
annual caps and to extend the Framework Agreement for one year. The proposed
revised annual caps in respect of the Supplemental Framework Agreement for the
three financial years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 were RMBI,500
million, RMB2,000 million and RMB2,400 million respectively. The independent
shareholders of the Company approved the proposed revised annual caps for
the three financial years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 in respect of
the continuing connected transactions pursuant to the Supplemental Framework

Agreement at the extraordinary general meeting held on 22 August 2022.

The Connected Supplier, being a company indirectly controlled by the sibling of Ms.
Lam Ching Wan who is the substantial shareholder of the Company, is a connected

person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the announcements dated 14 December 2021 and 26 May 2022
and the circulars dated 14 January 2022 and 3 August 2022 of the Company for

details.
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The following table sets out the relevant annual cap and the actual transaction
amounts of continuing connected transactions of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024.

Report of the Directors
ESEHE

TREJADNANBE_T-_WNE+_A
=+ —HUIFENFERERHEBET
BLREREBRHEH -

Transactions Year ended 3| December 2024
gz-F—mF
% t=A=+-BLEE
Actual Amount
Annual Cap for the period
EELR HHEERSE
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR®TR) (AR®TRn)
Continuing Connected Transactions under The TR E R TER G RIE TS
Framework Agreement and the Supplemental HER S
Framework Agreement 2,400,000 2,274,109

Pursuant to Rule 14A55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the continuing connected transactions under the Framework Agreement
and the Supplemental Framework Agreement for the year ended 3| December 2024 and

confirmed that these continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better;

(i) in accordance with the relevant arrangements/agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the

Shareholders as a whole; and

(iv)  are subject to internal control procedures established by the Company which are

sufficient and effective.

RIE L TR RIS 14ASSERIRE « B IEH
TEECEHNBE_T_NF+A=1T—
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Report of the Directors
EZEWE

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has engaged the auditors of
the Company to carry out procedures in relation to the Framework Agreement and
the Supplemental Framework Agreement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Based on the
work performed, the auditors of the Company have provided a letter to the Board

confirming that:
(i) alltransactions have been approved by the Board of the Company;

(i) fortransactions involving the receipt of goods or services by the Group, nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the

internal and pricing policies of the Group;

(i) all transactions were entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the

relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(iv)  with respect to the aggregate amount of the continuing connected transactions set
out above in relation to the the Supplemental Framework Agreement, nothing has
come to their attention that causes the auditors of the Company to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded the revised annual

cap disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 26 May 2022.

‘C.
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On 24 January 2025, the Company and the connected supplier entered into the
digital marketing traffic sales framework agreement (the “Digital Marketing Traffic
Sales Framework Agreement”) in relation to the purchase of the traffic products by
the Company and supply of the traffic products by the connected party for a term
commencing from | January 2025 to 31 December 2027. The annual caps in respect of
the Digital Marketing Traffic Sales Framework Agreement for each of the three financial
years ending 31 December 2025, 2026 and 2027 are RMB3,000 million, RMB3,000 million
and RMB3,600 million, respectively.

In addition, on 24 January 2025, the Company and the connected party entered into the
digital marketing and digital right products and services mutual supply agreement (the
“Digital Marketing and Digital Right Products and Services Mutual Supply Agreement”)
in relation to (i) the purchase of the YS Digital Marketing and Digital Right Products
and Services by the Company and supply of the YS Digital Marketing and Digital Right
Products and Services by the connected party; and (ii) the purchase of the Company
Digital Marketing and Digital Right Products and Services by the connected party and
supply of the company digital marketing and digital right products and services by the
Company for a term commencing from | January 2025 to 31 December 2027. The
Proposed YS Digital Marketing and Digital Right Products and Services Annual Caps
in respect of the purchase of the YS Digital Marketing and Digital Right Products and
Services by the Company from the connect party under the Digital Marketing and Digital
Right Products and Services Mutual Supply Agreement for the years ending 31 December
2025, 31 December 2026 and 3| December 2027 are RMB300 million, RMB450 million
and RMB750 million, respectively. The Proposed Company Digital Marketing and Digital
Right Products and Services Annual Caps in respect of the purchase of the Company
Digital Marketing and Digital Right Products and Services by the connected party from
the Company under the Digital Marketing and Digital Right Products and Services Mutual
Supply Agreement for the years ending 31 December 2025, 31 December 2026 and 31
December 2027 are RMB50 million, RMB80 million and RMB 100 million, respectively

The connected supplier, being a company indirectly controlled by the sibling of Ms. Lam
Ching Wan who s the substantial shareholder of the Company, is a connected person of

the Company under the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors
EZEWE

The proposed annual caps for the three financial years ending 31 December 2025, 2026
and 2027 in respect of continuing connected transactions under the Digital Marketing
Traffic Sales Framework Agreement and the Digital Marketing and Digital Right Products
and Services Mutual Supply Agreement have been approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on 27 March
2025.

Pursuant to Rule [4A55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive Directors
have to review both the continuing connected transactions under the Digital Marketing
Traffic Sales Framework Agreement and the Digital Marketing and Digital Right Products
and Services Mutual Supply Agreement and confirm that these continuing connected

transactions have been entered into:
(i) inthe ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better;

(i) in accordance with the relevant arrangements/agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the

Shareholders as a whole; and

(iv)  are subject to internal control procedures established by the Company which are

sufficient and effective

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company must engage an auditor every
year to carry out procedures in relation to the Digital Marketing Traffic Sales Framework
Agreement and the Digital Marketing and Digital Right Products and Services Mutual
Supply Agreement in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor's Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants to confirm whether anything has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the continuing connected

transactions:
(i) have not been approved by the Board of the Group;

(i) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the

Group if the transactions involve the provision of goods or services by the Group;
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(i) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant

agreement governing the transactions; and

(V)  have exceeded the cap.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 24 January 2025 and the circular
of the Company dated 7 March 2025 for details.

DELAY IN ENTERING INTO WRITTEN AGREEMENT AND PUBLISHING
ANNOUNCEMENT UNDER THE REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER [4A OF
THE LISTING RULES

Given the Previous Digital Marketing Traffic Sales Framework Agreement expired on
31 December 2024, the Company has commenced the preparation of the renewal of
the continuing connected transactions in relation to the Digital Marketing Traffic Sales
Framework Agreement since the last quarter of the year 2024, including (i) the drafting of
the Digital Marketing Traffic Sales Framework Agreement; and (ii) the preparation of the
circular containing, among others, terms of the Digital Marketing Traffic Sales Framework
Agreement and further details of the Traffic Continuing Connected Transactions (including
the Proposed Traffic Annual Caps). While the Company had anticipated completing the
announcement process and obtaining Independent Shareholders’ approval before 31
December 2024, given the complexity of the proposed transactions and intervening public
holidays in December 2024, the relevant framework agreement could not be finalised
prior to the end of 2024, and the draft announcement was not published as scheduled (i.e.
prior to 31 December 2024). Due to this oversight, the aggregated transaction amounts
in relation to the Digital Marketing Traffic Sales Framework Agreement during the period
from | January 2025 to 22 January 2025 exceeded the de minimis threshold under Rule
[4A.76, and subject to the independent Shareholders’ approval requirement under
Chapter 4A of the Listing Rules. The Company acknowledges this oversight and has
taken several remedial measures in order to ensure proper compliance with the Listing

Rules in the future. For detalils, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
|4 February 2025.

The Company considers that such strengthen internal control mechanism are effective
and adequate to comply with the requirements under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules,
including but not limited to, the written agreement and announcement requirements as

requested by the Listing Rules.

Report of the Directors
ESEHE

() EREATEREREEBZ OGS
#3: R

(v) FEELER o
HBEBL2HARRBRA-E-_RF—R=
THHENAERBHAE-S-_AF=AtH

YK o

ERITVEEHARE EHRAE+TTA
ENRENBRAE

mm%ﬁgi“%mg%%ﬂ SiE ARy -
“WE+-A=t—RER  ARFBEC

gfﬂi Rk —ERERREBRETENY
FREREHEERBROFERERS

@%mﬁﬁﬁ”“%miﬁgﬁ i
(VRESE (ERaE) BTFEEnEHEE
B ER R RE R ERER %(\l%kuﬁamu
EFELR)E—FFBENBR - BEAR
BN _T-_ME+=-A=+— HWE%
ERFUREELREIE  BEHREER
SRAEMA T _NF+ - AHRAEAR
R - HAERBREERN S -_NFRA
BB MABASHERARE RN (B
ZENEFZA=1+—HZA) o ERiAE
R —E-_hF—A—HBE-_ZT_RHF—
AZTZAHHENATEEREHEERD
BN HEERB ETRAE 4AT6IERTE
MR EARKE - BABST EmRRIE+HIA
ERBERRIERTE - RARE BB
W RERARZAEST EMRA - AQA
ERRZERMIEE - FEFLHEEAQRH
HAZZ-RE-_A+HAMHLRE -

ARARR/EBRICATESESERE
s EMARRAE T AR E (BRERER
RREMRARENERHERAESRE) °

REBBEAFTHR QA 121‘
20244 3R



Report of the Directors
EZEWE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS RBAIRS

Details of significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of business THEXBARPETHNERBB IR SH
are set out in note 30 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Other than those FERNARE MBS RARM T30 o Br LRI
transactions disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transactions” above, none RGI—ETHENRZIN ZEBH RS
of them constitutes a connected transaction required for disclosure under Chapter [4A of BT EMIBE LR RIE T MAZETREN
the Listing Rules. MER S o

The related party transactions mentioned in notes 30(b) and 30(c) to the Consolidated ~ M4RA BATEIRFE FI5E30(b) K 30(c) TR BB AU
Financial Statements are not continuing connected transactions which are subject to BARGUTER LTRAETHARF 2F

A fofe A

annual reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, hence there is  EZFEHRH{ZHEHER S At - ZER

no disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for such SEANE FMRAETOAZNBRERTE
transactions.
‘C.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

Environmental Protection

As a specialized online transaction service provider, the Group's business does not involve
in production-related air, water and land pollutions which are regulated by the applicable
laws and regulations in the PRC. No hazardous waste was produced by the Group in its

course of business in year ended 3| December 2024.

The Group complies with the relevant laws and regulations in environmental protection
and impact on the environment has always been a major focus of the Group. The
conscientious use of resources and adoption of best practices across the Group's business
operation underlies its commitment to protect the environment. The Group encourages
environmental protection and promotes awareness towards environmental protection to
the employees. The Group encourages all employees to be eco-friendly and participate in
energy and resources saving, such as encouraging duplex printing and reuse of single-sided
printed papers, saving water and electricity to reduce energy consumption. The Group will
continuously make efforts to put emphasis on environmental protection and sustainable

development.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group persists in maintaining good corporate governance and operating in
compliance with the laws and integrity through abidance by relevant laws and regulations,
industry regulations and business ethics. For the whole year ended 3| December 2024,
the Company has complied with all the Listing Rules and the CG Code that have a
significant impact on listed companies. For the year ended 3| December 2024 and up to
the date of this annual report, the Group has neither been a party to any material legal,
arbitral or administrative proceedings, nor aware of any pending or threatened legal,
arbitral or administrative proceedings against the Group or any of the Directors which

could have a material adverse effect on the Group's operations or financial condition.

Report of the Directors
ESEHE

R—RXEENB LI IRBEER &
SENEBTESEIIFBEERERERE
RABENEEERBANER KM LHFH
M BE_T-_NF+-_A=+T—HItF
B AEEREEBBEPHEELENE
EREY) o

AKEETERRROZRRER - HHIR
BNZE-EURZAKERINES - &
SEEXBEETEEMNAER - LIRAK
EER - NEIEREREN G - FARE
FBRR  UBNRFAEEORRESR - K
SERBAAE TRRY2BEHEERNE
R B BERSIE RERERTIINER
ok~ BRI AKKABIURDBIRERE © &
SEBEET N RIERFENAFERE

B RERER
AEERTHBRTLEER  WRERN
Bl  BTHEEARAR  TEZER
AIREEERARA - BE_S-_MF+=A
S+-HIEREEE  AAREETHEY
tHARMEREAREN EWHRAMEE
ERTH - BE_E-_ME+-_A=1+—8
HFEREEAFHRAH  ASEUESK
ERERERE - PHIITHFR - BAEE
T ARBEE RS E AR B LA ES L A 82
HAEBENEESINBRAEEERNTHE
ZHEATHIERRBER  PET
BREREA ©

'.‘
REBBEAFTHR QA 123 ]
2024 4R .’.



Report of the Directors
EZEWE

Workplace Quality

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate on the basis
of personal characteristics. The Group has employee handbooks outlining terms and
conditions of employment, expectations for employees' conduct and behavior, employees'
rights and benefits. The Group also establishes and implements policies that promote a

harmonious and respectful workplace.

The Group believes that employees are the valuable assets of an enterprise and regards
human resources as its corporate wealth. The Group provides on-the-job training and
development opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression. Through
different training, staff's professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational and
management skills are enhanced. The Group has also organized a wide range of activities
for employees, such as outings, professional skills sharing classes and New Year celebration

to promote staff relationship and physical fitness.

Health and Safety

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and congenial work environment.
Adequate arrangements, training and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working
environment is healthy and safe. The Group prioritizes the health and well-being of staff.
In order to provide employees with adequate medical coverage, staff are entitled to free

medical check-ups, in addition to medical insurance required by laws.

Training and Development

The Group is committed to the professional and personal development and growth of all
employees and considers training and development a continual process. Training courses
are provided to help employees develop and maintain consistency, proficiency and
professionalism. Structured training programs including courses, seminars and workshops
are offered to staff at all levels with the objective of grooming and unleashing their full
potential, organizational development and facilitating team synergies. Employees are
encouraged to take advantage of these programs to equip themselves with the skills and

knowledge for expanded career opportunities within the Group.
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Commitment to Quality

The Group has made relentless efforts in delivering premium customer experience
with superior mobile top-up services. The staff have an acute judgment on market and
customers’ needs. Therefore, customer requests are promptly satisfied and steered
through establishing various channels to foster two-way communication. With a proactive
approach on continuous improvement in customer experience, the Board believes that

the Group can acquire competitive advantages in its business operation.

Management of Supply Chain

The Group adheres to open, fair and transparent criteria in selecting suppliers, and has
established a supplier evaluation system in terms of price, quality, cost, delivery and
after-sales service. The Group will carry out long-term quality monitoring and conduct
regular reviews on all suppliers as well as causal examination on different suppliers to

ensure quality supplies and services.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance and
has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix CI to the Listing Rules. Principal
corporate govermance practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate

Governance Report on pages 25 to 49 contained in this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE PROVISIONS

The Articles provides that every director shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/her as a
director of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which

judgment is given in his favour, or in which he or she is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs associated with

defending any proceeding which may be brought against the Directors.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES
During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision regarding pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the laws of the
Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis

to existing Shareholders.

BANK AND OTHER LOANS
All the bank and other loans of the Group are repayable on demand or within one year.
Details of the bank and other loans of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are set out in

note 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

DONATION
The Group had made a donation of RMB5,000 during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB5,000).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save for the Scheme of the Company as set out in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 3|

December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the

year ended 31 December 2024.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
As at the date of this annual report, apart from the changes of the roles of the Directors
as stated below, there has been no other change to the information of the Directors and

chief executives which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules.

() Mr. Huang has resigned as the Chairman and ceased to serve as the chairman of
the Nomination Committee with effect from 26 January 2024, but he will remain as

a member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee;

(i) Mr. Huang has been appointed as the honorary chairman with effect from 26
January 2024

(ify  Dr. Zhou has been appointed as the Chairman with effect from 26 January 2024;

and

(v)  Dr. Li has been appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee with

effect from 26 January 2024.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Shares. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in

relation to the shares of the Company, they are advised to consult an expert.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed the auditing, internal control and financial reporting matter,
including the review of the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the year
ended 3| December 2024. The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 have been audited by the Company's external auditors, Moore CPA
Limited.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group in the past five financial

years is set out on page 240 of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
There were no significant events that may affect the business operation and/or the

financial position of the Group subsequent to 31 December 2024.
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Report of the Directors
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company's Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 7 January
2016 and the Company raised net proceeds (after the exercise of the over-allotment
option and after deducting the underwriting fees, commissions and other expenses
payable by the Company in connection with the global offering of the Company) of
approximately HK$52.0 million. The utilisation of the net proceeds was in accordance
with the proposed allocation as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of

Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

The table below sets out the detailed items of the use of proceeds from the initial public

offering as at 3| December 2024:

RRBREMSREAR
ARBBROR-F—A"F— AL REBRA
FRET - MARBEERRFE (BRALK
BRETEELRMGEARRRZREERNDN
BHEM  AEREMHAXK) 0520888
T MIEREFRNSANRERRERA
[RIREHEI NS RERE | —EFEREE
DECMETT

TREJIXR-_ZF-_MFE+-_A=1t—RBAR
BRARBEMSRAME 2 FARR

Net proceeds from Net proceeds Amount utilised Balance
the initial public  after the exercise of Balance during the unutilised as at
offering as stated ~ the over-allotment unutilised as at year ended 31 December
in the Prospectus option | January 2024 31 December 2024 204

BRERT BEERE  W-RCRE HECRCRE O ROICRE
ERDRRE  BORKAS -B-B  t=A=t-B t=A=t-H
FemaRE TEFE ADARE LFECBHALE REREE
Approximately Approximately Approximately Approximately Approximately
in HK$ million in HK$ million in HK$ million in HK$ million in HK$ million

HEBER HEEER HEEER HEBER HEBER

Intensify the intemet marketing campaigns and BREBMEERBEREIR

online advertisements BLRE 157 104 = - -
Upgrade the hardware and network infrastructure R RS BB R BRI TR 157 104 = - =
Software and research and development activties ~ ARBARFETE 8 78 = = =
Source mobile top-up credits BB REERESE 57 104 - - -
Potential acquistions of busiesses and assets that ~~ BRNEFTEASENERRTEH

are complementary to the Group's business and REBNFERAE (MERRER

operations, such s online services and other EiERBEERH) A REER

intemet related businesses, or forming strategic BHBURERENERREEY

allance with value chain partrers B 18 78 78 54 24
General working capital and other general -REEE e RAML-ROZRE

corporate purposes 80 52 = = =
Total g 787 520 78 54 24
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As at 31 December 2024, the unutilised amount of the net proceeds was approximately
HK$2.4 million in which the intended use was related to the potential acquisitions of
businesses and assets that are complementary to the Group's business and operations,
or forming strategic alliance with value chain partners. The Group expected to fully utilize

such proceeds in 2025.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
annual report, the Company has maintained the public float as required by the Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report.

AUDITOR

There has been a change of independent auditor of the Company in 2023. The former
independent auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, whose term of office expired at the
conclusion of the annual general meeting held on 14 June 2023, has retired as the auditor
of the Company. The Company has appointed Moore CPA Limited as the auditor of the
Company for the financial years ended 3| December 2023 and 31 December 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in the Company’s auditors during

the past three years (including the Reporting Period).

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 3| December 2024 have
been audited by Moore CPA Limited which will retire, and, being eligible, offer themselves

for re-appointment at the AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board
Zhou Jinhuang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RVRE T

Moore CPA Limited

el MOORE

Harbour City, 19 Canton Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

T +852 2375 3180
F +852 2375 3828

www.moore.hk
Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yinsheng Digifavor Company
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages |37 to 239, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 3|1 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs")
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“‘the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit

evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement, was of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements as at and for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter

BRETSER

Independent Auditor’s Report
W
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HR-ZF-_WMEF+ A=+ —HRBEX
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RRHEROER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FIETEERRETSIENGA

Revenue recognition of mobile charges and mobile data usage top-up service (Refer to Notes 4 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements)

FHREERTFERREATRBEUZER (FLH5 R EHREN 24 K6)

The Group's revenue is primarily generated from the provision of mobile  Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition of mobile

charges and mobile data usage top-up services. Once a top-up request charges and mobile data usage top-up service included:
from a mobile subscriber was placed, the request would be automatically 178 BFHEE R FHTERTRBUEERNETELE

transferred from the channel of customer to the 007ka Top-up Platform
(the "System"). All the top-up transactions were generated and recorded
in the System automatically.

AEENPSEERRERETRAERTFRRERTRE - T#
AP—BTERRBR  FRENEPREBDEHE007amE
REFE (RKE)) - EBERRRXZRERNEBER KA

The accuracy of revenue recorded in the consolidated financial
statements is an inherent risk because the System is relatively complex
which process large volumes of data with transactions.
ARESAEERN  FEREAERZHE - WNRSMBERER
ARREV 2 7 R (B A RO LR

Assessing, with the assistance of the internal [T specialists,
the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
management's key internal control over: (a) the general IT
controls over for the billing systems, including access to program
controls, program change controls, program development
controls and computer operation controls; (b) the validity and
accuracy of request and its authentication process on security
validation check; and (c) the completeness and accuracy of bill
generation and the end-to-end reconciliation controls from the
operating systems to the accounting systems.
EABEERMERNHY T @ FHEEEEBHATEEN
TEREF MR - BRIEFERSEN  @BRER
RO —MR(EDRIES - BREHRERFES - RF2EE
Bl - PR RIS R ERIRIEES R (b)ERAB L
REREREHZ 2RERENAZBIE  ROBRELK
M SR MR REME DA R R IE R R B G 5T R R R B i
FRAZ )

The internal IT specialists also performed relevant steps to
evaluate the calculation logic of trade receivables and advances
from the customers in the operating and accounting systems
before reperforming the calculation of trade receivables and
advances from customers by using of Computer Assisted Audit
Technique (CAAT);
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued) BREITBEE)
Key audit matter (Continued) How our audit addressed the key audit matter (Continued)
HREtEE(E) ATETEEBERESZTANGN ()

Revenue recognition of mobile charges and mobile data usage top-up service (Refer to Notes 4 and 6 to the consolidated financial statements) (Continued)

FHRIZERTFEREATRBEUZER (BLHF R EHREN T4 K6) (&)

Revenue recognition is identified as a key audit matter because revenue —
is significant to the consolidated financial statements and involves
complex IT systems which give rise to an inherent risk that the revenue
transactions may be incorrectly recorded using manual journals outside —
the operating systems or recorded in the incorrect period.
WHRERBNABRESFE  THNUEHEENBRRME
BEX BPRERNEERMEASR - AJEERRIERGUIN -
FHARERARBELFLIN A ERNMEAR - #MELE
BER
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Assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies
adopted in revenue recognition by inspecting the key terms and
conditions in selected contracts;

BB EETE A R T ZRFAGEMS - FFE R EEHE
RFFERANETERREEES

Selecting service package, on a sampling basis, comparing the
price of the services explicit in the selected contracts and the
package prices used to calculate the revenue in the accounting
system and performing the re-calculation of revenue;

P sV ERGEE - BT A RABERSE
EBRESTARTARTERENEEERETYE
B W EHTH B

Reconciling selected revenue records in the Group's accounting
system to external cash collection records;

# BEREEFHRSTEENRSLZEIITRE
WK FC BT THIBR

Confirming with the major channels of customers of the Group
for the transaction amounts of the top-up transactions; and

H EEEIZFFPRERAFEARRINKS
TR R

Inspecting significant manual adjustments, if any, to revenue
during the reporting period, enquiring of management the
reasons for such adjustments and comparing the details of the
adjustments to relevant underlying documentation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include

the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alttemative but to do so.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the those charged with governance in

discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of intemal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors of the

Company.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going concem basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events

or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner

that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or business units within the
group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit

opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RVRE T

AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine the
matter that was of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and is therefore the key audit matter. We describe the matter
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Mo Wing Sze Regina
Practising Certificate Number: P06709

Hong Kong, 27 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GREEREMEEKRER

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

2024 2023
—BomE it Sk
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
FiteE AR®TR ARETT
Revenue Wa 6 128,627 91,030
Less: Tax surcharge AR i 1 (3,065) (730)
Cost of revenue W AR (23,461) (16,475)
Gross profit EH 102,101 73,825
Other income, net HA A %58 8 7,060 7219
Distribution and selling expenses DIHRIHERX (16,531) (9,976)
Administrative expenses THFRxX (38,49¢) (36,171)
Research and development expenses MRS (12,529) (7914
Finance costs BARERCAR 9 (3,215) (2,204)
Profit before income tax BR T S Bt AR 10 38,390 24779
Income tax expense PSR I (9,049) (8,426)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year ~ FREF R 2 EREHEE 29,341 16,353
Profit and total comprehensive income/(expense) IR AL R FRERR
for the year attributable to: ZHEKE (BIX) 858
Owners of the Company ARAEEA 31,943 16,353
Non-controlling interests IS g i (2,602) -
29,341 16353
Earnings per share SRER
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) - EAREE (ARED) 14 7.70 394
'.‘
REHBHFERAA
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BRI R

At 3/ December 2024
RoFZp#EF=Zf=1—H

2024 2023
—ECNE “Eo=F
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000

P aE ARBTR ARBTT

Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment L ER g 15 3,483 3,654
Right-of-use assets ERREEE 16 1,012 1,696
Rental deposits MEES 19 55 55
Trade receivables B 5 WA 18 - 2933
Deferred tax assets ERERIAEE 25 410 80
5,060 8518
Current assets REEE
Inventories HE 17 15,731 12,566
Trade receivables E A RWTIE 8 284,437 179,453
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TNFIE - Re REMEKRIE 19 195,360 122,214
Tax recoverable EEAET 2,764 =
Restricted bank deposits B HRITER 20 6,631 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 20 50,841 89,782
555,764 404,015
Current liabilities REAR
Trade payables B HENTIA 21 42,407 25,173
Other payables and accruals oA e~ RIE R et B A 22 77,180 62,826
Tax labilities HAAR 6l 3712
Lease liabilities HEaE 23 505 723
Borrowings faa 24 122,000 30,000
242,153 122434
Net current assets RBEEFE 313,611 281,58
Total assets less current liabilities REERRDAE 318,671 290,099
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEPBRRR

At 3/ December 2024
R-B-mFE+=A=1—H

2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

P&t ARBTR AR®ETTT

Non-current liabilities FRBER
Lease liabilities HERR 23 619 1,124
Deferred tax liabilities EEHBAE 25 9,409 9,673
10,028 10,797
Net assets EERE 308,643 279,302
Capital and reserves EX KR
Share capital [LZN 26 27,221 27221
Reserves &t 284,024 252,081
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company A BB A FE(L R 311,245 279,302
Non-controlling interests TR (2,602) -
Total equity mrER 308,643 279,302

The consolidated financial statements on pages 137 to 239 were approved and authorised 58 |37 BEEE 239 BEMGREMBHRRCHES
for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: ER-F-_AF=-A-t+LRMERFET
B WHMIALRARE

Zhou Jinhuang Huang Junmou

BeE ERR

Executive Director and Chairman Executive Director and Honorary Chairman
HITEERLSE PITEFREETE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

MERRBBR

for the year ended 3/ December 2024

HE-E-E+ = A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AATRRARE
Non-
Share Share Capital Statutory Retained controlling
capial  premium* reserve*  reserves* earnings* Sub-total interests Total
ks ROEE  ERRE AERE RERW Nt FERER it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR  ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTn ARMTR ARET:R
(Note i) (Note i)
(W) (W)
At | January 2023 R-E-=F-F-A 721 38037 46510 10340 140841 262949 - 262,949
Comprehensive income 2EhE
Proftt and total comprehensive EmENREENGEE
income for the year - - - - 16,353 16,353 - 16,353
Transactions with owners HAATHEANRS
of the Company
Appropriation of statutory reserves e BB = = = 1227 (1L227) = = =
At 31 December 2023 and N-EZ=E+-A=1-H 72l 38037 4510 11567 15597 2930 - N
| fanuary 2024 R-F-mE-A-H
Comprehensive income 2EkE
Profit and total comprehensive EREHIREEYE/ (R) - - - - 3194 31943 (2600) 29341
income/(expense) for the year %
At 31 December 2024 RZB-BE+ZA=t-A 0l 38,037 46510 1,567 187,910 311245 (2,602) 308,643
& These reserves accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately ZERBEREBRGEVBRARANEGS

RMB284,024,000 (2023: RMB252,081,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERESBR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

Notes: B EE -
0) Capital reserve mainly represents: 0) ERRHBEEEE:

(@)  differences between the consideration received on disposal of the entire equity @ M—EERARRERNEDREDS
interests in certain subsidiaries of the Company, to a related company and the then ERNTIETHB AR I IRHERT
registered shareholders, and the carrying amounts of the net assets of the relevant WERNREERENB AR FEAER
subsidiaries; and EECHNESE &

(b) difference between the nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company (b) BARANRBROESEBATSMER
and the registered capital of a subsidiary acquired by the Company upon a corporate NEETMETARERABRAANRD
reorganisation for the purpose of listing of the shares of the Company on The Stock BOTRAEESRAABFFEAN—R
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. WEB AR FME R M ELE -

(i) As stipulated by the relevant laws in the Peoples Republic of China (the “PRC"), the PRC () HPEARLME ([HEA]) BEEETH

subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory reserve fund. The minimum transfer to PR B AR BEEE—BETRES - B
statutory reserves is 10% of profit after tax of the PRC subsidiaries according to the PRC EETRENSESEABERRMB AR
subsidiaries statutory financial statements. No appropriation is required if the balance of the K EEMBEREASENTRWNBARNBRE
statutory reserves has reached 50% of the registered capital of the PRC subsidiaries. The 1BSE T 10% o M35 TE A ET BN B
statutory reserves can be used to make up losses or for conversion into capital. NEFEMEARES0% » BIHBEHBE o %

ERBAIANBRERABRAER -

'.‘
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nv_\éiﬁrﬁ)\ﬁiii

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

2024 2023
—E-mE “Eo=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
FiteE AR®TR ARETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEg
Profit before income tax RS BLAD &R 38,390 24,779
Adjustments for: A
Finance costs MBEAA 9 3215 2204
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEENE 10 684 849
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BERRBITE 10 1,488 1,522
Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEME - BFEKEHEKE 8 (356) (177)
Interest income FEBA 8 (216) (820)
Net foreign exchange loss SNE B HER 8 128 65
Written down of inventories FEMOR 8 185 -
Recognition of impairment loss in respect MR E 5 W IR
of trade receivables REEE 28(b) 1,321 66
Operating cash flows before movements in LEECEPIIRERENE
working capital 44,839 28,488
Increase in inventories FEHE (3,350) (3,136)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables B HRWEIE (Em),/md (103,372) 60,978
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits ANKIE - Re REMER
and other receivables B (), R (72,646) 29311
Increase in restricted bank deposits SR HISRITIE SR AN (4,631) -
Increase in trade payables B HENRIELM 17,234 5402
Increase in other payables and accruals H TS IRE I R e B A 14,268 2,649
Cash (used in)/generated from operations mEES (FR),/ FisHe (107,658) 123,692
Income tax paid BERFEH (16,058) (6,544)
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/GENERATED FROM #&Z&% 8 (), Fiih&3HE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (123,716) 117,148
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

2024 2023
—E-mE “E-=F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
P&t AR®TR ARETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Withdrawal of structured deposits WIHAEE TR - 145,145
Placement of structured deposits FRAEBIER - (145,145)
Placement of restricted bank deposits FHXRHISRTER 20 (2,000 =
Interest received PRI 216 820
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE - BERREREHIE 487 18]
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEN&RE (1,448) (1,457)
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN REEHMARSREFE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2,745) (456)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
New borrowings raised FIL e 32 186,000 230,000
Repayments of borrowings EEER 32 (134,000) (260,000)
Interest paid ERHME (3,629) (2204)
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities EEHERELREH 32 (723) (858)
NET CASH FLOWS GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) @&;E8F18 /(Ff)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ReREFHE 47,648 (33,062)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents RekReEB/Y(RL)/
IR (78.813) 83,630
Cash and cash equivalents at | January R—A—BOReEREEEY 89,782 6217
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNERE R E BT 2 (128) (65)
Cash and cash equivalents at 3| December RTZ—A=+—BmHEe Kk
ReEEN 10,841 89,782
Represented by: 15
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 20 50,841 89,782
Bank overdrafts (included in borrowings) RITEX GTAER) 24 (40,000) —
10,841 89,782
'.‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

I.  GENERAL INFORMATION L —RER
Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited (the “Company") is an exempted company REHEHFTERAR(EAH]) AR
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands and its shares (the “Share(s)") are listed SHENERCBRAR - HRH (TH
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock B NEBBETSHER AR ([ 5
Exchange"). The Company's registered office is located at PO Box 309, Ugland R ERET - KAFEMMRER
House, Grand Cayman, KYI-1104, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal fZFAPO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
place of business is |3/F, Building C2, Nanshan iPark, No. 1001 Xueyuan Boulevard, Cayman, KYI-1104, Cayman Islands ° &
Nanshan District, Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). ZEEMAII AP EARLFE ([

B ) FYImEILEEs KB 1001 3R
ERECURI3E -

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the ARRRRERRAT - AEEHNEE
Group includes the provision of mobile charges/mobile data usage top-up services XBBERPEMFEASREFKE
to mobile subscribers and the provision of digital marketing services business in the B/ FREERTREMEHRETE
PRC. SRR RS ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's consolidated financial

statements for the accounting period beginning on | January 2024:

Amendments to HKFRS |6
BAMBREERE 655 (BFIA)
Amendments to HKAS |

ERERMBEERE

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

AT REET B BN B REER
([ERMBREER]) WER
AEERFERNBETIEBHERE
%8|

RAFE  AEAEEGRRES VKR
* AEEERERE T REESE
Mre ((EBEHMAg]) BH ol
BT BANMBREER - BRI IR
—E-NF—-A—HERKZBHEE
HAR SR A

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
BB ERE 5% (BT X) REEIBARDHIERD REBRREST (CT_2F) WEBE]

Amendments to HKAS |

BBGHERE 5 (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

BRI EFETRRBBMBRELRETH
CHEN

HEmRE 2 b

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in the consolidated financial

statements.

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
M RENIEREAE

Supplier Finance Arrangements

RAFERAKE BB RELE
HAKERAEE LB EFENHHIR
RERBR / RZFE B RKAE
RELEEKBEATE -

'.‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

‘C.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs

that have been issued but are not yet effective:

A REET BBV HREER
(TEBUBRELER ) WER (&)
B FA B e R E RV HT R RS R BB
MEHEER
ALEEYEZFREA TR BMERR
EROFIT BB RV B REE
al:

Effective for

annual periods
beginning on

or after

RELT BHis 2 &
B EHREEN

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Associate or Joint Venture

BEMBMEENE 0 LEBGHER
285 (BRI AK)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

REZFEEMENASALELEZANEENEIIR

To be determined

Amendments to HKAS 21
BEGHEREL 5 (BRTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BAMBHEENEIHRRBLMBERE
ERF75% (BFTAK)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

BAMBREENEIHRRBLMBERE
ERF 7% (BFTAK)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

BN BRELENGHER (BTA)
HKFRS 18
BRERBREENF 1857

Lack of Exchangeability
R AR
Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of

Financial Instruments
ST A BEGENER]

Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity

FREKBEREREEENNEH

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume | |

BENBRELNGHENFERE - 115

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

IR 2T R R

&FE

| January 2025
—F-h%—A—H
| January 2026
—E-%—-A—H
| January 2026
—E-%—-A—H
| January 2026
—T-"%-A-H
| January 2027
—F-+5-A—H

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the related impact to the
Group of the above new and amendments to HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group upon initial application. Except for the new HKFRSs mentioned below,
according to the preliminary assessment made, the directors of the Company do
not anticipate any significant impact on the Group's financial position and results of

operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

This standard introduces the following three sets of new requirements to improve

entities’ reporting of financial performance and give investors a better basis for

analysing and comparing entities:

. Presentation of new defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;

J Disclosures about management-defined performance measures; and

J Enhanced requirements for grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) of
information.

HKFRS 18 supersedes HKAS | “Presentation of Financial Statements”.
Requirements in HKAS | that are unchanged have been transferred to HKFRS
I8 and other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after | January 2027 with earlier application permitted. The Group is still currently
assessing the impact that HKFRS 18 will have on the presentation of and disclosures

in the Group's consolidated financial statements.

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

HE KRBT B RN RE R
((ERMBREER]) NER (&)
EEMENRERNITREBTEE
MBREER ()
BERMKHERRE SFHBRRMNE
ISR

BEERISIAR T =AFREASSEE
WIERERS - URREEIT R
RERBRMUT AR :

« RNERERPEIFERM/NG
©  BEEEEEEMNERES R

o MBRERSE(ERRAF) R

e

ERMISRERERNE ISHBR BB
EREAE IR HBRENZY] - &
B BREERE I HPREEBHR
EEBYEEAMBREERE 85K
HthBAMBREEN - BEMBRE
BB SRR T _tF—A—Hz2Z
BREMFERRAR - WAFRAE
A o AEB A AMDETHE BB BRSE
RRIE ISR EHAREBGR A MBREMN
SYEBEBELNTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEMBRRNEREE
STATEMENTS
The mobile top-up service provided by the Group is prohibited and restricted from REBERFBEERELER - AEBERRE
foreign investment in the PRC pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and regulations. HOFRFABRTRGEPELE I RR
A series of contracts (the “Structured Contracts”) were arrived between Daily HISNEIRE - ARARIRINEBERER
Charge Technology (Shenzhen) Limited (“Daily Charge SZ"), a wholly foreign- RAERHE ORID BRR A (T RX TR
owned enterprise of the Company, and Shenzhen Niannianka Network Technology I )) BRI T EFRBERBARAR
Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen NNK") and its registered shareholders to maintain and (TRYFFEF]) REBRRRFTL—
exercise the control over the operation of Shenzhen NNK; and to obtain all of its ZIEH ([HBEERN]) - BRI
entire economic benefits (the “VIE Arrangement”). The Structured Contracts are EEORINF F RS L ETFHIE G - I
irrevocable and enable the Group to: BEH2HEENR ([TEFNRERE
B) o ERUANTRAIREE - AR
£8:
. exercise effective financial and operational control over Shenzhen NNK; Q IEERINFERNERT B R
PRI

. exercise equity holders' voting rights of Shenzhen NNK; . TERYNFERRERBANER
BN
*  receive substantially all economic returns generated by Shenzhen NNK in . EERNEFREENRBRRIHS
consideration for the business support, technical and consulting services RBER - EREAREERE
provided by the Group; EBXE - B RAEARE R
B
+  obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase the entire equity - EEEERBRRBEERIFER
interest in Shenzhen NINK from the registered shareholders; and 2 HRERN TR REEBERER
&
. obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Shenzhen NNK from the 0 EREERRERNFFR2E
registered shareholders as collateral security for all of Shenzhen NNK due IREEVIEH - (ERRINFERE
to the Group and to secure performance of the registered shareholders NAREEMREFENERR - I
obligations under the Structured Contracts. BREBLBRRGBITRERBILS
KR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

The Company does not have any equity interest in Shenzhen NNK. However, as a
result of the Structured Contracts, the Company has power over Shenzhen NNK
has rights to variable returns from its involvement with Shenzhen NNK and has the
ability to affect those retumns through its power over Shenzhen NNK and therefore
is considered to have control over Shenzhen NNK. Consequently, the Company
regards Shenzhen NNK as an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary and consolidated
the financial position and results of Shenzhen NNK in the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
HKFRSs, which includes all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (*Listing Rules”)
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is
also the functional currency of the Company and each of the subsidiaries. All values

are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in compliance with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain significant accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated

financial statements, are disclosed in Note 5.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration

given in exchange for goods and services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payments, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16"), and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2

Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised
into Level |, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

S Level | inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical

assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

J Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level |,

that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

J Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities (including structured entities) controlled by the Company

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

S has power over the investee;

e is exposed, or has rights, to variable retumns from its involvement with the

investee; and

S has the ability to use its power to affect its retums.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the
subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group

ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the

owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries

to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 4. EBXREHBEEHR(E)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable
directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests which would
result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-

controlling interests and the owners of the Company.

Revenue from contracts with customers
Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods,
the provision of services or the use by others of the Group's assets under leases in

the ordinary course of the Group's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the
customer at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of

any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and
interest income is accrued separately under the effective interest method. Where
the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method.
The Group takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS
I5 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing

component if the period of financing is |2 months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the
Group determines whether the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or
to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the other party (ie. the

Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service before that

good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for the provision
of the specified good or service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided by another party before that
good or service is transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as an agent,
it recognises revenue in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services to be

provided by the other party.

4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Mobile charges/mobile data usage top up service

For the mobile charges/mobile data usage top-up services, the performance
obligation of the Group is to arrange the mobile charges/mobile data usage top-up

services of the PRC telecommunication companies to the mobile subscribers.

The provision of mobile charges/mobile data usage top-up services is mainly
premised on the operation of the self-developed 007ka Top-up Platform, through
which the Group processes mobile charges/mobile data usage top requests from
mobile users. Mobile users can make requests for mobile charges/mobile data usage
top services through various channels. The Group also offer mobile charges/mobile
data usage top-services through other channels, primarily including third-party

online platforms, the self-operated websites and the Wechat public account.

The Group is acting as an agent in the transaction as the Group does not control
the top-up credits provided by the PRC telecommunication companies before
passing to the mobile subscribers. When the Group satisfies the performance
obligation, which is when the PRC telecommunication companies completed the
mobile charges/mobile data usage top-up service for the mobile subscribers, the
Group recognises revenue in the amount it expects to be entitled as specified
in the contracts, net of costs of mobile charges/mobile data usage top-up credits

sourced from the PRC telecommunication companies and other vendors.

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 4. EBXREHBEEHR(E)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Digital marketing services

For digital marketing services, the performance obligations of the Group varies
according to the terms of the service agreement. The method the Group recognise
revenue from the digital advertising services is also affected by the Group's role

under the particular transaction.

Service income for live streaming

The performance obligation of the Group is to provide one-stop live streaming
e-commerce services through integration of downstream marketing channels or
on-line platforms such as such as Tiktok, for the advertiser customers to market
their products and services. The Group is responsible for the provision of all-in-
one marketing services from planning and producing live streaming, to help the
advertiser customers acquire, convert and retain final consumers on the on-line

platforms.

The Group is acting as a principal in the transaction as the Group controls the
all-in-one marketing services before passing to the advertiser customers. The
Group recognises revenue when the Group satisfies the performance obligation,
which is the relevant marketing services are provided simultaneously and the
advertiser customers consume the benefits provided by the Group's performance
as the Group performs. The Group recognises revenue on a gross basis by applying
the output method in measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation over the total estimated broadcast period, the cost of

advertising traffic and other costs were included in the cost of services.

4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 4. EBEXREHBEKEHE)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Service income for marketing campaign service

In some cases, the Group creates advertising video which may also involve the
artificial intelligence (“Al")-empowered model. The Group recognises revenue on a

gross basis when the video passed to and accepted by the advertiser customers.

Commission income for marketing campaign service

In some situation, the performance obligation of the Group is to sourcing and
arranging the virtual products and related value-added services (such as digital
vouchers or coupons, etc) to certain online payers that designated by the enterprise
customers. In some cases, the Group provides customers support services such as
assisting the customers in providing marketing campaigns services and follow-up in
relation to technical issues encountered, etc. The enterprise customers make the
final decision in respect of which on-line payment platforms would be engaged, the

target online payers and how the marketing campaigns to be organised.

The Group is acting as an agent in the transaction as the Group does not control
virtual products provided by the on-line platforms before passing to the online
payers. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, which is when the
relevant virtual products have been passed to online payers. The Group reports
the net amounts between the payment from the enterprise customers and

procurement costs incurred as the commission income.

Top-up services other than mobile charges/mobile date usage top-up services
carried out through the on-line platforms included in the digital marketing services,
the revenue is recorded on net basis as it has no control over and no right to direct

the use of the top-up credits before transferred to the end customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Telecommunication equipment business

The performance obligation of the Group s to satisfy the needs of end customers
of telecommunication operators in the PRC on provision of telecommunication
equipment with specified setting requested by the end customers. In this case,
the Group is acting as an agent in the transaction as the Group does not control
the equipment and does not expose to inventory risk. When the Group satisfies
the performance obligation, which is when the equipment has been delivered
to the end customers, the Group recognises revenue in the amount specified
in the contracts, net of the costs of telecommunication equipment, as well as
the installation costs incurred for the end customers of the telecommunication

operators.

Dealership Business

The performance obligation of the Group is to arrange for the provision of
household appliances to the customer by placing orders to the designated suppliers.
In this case, the Group is acting as an agent in the transaction as the Group does
not control the specified goods provided by the suppliers before the good is
transferred to the customer and the Group did not ordinarily expose to inventory
risk. When the Group satisfies the performance obligation, which is when the
household appliances manufactured by the suppliers have been transferred to the
customer, the Group recognises revenue in the amount specified in the contracts,

net of the costs of the products from suppliers.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently

changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of various
staff quarters that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases

are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

4.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any

lease incentives received;

S any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

s an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and
removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and

conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term. The lease term of the estimated useful lives

of the assets are from 2 to 5 years.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered

as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 4. EXRETBEER(E)

Leases (Continued) HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEEEREHAA (E)

Lease liabilities HEERE

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the REERMKBE - AEEZZBRTH

lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. MENRRERRARGEHERE - 1

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental SEAENTRER - HEERE ST

borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the RHBUET  IAKERAHEERKA

lease is not readily determinable. HiEIE BIE R KRGS o

The lease payments include: MENKELRE

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease 0 ElE 50 (BHEEBEE M) R
incentives receivable; EAI NI E 22

S variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured c BURFNE BUs 7| R 1 o] 2 40 B
using the index or rate as at the commencement date; R et ERE ARG BB

SEBHFIE

*  amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value - RMABEERTEHAASEHSX
guarantees; IDEEREH

J the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to 0 WAEBESERETREBEEEE
exercise the option; and B LEEENTRE K

S payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the 0 XA IERE M ST (13 & 16
Group exercising an option to terminate the lease. BRREASETERILAERE

1)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion RF B EE - HEBEREAFIE R

and lease payments. MENTIELRE -

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated AEBERGEMBRARAEHERRE

statement of financial position. 2 REFER °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 4. EAREHBERER(E)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) FEEEREHAA (E)
Lease modifications HERIEH
The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if: WHRATER - AEEHEENER

ER—REBNHEETARK :

+  the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use . HEBSRBENER-EXE

one or more underlying assets; and EHRBEENENBERTHES
PR

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate Q FIEHENRE - B R
with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate ERBEBEAHENEFES -
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the MERRBESNNERERE
particular contract. BEERETHNEMNESPE -

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group RAER—EEBHEARNHAEENR

remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on the mE @ AEBEREBSHBERERA

lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a HIR B AT RE IR B IRCB R T E K

revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification. MEERHENERENRTENEEE

(R EMEKEEES)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making AEERBHEMEAEEEETHE
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified HE  DHEEEEETENNE - B
contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non- RELEHNBEREKND AR —E%%
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract EFEIMBRISGERER DK - RNEEIR
to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease BRERKD MBEE B RIEHER
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components. DEREER  BREREHFHR

BAEEEEEERS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in
currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies

are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or

sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they are incurred.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received,

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss

in the period in which they become receivable.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research and development activities which is not eligible for

capitalisation is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 4. EBXREHBEEHR(E)

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefits scheme which is classified as
defined contribution plans and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to

the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All
short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS

requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as salaries and

bonus) after deducting any amount already paid.

Employee long service payment
The provision for long service payment (“LSP") is provided based on the
employees’ basic salaries and their respective length of service in accordance with

the applicable rules and regulations in their respective countries of employment.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit/loss before tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

EEER

B REREA

MBI RERNRANENTE (KD BA
REHKEE) RBREstEFH A
FONE B RELRT M A F B ASHIE
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HHIESEF
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M B E E R B RSB RBER
MABEKA - AlfER ©

EHNRERXNMEMSEEL - HER
JEFEIARA (Bl anEr € RIEAL) HER

&

EARMEHS
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2 BREATERESEEORHE
Bitie -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit or loss nor the accounting
profit and at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and

deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they

are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient

taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the

reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions in which the
Group recognises the right-of-use assets, and the related lease liabilities, the Group
first determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use

assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease
liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to
lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred

tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to

income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they
relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes. Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property

assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted

for on a prospective basis.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the

useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvement

HEMFEEE ARAEMESF ABREERE)
Motor vehicles 5 years

atd 5%

Computer and office equipment 3to 5 years

BRICE WEN- ¢ 3ES5F

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the
asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds

and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order

to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

4.

Shorter of respective lease terms or 5 years

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

EREFHBREN (E)

M BERRE (£)
FETIAMHE ERRAR LG AL
RERORISREER  AERERER -
fhEtAIE RS - FRBERTEND A
REHREMRERN - MEMMGEEBH
TERBRBAK -

ME - BB MRERR IR AT AE A
FHARBEREEETNE

W% - BERRERANHEXERN
SREBERZEEMEERREERN
R AR PR - AR ERBEDE K
R EIR B ELN EMREZER
KIREEHREMSTARRAENER
BT - WNRamP R -

ME - BERRBUAREREEERNE
REBRFEHRRBIME - BE KRR
BAREREEENREE - AEEZ
FEERDHRRBEBENTR - Wi
REMAMTS QeI EREEN
AEEBEAEERERSRE (11F) 8
12E -

WE - BE R AR R EEEER
fAaT ARS8 o A (G aHER AW
mERH  AAKERFEENBRSE
HBMMRIREEE -

'.‘
REHBHFERAA 165 A
2024 4R .’.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 4. EBXREHBEEHR(E)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant cash generating units when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group

of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating

unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or portion of
corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of cash-generating units,
with the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised immediately

in profit or loss.

NE BERRBURERAEEE
WE (%)
RAFAREELBMNRER £
FE—BoEEEARLAFERT - A7
BEMORENERSELEN 3k
REN BN EALEEYMEMER
™ AnEERRELEMAR -
AEEEFE AR EEMBREEL BN
FREELEMARNNATREEHE I
EREReELBUSIReELEUA
Rl RRE{EAELLE

o

AT A & B8 TS I FARDR RS B 1
BEREFNRSE - £ HEAER
B SRR RRERTSEEREEE
FZEE (FReELEM) (TEAE
EREFARRSRERE) HERAR
HRHENBRATITRE - KA ARRS
MEMREHIE -

W EE (IREELEM) AR
mEeRENEREE " WEE(FRE
ELBN) EEERFEZEITRE
T AR AE - HEENEER
SELEUNAREEX DO RAE
EME  AREef—ARGELSEN
WEREE (BRI EEZREELEM
AR ARIEESR— BN RRIBEEMR
HE) BEZEAReELBUNARES
BIELE - EDIORERER - $EE
RN E M EaRmEE (NER)
NEBBENS—ARSELEUANZ
BENREERLIIDEZEMEE
BEENKEENTREEREAYE
B ERA (AEE) - EAERE (1
AT ) MERNREE - AEROEE
HHEEEMREBRESERRLIINE
EEUS—ARTELENANEMLE
B o BEBBSNER AR

‘C.
M 1 66 Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited
‘ Annual Report 2024

/Y



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or
a group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial

position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, excluding
bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such

balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally with original
maturity of three months or less), highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for

investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group's cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term

borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 4. EBXREHBEEHR(E)

Inventories

Inventories represents pre-paid mobile top-up credits, virtual products and are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are
determined on a weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly attributable to

the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in

the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for
trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS
I5"). Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial

assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at

amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to

collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial
assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost
of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit
impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit
— impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting

period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss (“ECL")
model on financial assets (including trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, restricted bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents), which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated

at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events
over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the industry default rates quoted by a credit agent, adjusted
for any factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the

forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables without significant
financing component. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors

with significant balances and/or collectively with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
I2m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of
whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

0

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue

cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing

whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instruments extemal (if available) or internal credit rating;

0 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit spread and the credit default swap

prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the

debtors ability to meet its debt obligations;

0 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;
. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory,

economic, or technological environment of the debtor that results in a

significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

()

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes
that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has

reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying

significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For intemal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default
occurs when information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the

Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging

default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued) 4. EAREHBERER(E)

Financial instruments (Continued) EMIA(E)

Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 BB B EERE 955 B AR ERT IS

(Continued) THIZBEERE (&)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets (il FEEREEHMEE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a EREER—ERSEEH (Y
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset ZeREENGITRKRERE

BRIHRE) BEREREER
BiE - EREEEREEREDN
BEEERAA NS FRNAER

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes

observable data about the following events:

that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or

loss.

87
+  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower; « BUOIARERANEKRHY
3
0 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event; g ERAEN(MBELEEOFEN
FEME)

. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons c ERANERAEE@E
relating to the borrower's financial difficulty, having granted to the RAME AL ES S D1
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise B EERAREERA
consider; AT EERNEFT

0 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or 0 EEVUNCEIET PN -3
other financial reorganisation. HB B a4 o

(iv)  Write-off policy (v) HSEECR
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating EEMBTHFIRREEN

R N B R e Al AE (il an s 3
NRBERIDEARERFR)
HEZRUFRBHMFEN L
B (ABRRHEERE) KEH
WHEEREE KEREEER
(ER) - EMENEREER
RENARA S BRI RIZFETT
SRR - MIREAR AR L HERE
o EERKEHNEEN B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL
The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that

is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL s the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate

determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a collective
basis taking into consideration internal credit rating information and forward

looking information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the following

characteristics when formulating the grouping;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

. External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the

constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case

interest income s calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is recognised

through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the

cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference
between the assets carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and

receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions

of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the

Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables and borrowings are

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's
obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the
financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's various lines of

business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting
purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they

share a majority of these criteria.

No geographic information is shown as the revenue and profit from operations of

the Group are mainly derived from activities in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
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SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires the directors of the Company
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual

results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the

revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The directors of the Company have considered the development, selection and

disclosure of the Group's significant accounting judgements and estimates.

Judgements
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, the directors of the
Company have made the following judgements which have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognised in these consolidated financial statements:

Contractual arrangements

Shenzhen NNK and its subsidiaries are mainly engaged in provision of services
that foreign investors are restricted to invest. As disclosed in Note 3, the Group
exercises control over Shenzhen NNK and its subsidiaries and enjoys all economic

benefits of them through the VIE Arrangements.

The Group considers that it controls Shenzhen NNK and its subsidiaries,
notwithstanding the fact that it does not hold direct equity interest in the Shenzhen
NNK; as it has power over the financial and operating policies of the Shenzhen
NNK and its subsidiaries and receives substantially all the economic benefits from
the business activities of the Shenzhen NNK through the VIE Arrangements.
Accordingly, the Shenzhen NNK and its subsidiaries have been accounted as

subsidiaries during the vears.

1 78 Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited

Annual Report 2024

EEFE R GG

R B]RAR - ARRIERAE
%ﬁ%%ﬁ&ﬁ?~%%‘wkﬁﬁ§
EHRTFOHE - fh5H REBR - ZFHh
A REERRARBERRIERR
BATRRREENBERMRE - &
BRENEEZESUEMORREHM
é?&ﬁ1$ﬁ@¢ﬁﬂ%mgw E
BRERIAB RN L F AT o

fhat RAERRE AR - HHE
EHEEJrE’W RER BRI ARG

 RIEBERTNZHE AR 55
E§1 aTﬂEﬂHﬁ&?KXHﬂF’EJi’]ﬁ?é; A

ARRESEERAREENGHHIE
RfEEHRRE  ERREE -

#

ARREZNEAREE S HRE
EEH TSR A B REMER SR
BREATENHE

BHLH
FYNFERREMBAREERSRM
INBUIR B R 4 & B0 ARG o SAnf
IR - $ElLﬂ‘WﬁwﬁT’l;€f
ZHERNFF R REWBRATEE
HliEYw = A HM LB

fil

Het

BAAKEIT EEEFA R IFERD
B BERARESRIFFREA
MEARMM B RS EHREBES -
BRBrENSERLTHHURNIFER
HMERESTRSEADOLEN -
AR R A EEHIRY|FF R R EM
BAw - Bt RYNFFERREMBEA
AERZEFEAANRS A B AT



5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Principal versus agent consideration

In determining whether the revenue of the Group shall be recorded on a net basis
or a gross basis, the Group has made reference to indicators and requirements
stated in HKFRS 15. Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal or an
agent requires judgement and consideration of all relevant facts and circumstances,
and the Group considers itself as having an agency relationship with its customers

by assessing features that are arising from its operation and contractual agreements.

Relevant accounting policies and financial impact to the consolidated financial

statements for each type of revenue are set out in Notes 4 and 6 respectively.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the

next financial year are described below:

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

To measure the ECLs, the trade receivables with significant balance or credit-
impaired are assessed individually and the remaining are assessed collectively with
appropriate groupings, which is based on similar loss patterns (i.e., by product,

service or customer type and internal credit rating).

The Group estimates the provision of ECL which requires the use of estimates and
judgements as the ECL are based on the Group's interal credit ratings of trade
debtors, after considering aging, historical repayment records, past due status of
respective trade receivables and forward-looking information. The assessment of
the provision of ECL for trade receivables involves certain degree of estimation and
uncertainty as the provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates including
intemal credit ratings and corresponding default rate. At each reporting date, the

credit ratings are reassessed and forward-looking information are considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

SIGNIFICANT JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables (Continued)

The Group's trade receivables and the information about the ECL are disclosed in

Notes 18 and 28(b) respectively.

Estimation of current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in jurisdictions in which the group entities
operate. Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income
taxes. There are certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is subject to the final approval of annual tax return the group entities
filed with the relevant tax authorities. Where the final tax outcome is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income

tax in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised.
Significant judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable

profits together with future tax planning strategies.

The Group's current tax and deferred tax are disclosed in Notes || and 25

respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

REVENUE 6. Uz
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers EREAWERD IR
2024 2023
—EoNE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMWT T ARBTT
Type of service, at the point in time RERREEHREER
Mobile charges and mobile data usage top-up services FHRAEBRFRRERTRE 104,232 83,854
Telecommunications equipment business BEREES 269 588
Dealership business SRS - 643
Digital marketing service BT R
— Commission income for marketing campaign services —EHEBREASKA 21,217 2454
— Service income for marketing campaign services — A BRI ARIS YA 628 =
Type of service, over time* P Ak D 9 P S 8
Digital marketing service BT B R
— Service income for live streaming — BERRBKA 2,281 3491
128,627 91,030

& The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 21 of HKFRS |5 and does

not disclose information about remaining performance obligation that have original

expected duration of one year or less.

* AEEEREEMBHRERERE ISR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on
the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the executive directors (being the chief operating decision makers
(the “CODMs")) in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their

performance.

Following the Group's diversified business, the Group reorganised its reporting

structure in the current year and presented the following two operating and

BERMBHELENFESRELDHRE
RRBITER (ML ERERKE
([XEREREE])) EHEHNER
ZN S E- e Ei e fllE
DR AR EE D B AR RAHE R R
35 o

reportable segments under HKFRS 8: WMEERESRETNATMELE K2
N

Top up services: = provision of mobile charges and mobile data usage top up services to mobile subscribers

RIS MFEBFREFHAE R TFRAER RS

Digital marketing services: = provision of all-in-one live streaming services and sourcing and delivery of virtual products and related

value-added services

HF 2 HRE

Certain comparative figures of segment information were therefore restated to

conform with current year's presentation.

The Group's operating segments are strategic business units that offer different
services. They are managed separately because each business requires different
marketing strategies. The Group's CODMs make decision according to operating

results of each segment.

No information on segment assets and liabilities was prepared for review by
the Group's CODMs for the year for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment. Therefore, only segment revenue and segment results are

presented.

RE—UEAEIEIRT - DA RREE K R AR RIS (E RS

Bt - DEERNE THRAFEEMN
25 WHEAFEENZIH -

AEEGLH B ARETRABRENE
BB - BNE L HERATRN
BRER - HBREHBAMHEE - &
EENTTRLAEEREE S BHE
BEE RS o

BERENBEERBEER - URA
FEHAEETIRELRRERMN  F
NEERRHMERBZE - At - £2
5l B U o ) BB R AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7. oHERE)
(a)  Segment results @@ oWxE
For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources RIHENBERBRRES 2B 5
between segments, the Group’s CODMs monitors the results attributable to BRER AREEFELEREE
each reportable segment on the following basis: EZTW RERGHEZ®RD BN
Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with W kAXREZ®RD BEED
reference to the sales generated and the expenses incurred by those ﬁgﬁfﬁf REZEFHH - 2
segments. The measure used for reporting segment profit is gross profit. kD ERAMERANEST AR
%ﬂ °
Top up services Digital marketing services Total
K7 B BFEHR® |t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

“ECNE —T--F ZE-NE

RMB’000 RMB'000

RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT ARWTR

—E-—fF ZBE-NE —E-—f&F

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR¥TR ARETT

Revenue from REIMDEF

extemal HIA

customers 104,501 84,442 24,126 6,588 128,627 91,030
Less: Tax surcharge  J& : BT A% (2,490) (677) (575) (53) (3,065) (730)
Cost of revenue WEs AR (14,765) (13,828) (8,696) (2,647) (23,461) (16,475)
Reportable segment 2 5 255 F

profit (EM)

(gross profit) 87,246 69,937 14,855 3,888 102,101 73,825

'.‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

7.

DEER (E)

(b)  Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue and profit before income (b) EWMDHBUABERRREHADEF
tax KR
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBTT
Revenue i
Reportable segment revenue (Note 6) 2| U (P EEs) 128,627 91,030
Reportable segment profit derived from the Group's RERNEEIBEFH
extemnal customers E2HH R 102,101 73,825
Other income, net H A %5 7,060 7219
Distribution and selling expenses DIHRIHERX (16,531) (9.976)
Administrative expenses THFRxX (38,496) (36,171)
Research and development expenses RS (12,529) (7914)
Finance costs FIRERAR (3,215) (2,204)
Profit before income tax BRFT1S B A & A 38,390 24779
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the BEE D B S SR B T4 FTI A

Group's accounting policies described in Note 4. Segment profit represented

the profit eamed by each segment without allocation of other income (net),

distribution and selling expenses, administrative expenses, research and

development expenses and finance costs.

Geographical information

All of the Group's revenue is derived from customers in the PRC and

the non-current assets are principally located in the PRC. Therefore, no

geographical segment information is presented.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's customer base is

diversified and had no customer with whom transactions have exceeded

10% of the Group's revenue (2023: Nil). Details of concentrations of credit

risk arising from these customers are set out in Note 28(b).

‘C.
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OTHER INCOME, NET

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

8. Hthl AFHE

2024 2023
—ECNE —Eo=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR®ETT

Interest income: FIBWA
— from structured deposits (Note i) — REEBUETR (D - 133
— from bank deposits — REBITEX 216 687
216 820
Other income: HAHA
Govemment subsidy (Note if) TR RG (HETii) 8,159 2,980
Income on additional credit for the input value added tax ~ #ETIE(ETR ([BER ) HEBIME
("VAT") (Note i) SRMA (FiEeEii) - 3,484
8,159 6,464
Other losses, net: H BRI 4E
Recognition of impairment loss in respect of 8 S REYGIAER R EEE
trade receivables (Note 28(b)) (PFiFEE28(b)) (1,321) (66)
Written down of inventories HFEMR (185) -
Net foreign exchange loss HNEESRIFER (128) (65)
Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEME - BFE KEHEKE 356 |77
Others HAh (37) (rn
(1,315) (65)
7,060 7219
'.‘
REBEHFERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

8. OTHER INCOME, NET (Continued) 8. Aﬂng\;ggg (&)

Notes: BEE

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group purchased certain structured (0) BE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—H1t
deposits with banks in the PRC that were denominated in RMB and without fixed fﬁf‘;f AEERTBESRIBITBES
maturity period and redeemable anytime without restriction. Interest of the structured REMER (RARKHE  &E
deposits varied depending on the performance and return of underlying investments E@J,Hﬁﬁﬁ - AR ER A NRR
managed by the banks. The structured deposits were classified as financial assets at i) o BRI TA SR FRITA
fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition. All the structured deposits were EREBRENKRE RLRME &
redeemed during the year ended 31 December 2023 BUEERRISBRRBESRARD

Bt ABRRNEREE - B4 %I“_{
BRERHE_Z-_=F+-A=+

—HIEFEE -

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the relevant government authority iy BEZ-_MFE+_A=+—HILEF
granted a subsidy to the Group in relation to the Group's industry related funding & BHBNERRARETEER
scheme. The government subsidy was recognised in profit or loss in the year in which E) & BhaT Bl R AR B L AHAL o BURF
it became receivable and there were no unfulfilled conditions attached to this subsidy RERR RS AT F E AN B e
(2023: Same). R BRIBME R KA KIS

WER(ZF==F : FERMER) -

(i) On 9 January 2023, the PRC tax authority has published 2023 Bulletin | with effective iy MZZEZ=F—ANB  PEFBEHE
period from | April 2023 to 31 December 2023 which states that additional 5% BREA_Z_=FF IR0 E (E
of input VAT would be granted to the qualified general VAT payer to offset VAT BEZZ-=fMA-RE-T_=F
payables. TZA=+—H) EHBREER

—AIBERARAR T RINS%HET
IBEM - AEHREAIEET -

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. HBRAK
2024 2023
“E-EF —E-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Interest on bank overdrafts PITEXHE 1,344 1,299
Interest on bank borrowings RITETA R 1,589 789
Interest on other borrowing H A8 K F.E 201 =
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 32) MEBENE (FFE32) 8l 16

3215 2,204
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1 86 Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited
‘. Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

10. BRETEBHADEF

2024 2023
St 2 —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging:  BRETIS B A& ) THASHIBUA T &
B
Directors emoluments (Note 12) EEMe (PHEE12) 9,067 8,466
Salaries and other benefits, excluding those of directors TEREMBEN(TREEEN) 37,557 24277
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, excluding RRBHET IR
those of directors (TEEEEN) 5,187 3,858
Total staff costs BIRARE 51811 36,60
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15)  #1% « BB R&EITE (HIFEI5) ,488 1,522
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16) EREEENE (Miztie) 684 849
Auditor’s remuneration ZEE &
— Audit services — BZR l,168 1,200
— Non-audit services — EBEZIR 180 220
Total staff costs of approximately RMBI3,511,000 (2023: RMB8,971,000), BE_T-_ME+-_A=1t—HLF
RMB27,278,000 (2023: RMB20,517,000) and RMBI 1,022,000 (2023: B BIRARBEHARKI3511000

RMB7,113,000) has been charged to distribution and selling expenses, administrative

expenses and research and development expenses, respectively for the year ended

31 December 2024.

T (ZZE-=F : AR¥8971,0007T) *

ARE7278000T0 (ZE-=F : AR

(—EE—
=
=

#20,517,0007T) B AR 11,022,0007C
=F: ARB71130007T) ED

BIEt A S5 R SHERIS ~ TR STA R
FEEF

REBEHFERAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

‘C.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE . FrSBiBax
2024 2023
—ECNF B — 2
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%F ARBFT
Current income tax BNEAFR S8t
Current year AEE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") — PRI RPASE ([ERAEH ) 8,862 7,388
— PRC Withholding Tax — AR 1,000 500
9,862 7,888
(Over)/Under-provision in prior years BEFE (BEEE) BETR
—PRCEIT — REBEMEH (219) 790
9,643 8,678
Deferred tax, net RERE T
~ PRC EIT (Note 25) — B EARET (PEE25) (594) (252)
9,049 8426
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Hong Kong

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made in the consolidated
financial statements as no assessable profit was generated in Hong Kong for both

years.

The PRC

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "PRC EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulations of the PRC EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Group, which are small-size and low-profit
enterprise under the PRC EIT Law, are entitled to effective PRC EIT rate of 5%
for first RMB3 miillion of their annual taxable income with effective period from |
January 2023 to 31 December 2027. The PRC EIT is calculated at 25% (2023: 25%)

of the estimated assessable profits of remaining subsidiaries operating in the PRC.

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

Frgwibax (&)

&8

AR EFEHERESELERL
M BEA R BRRP L EREEHIE
ATHERE

E
RiEFECEMETE ((PELRFAE
Bt RRBECEMERENERE
Bl PEMEARRMEFENRES
25% ©

AEBETHENBARATEMEM
BERETH/NEMANEE  REFE
ERTMANEAREIBEZH%H
ERPBECEMEHNE  FHHAB
E-=F—RF—HE-ZT-+F+=A
=+—A8 - FECERGHR RN TE
SR T MBS A R T ERTUR A&
25%(ZF==F : 25%) & -

RRYEHUFTARLNA 180 &
2024 4R .’.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

I1.  INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) . FrEBiAx (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before income FARMEHIERX A EEEE ER
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive R B 2 T U 2 2% P O BR PTS 25 A s A
income as follows: NN
2024 2023
—E-mE —B=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMF T ARETT
Profit before income tax BT 1SATA A 38,390 24,779
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% BERNE2S % T E OB 9,597 6,195
Tax effect of expense not deductible RAH0FL B S RS R 2 2,077 2,990
Tax effect of income not taxable DL ON:L8 -7 (63) =
Tax benefits (Note i) HEE () (2,808) (2,494)
Tax effect of tax relief or concessionary tax rate granted ~ MEIEHIK P BB AT
to PRC subsidiaries ERERHRNHEYE (787) (524)
Tax loss not recognised AERTIAEE 1,328 969
Utilisation of tax loss not recognised EEAAERVEREE (1,076) =
Withholding tax on distributed profits of a PRC BRI A 2 s A
subsidiary (Note ii) A 1,000 500
(Over)/underprovision in prior years BIEFE (BEEE) BETR (219) 790
Income tax expense for the year FRMERAX 9,049 8426
Notes: 5t

(i) Pursuant to Caishui 2018 circular No. 99, Shenzhen NNK is entitled to additional tax 0]

deduction on qualifying research and development costs expenditures.

(i) Under the PRC EIT Law, 10% withholding income tax is generally imposed on (i)
dividends relating to any profits earned commencing from 2008 by enterprises
established in the PRC to foreign investors. For the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group has applied 10% (2023: 10%) tax rate for dividends declared by a
subsidiary incorporated in the PRC.

‘C.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS 12.

Directors and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant

to the applicable Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about Benefits

of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

B FETHRAEREENHE
BREER TR BARAGRAE
383(NERCAR (REESFEER)
BB B B BRBENENEZREET
BABREFMMT :

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme  Discretionary
Fees allowances  contributions bonuses Total
IER  &IEA
wE W HEE  GEMR BER4A G
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR ARMTRT AR¥TR
For the year ended 3| December 2024 BZE-F_MF+=A
=t+-BLFE
Executive directors; HITESE
Mr. Huang Junmou BEREE - 1,000 12 508 1,620
Mr. Guan Heng (Note i) a5 A& (Pt 138 1,394 2 2,035 3,659
Dr. Zhou Jinhuang FeEEL 138 1,880 9l 850 2,959
Non-executive directors: FHITES :
Mr. Fan Weiguo SeEBEEE 277 - - - 277
Mr. Yu Zida WFERLE 138 - - - 138
Independent non-executive directors: B FFHITES :
Ms. Zou Guoying (Note ii) SEIE 2+ (e 138 - - - 138
Mr. Zhang Mingqun (Note iii) RIS EE S A (P EEii) 138 - - - 138
Dr. Li Yao (Note ii) FRET (Pai) 138 - - - 138
[,105 4274 295 3,393 9,067
'.‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

12.  DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS 2. BEE - FETHRAEBRESNME
(Continued) (#&)
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme  Discretionary
Fees allowances  contributions bonuses Total
TER  EIKER
e EERl AR mBRA ait

RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTE ARBTT ARBTE ARETE ARBT:H

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BZE-F-=F+_f

=+—-ALFE

Executive directors; HITES

Mr. Huang Junmou BEREE - 2,159 100 - 2259
Mr. Guan Heng (Note i) CAER AR 135 2424 76 = 2,635
Dr. Zhou Jinhuang FeEEL 135 2,560 76 — 2771
Non-executive directors: FRITES -

Mr. Fan Weiguo SeEBEEE 270 - - - 270
Mr. Yu Zida WFERE 135 - - - 135

Independent non-executive directors: B FFFITES :

Mr. Lin Zhangxi (Note ii) s F 4 (M) 46 - - - 46
Mr. Qian Haomin (Note iv) BERREE (M) 62 - = S 62
Ms. Zhao inlin (Note i) HEMZ T (i) 46 - - - 46
Ms. Zou Guoying (Note ii) RIS 2+ (e 90 - - - 90
Mr. Zhang Mingqun (Note iii) RISEH LA (Miekii) 83 - - - 83
Dr. Li Yao (Note ii) FRIE T (M) 69 - - - 69

1,071 7,143 252 - 8466
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12.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Guan Heng also served as chief executive officer. His emoluments include service

rendered as chief executive.

(ii) Ms. Zhao Jinlin and Mr. Lin Zhangxi have resigned as independent non-executive
directors with effect from 5 May 2023. Ms. Zou Guoying was appointed as

independent non-executive director with effect from 5 May 2023.

(i) Mr. Zhang Mingqun and Dr. Li Yao were appointed as independent non-executive
directors with effect from 24 May 2023 and 30 June 2023 respectively.

(v)  Mr. Qian Haomin has resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect
from 19 June 2023.

The executive directors” emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.
The independent non-executive directors” emoluments shown above were for

their services as directors of the Company.

12.

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

EE  IRTRABRESHHME

(%)
GEE

0

(i

(iii)

RERETFETTHA - EeE
RIERTTRA IR AR -

HEW L T RER L EBRHEIEH
TEE A-ZT-=FRARHERAE
M PEELTN-_E-_=FAH
BEZEABUENTES -

REHAERTEELIHIN T
“FRAHMNBER=-Z-_=FA
ZTHREZARBUIERITES -

BESAACDEIBIIERITES -
B_Z-_=FRATNAABER -

LR TESHE AREAEEARE]
PAKEEHRERBOME o L8
UFAITEEME ARFERRRRIE
SRERGHMSE o

'.‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

12.

‘C.

DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVES AND EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS
(Continued)

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included three
(2023: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2023: two) highest paid

employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

2. E% FETHRABRESNME

(%)

REBRNFARLRDH

MEEBHE=

Z(ZEZ=F =2)EF  HFH
FHBENLEX - WIHBARRBERE
EITHABRNBTME (ZE-_=F:

follows: W4 ) &= FEERFAREBEFS
NN
2024 2023
—E-ME —EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFTT
Salaries and allowances TE& K= 1,957 1,699
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKBAIFT I 3R 65 [
2,022 [,810

The number of the highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief

executive of the Company is as below:

WIRARBEZREETRABNR
BEHMESARMT :

2024 2023

—E-NE 2

No. of No. of

Employees Employees

EEAH BEAH

— Nil to HK$1,000,000 — £ 1,000,000/ 7T - 2
— HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 — 1,000,001 77T ZE 1,500,000/ 7 2 =

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors,
chief executive of the Company or the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
(2023: Nil). None of the directors and the chief executive of the Company has

waived any emoluments during the year (2023: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company
during the year, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period (2023: Nil).

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on profit attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately RMB3 1,943,000 (2023: RMB16,353,000)
and the weighted average of 415,000,000 (2023: 415,000,000) ordinary shares in
issue during the year ended 31 December 2024.

No diluted earnings per share for the year were presented as there were no

potential ordinary share in issue (2023: Same).

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

Hﬁz%\
ARBIBERFAR L BRBRREL
RRRERE  BREPRBEZRR
BEMBRE(ZT =% %)

BRER
BREARRBFTIERARAEEAEN
EAMAIARES943000 (ZF ==
F: AR¥1635300070) REE=ZT=
MFE+-A=+—BLFEEHTLR
AR hn4EF39#9415,000,0000% (ZF ==
F : 415,000,0008%) 51& -

ARLEHEEFTERR - RikE
BENSRESEN (CB-=F 42
AER) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

I5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT I5. Y% BERRZE
Computer
Leasehold Motor and office
improvement vehicles equipment Total
HE HEL: )
YIS 515 RE WARME &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRE AR%¥®TR AR%®TR AR%Tx
COST B
At | January 2023 R—ZE-_=F—H—H 2,429 1,767 10953 15,149
Additions NE 496 328 633 | 457
Disposals/write off e/ #iEH = = (7,738) (7,738)
At 31 December 2023 and RZE-_=F+-HA=+—H
| January 2024 R=ZZZMFE—-A—H 2925 2,095 3,848 8,868
Additions INE = 342 1,106 1,448
Disposals/write off HE /M - (1,473) (535) (2,008)
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZWNE+=-—A=1+—H 2,925 964 4419 8,308
DEPRECIATION e
At | January 2023 RZE-=%—H—H 256 1,678 9,492 11,426
Provided for the year (Note 10) FREHE (FHEE10) 454 - 1,068 1,522
Eliminated on disposals/write back  FAHE / HiSHEF ¥ 85 = = (7,734) (7,734)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZEZ_=F+-A=+—H
| January 2024 R=ZZZMF-A—H 710 1,678 2,826 5214
Provided for the year (Note 10) FREME (HEE10) 625 89 774 1,488
Eliminated on disposalsiwrite back  FAHE / #iSEEF 4 85 - (1,400) (477) (1,877)
At 3| December 2024 RZZE-WE+=A=+—H 1,335 367 3,123 4825
CARRYING VALUES AREE
At 31 December 2024 RZZEZWNE+=—A=1+—H 1,590 597 1,296 3,483
At 31 December 2023 RZZEZ=F+-H=+—H 2215 417 1,022 3,654
‘C.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS l6. EREEE

Land and

buildings

in the PRC

FER L

rgF

RMB’000

ARBTR

At | January 2023 R-ZE-_=F—HF—H 2,034
Addition NE 511
Depreciation provided for the year (Note 10) FRITERME (3 10) (849)

At 31 December 2023 and | January 2024 RZE-_=F+-A=+—HK

“FT-mFE-A—H 1,696
Depreciation provided for the year (Note 10) FRFERE (HE10) (684)
At 31 December 2024 R-Z2-mFE+-A=+—-H 1,012

During the year, the Group leases land and buildings for its operations. Lease
contracts are entered into for fixed term of 2 to 5 years (2023: 2 to 5 vears).
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms and

conditions. Details of the corresponding lease liabilities are set out in Note 23.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to the leases are as follows:

FR - AEBREL W REFRHIEE
%o MEAKNIRESFME T HRETL
ZEZ=F 2F85F) c HEKKIER
ERIEERR - BB ST RNERRE
1+ o HBEEE B B FIRHENNE23 -

ARAHENRRERNSENT

2024 2023

b a2 —To=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMT T ARBTT

Interest charged on lease liabilities (Note 9) MEEENE (FFEE9) 8l 16

Depreciation charged of right-of-use assets (Note |0) EREEETE L (M5E10) 684 849

Expenses related to short-term leases M SRR 393 178

Total amount recognised in profit or loss RERERRERE 1,158 1,143
'.‘
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HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 6. EREEEZ)
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash flows for leases comprise TAHERERERERNEEBRIEN
the following; T&IE :
2024 2023
b a2 —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT
Within financing cash flows (Note 32): Payments of REtERemEN (FEE32) - X 804 974
lease liabilities (both principal and interests) NHEEEE (R RhFE)
Within operating cash flows: Expenses related to REEESHREN : BEHRE 393 178
short-term leases BN E R
Total cash outflow for leases HERE ML B 1,197 [,152

The total cash outflows and liquidity analysis of the lease liabilities are included in

Notes 32 and 28(b) respectively.

HEGENRERHAERABES D
o R IEE32 & 28(b)

7. INVENTORIES 7. #&

2024 2023
—BomE —B-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT

Top-up credits sourced from PRC telecommunication REFEEEEEEL
operators or other distributors Hh DA A S5 549 8,807
Virtual products EHER 15,182 3,759
15,731 12,566

‘C.
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For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

TRADE RECEIVABLES B 5% BEWHE
2024 2023
St 2 “BC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Trade receivables B S EWFIA
— Mobile charges and mobile data usage top-up service - FHREBLTHRE
RITARH 113,760 132,798
— Telecommunication equipment business — BlEREEH 9,895 11,385
— Digital marketing service — T EHERY 162,422 38522
Less: allowance of credit losses B EEBEEE (1,640) (319)
284,437 182,386
Less: amount due for settlement with 12 months B SERBEENR 2EAR
shown under current assets FIEEE e IA (284,437) (179/453)
Amount due for settlement after |2 months FIVEFETREN E AR 121 A1
shown under non-current assets HH B ERFIR - 2933
As at | January 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers amounted RZZFE_=F—A—H HEPFPE

to approximately RMB243,683,000.

Trade receivables from mobile charges and mobile data usage top-up service
mainly represent receivables from financial institutions which the settlement period
is normally within | day from transaction date. Due to deepening cooperation
with major PRC banks for their promotion activities, the Group has granted credit
period of 30 to 45 days for those trade receivables based on the invoice date. For
certain channels of customers, the credit period was about 30 to 60 days granted
by the Group based on the invoice date. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances (2023:
Nil).

AAAMESRBFBENRARE
2436830007 °

REFREBRFRTERTRENE
%E% RIHT E15 B © B E IR
CREHBERARSHAEIAAN B
%ﬁix*ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%@ﬁﬁé
fE AEERZEEHENFBERTE
REZBH0E4SRNEHE - HRE
TEPRE  AEERTERZEZAH
KIB0ZE60REVEFRER « NEE R
AR EIF KR - UREREEER
% o MEIRNFIBRASBERETH
Bz o ERLEMIBER  WRASENE
SEBRBESRAEZTIHER A&
BUvEsSARHEERR - AEEITE
ﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%mﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm
SHMEEER(ZTZ=F:F) -
'.‘
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18.

‘C w
v.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Trade receivables from the telecommunication equipment business mainly
represent receivables from telecommunication operators, which are repayable by

instalments ranged from 6 months to 36 months (2023: Same).

Trade receivables from digital marketing services mainly represent receivables from
digital marketing events, which the Group usually grants credit period for those

trade receivables for no more than 60 days (2023: Same).

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for credit
losses presented based on the date of service provided and revenue recognised, at

the end of each reporting period:

B2 RWFOR (&)
EERBEBNEZIRUFIRLIER
RNEEELHTUR - ZFRBANG
BAZEARDHER - (ZF ==
F:RERBER)

REBFEERBOEFRIGRTR
ERBBFEHEBNRYEE K
SEBRENZFEZRUGORE TR

BORMEEHR (ZT_=5F : ARG
o) e
THARE TS ARREA RS H

HREHERRR2TINE 5 RKFIRE
(R EEBERE) MIRER DT -

2024 2023

—B-mE —TC=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

0to 30 days 0F30K 184,007 119,056
31 to 90 days 3IE90K 78,943 61,712
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180K 15,698 712
181 to 365 days 181 £365K 5,060 823
Over 365 days 365 KA L 729 83
284,437 182,386

As at 3| December 2024, included in the Group's trade receivables balance
were debtors in mobile charges and mobile data usage top-up service with
aggregate carrying amount of RMBI,842,000 (2023: RMBI,666,000), in digital
marketing services with aggregate carrying amount of RMB356,000 (2023: Nil)
and in telecommunication equipment business with aggregate carrying amount of
RMB8,884,000 (2023: Nil) which are past due as at the reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Based on the Group's assessment of historical credit loss experience of these
debtors, including all available forward-looking information and expected
settlements, the Group does not consider default has occurred despite the
contractual payments are overdue more than 90 days due to the long-term/
on-going business relationship, past good repayment records and continuous

repayments from these customers.

However, the Group would have provided in full for trade receivables overdue
more than 180 days because based on historical experience, such receivables
are generally not recoverable, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise. Details of impairment assessment of

trade receivables are set out in Note 28(b).

As at 31 December 2024, certain of the Group's trade receivables of approximately
RMB107,405,000 (2023: RMB74,463,000) were pledged to the bank and other
borrowings and bank overdrafts with amounts of approximately RMBI 10,000,000
(2023: RMB30,000,000) (Note 24).

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

BEZRWR (&)
ENAREHZEFEHEANBEERE
KB BREMARFOAENE
BHEBEREEREN  ARERABE

AR MEBEIORIA L - BENZE
RPNES/ HEEBHEE  BER

HERCHIFERNIEREARE
IR A BB R IFRIRTT - WA EHR
HEH -

R AR REEERESR  BYBEE
|80 KM & 5 U TR — R EE R -
HAKEFARERI0KNEHEK
FAEL2ERE  KIEAKEREA

BAREEARATEER - BIERI® o
BEHE 5 R RIERE T B S
#28(b) °

RZZZMFE+—A=+—H ' F5H
H%’%my RIE 4 A R 107,405,000
T (ZZEZ=% : AR%74,463,0007T)

EEETRITREMBERRRITESZLD
AR 1100000007 (ZE-=4F: A
FE#30,000,0007T) (Pif3E24) °
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9.

‘C w
v.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. FEME - REREMERRE
2024 2023
—E-NE —T=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Prepayments (Note (a)) for FARFOE (i1 a))
— Mobile charges and mobile data usage top-up service - FHREBLTFHRE
RERB 50,170 57,865
— Digital marketing service — TR 130,198 58,157
VAT recoverable Al EEET 166 511
Subsidy receivable TR FE R 879 1674
Others HAh 3,606 785
Deposits (Note (b)) &® (M) 10,496 3377
195,515 122,369
Analysed into: IR
Non-current portion RIS 155 155
Current portion MENE 7 195,360 122,214
195,515 122,369

Notes:

When the Group enters into service agreements with respective customers and the
Group relays the top-up service request or other request made from customers to
the suppliers, the Group is required to make prepayments which are non-refundable,
to suppliers, such as telecommunication and social media operators. The prepayments
would be utilised when the services are provided to the ultimate users. Included
in the balance as at 31 December 2024, a prepayment made to a related party
amounting to RMB27,846,000 (2023: RMB5,964,000) in relation to the purchase of
top-up credits. Details of the relevant transactions are set out in Note 30(a).

Balances represented the rental deposits, deposits in relation to tender submission
and the deposits paid to secure the suppliers' services and products. The deposits
would be refundable or utilized upon completion of contracts (2023: Same).

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other receivables are set out in
Note 28(b).
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EASERZSRFIRE RS B
AEBREEREER TR B R
Hh Bofry - AEBAREER (10
EERAREBELRE) (EHTAE
BIRTEFIE - BAZUEBRASK
RFERURBEEEE - fAZT W
F+-A=+-ANEBAEREES
RECENENBEH A RBARE
27,846,000 (ZE-=f : ARM
5,964,0007T) ° HHER S BERRHT
#30()

EREHSRS  BRERSURAE
1 JFE 7 0 PR 7% 0 2E R T S N O 4%
° ZREREAETHKANREDH

EJUFH(_-{_ FRRER) °
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For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. ERHFRTENR RERAEEE
/]
2024 2023
—E-mE —TC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Restricted bank deposits (Note (a)) R HIRTER (i) 6,631 =
Cash and cash equivalents (Note (b)) RekBR&EBY b)) 50,841 89,782
57,472 89,782
Notes: PiEE
(@)  As at 31 December 2024, the balances represent deposits amounting to @) RIZE-EF+-A=+—8 #&
RMB?2,000,000 for securing short term loan facility granted by a bank and carrying BREERBITAREHERRERN
interest at fixed interest rate of 1.75% per annum (2023: Nil) (Note 24). The R AR E2,000,0007T + #HEEFF
remaining deposits amounted to RMB4,631,000 (2023: Nil) are designated bank K| 75%:TB(ZB-=F: T) (M
accounts for securities deposits to commence business with the respective banks 24) « AT ERARE4,631,0007T (=
which would be released upon the completion of the contracts. =% ) RS RITRRET
BREROETRITERS - Z5FH
RE KITER 1% BRER ©
(b)  The Group's bank balances carry interests at prevailing market rates which range from () RZZZEF+ZA=1+—H &&

0.019% to 2.30% (2023: 0.01% to 2.30%) per annum as at 31 December 2024.

Other than the foreign currency disclosed in Note 28(b), the conversion of RMB
denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign
currencies out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign

exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

BMIRITEREN TREBF00I1%E
230% (ZZE-=%F : 0.01%ZE2.30%)
MIRITHHFIRE S

BRITEE28(0) TR BREOINE SN - AR
BEHEESR L IRBING RIS FRINE
B8 1 o B 7838 <7 B IS 4 146 O
HNEE HIFR A SOEAR
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21. TRADE PAYABLES 21, BREMAFER
The Group normally grants credit terms of about 90 days (2023: Same). The AEERERLAORNERH (ZF
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are Z=F - HRBR) c AREEHIETH
within the credit timeframe. BREEERBE - UERMA B TIE
TeBHLERMR -
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the UATAREREHRIBERSBHZS
transaction date, at the end of respective reporting periods: M E S ENFIENRR DT
2024 2023
—B-mE —TC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
0 to 90 days 0290K 34,016 19,934
91 to 180 days I E 180K 3,003 805
181 to 365 days 181 &365K 745 208
Over 365 days 365 KA L 4,643 4226
42,407 25173
Included in the balance as at 31 December 2024, trade payables due to a related FACE-MNFE+ - A=+ —HrER
party amounting to RMBI,100,000 (2023: Nil) in relation to purchase of top-up REFEBERT RN EN BT H
credits. Details of the relevant transactions are set out in Note 30(a). B 5 ENFRBAR1,1000007 (ZF
T=F ) HBARSFHBENME
30(a) °
‘C.
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For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 2. HttEAFEARESEA
2024 2023
itk k- Sk
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Receipts in advance (Note) FAYRRIE (FisT) 56,615 47,865
Accrued salaries fEstE e 14,214 8,132
Other tax payables H it 1A 2,486 1,888
Payable for audit fee JERTELTER 670 1294
Others Hitr 3,195 3,647
77,180 62,826
Note: it -
Receipts in advance represented receipt in advance from customers while the underlying TAWCFRIA R TR R P OB (R W AR AR (AR R AR
services are yet to be provided. The balance mainly represented the short-term advances o RERTEENFRMIBRFUEER
received from customers in relation to the provision of mobile charges and mobile data usage FHREERTREANEFLERBMAE
top-up services and digital marketing services at the end of the year. Movement of the above P U E Ry AG ERTE AT RUE o EalTB YR ERIB &
receipts in advance is as follows: wr
2024 2023
—EBopmF —Bo=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
As at the beginning of the year F9 47,865 50,223
Revenue recognised in relation to mobile charges and SAFTRBFIRR R FHEE R
mobile data usage top-up service and digital marketing FRAREKARBARET 2
services that was included in the receipt in advance BRAS RS R RR M M
at the beginning of the year (47,865) (50,223)
Increase due to receipts in advance from customers FRYIRE BN TIEEH
during the year 1B 56,615 47865
As at the end of the year FXR 56,615 47,865

'.‘
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23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. HEEE
2024 2023
—ECNE —ET-=F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR®ETTT

Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEAE:
Within one year —FR 505 723
Within a period of more than one year RE—FNU L BNEBRF

but not more than two years 509 505
Within a period of more than two years REMENA L BIBRRF

but not more than five years 110 619

1,124 1,847

Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months o SERBAENR REAR

shown under current liabilities BB RTIE (505) (723)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months FIESERB B EHR 2B A%

shown under non-current liabilities IS ERRIE 619 1,124
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 4.76% to AREEEENEEETFNENF
5.5% (2023: Same). The total cash outflows for leases during the year are set out in 476%B55% (T == : HRAB
Note 32. ) o FRHERR S L BRI

320
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For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

BORROWINGS 24, &R
2024 2023
—BomE “BC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARETT
Short-term bank borrowings FEERRI TR 72,000 30,000
Other borrowing HAh A 10,000 L
Bank overdrafts RITEX 40,000 -
122,000 30,000
Representing: 5
Unsecured, fixed interest rates of 3.5% per annum IR - EEFNER35% -
and repayable within one year TR—FAREE 10,000 =
Secured, fixed interest rate of range from 3.1% to 4.9% BER - EEFANENFII%E
(2023: 4.0%) per annum and repayable within one year 49%(ZB =5 : 40%) *
(2023: Same) THR—FRER(ZT_=5F:
HRER) 112,000 30,000
122,000 30,000
'.‘

2024 F 3R

BEBEHFEARAT ()7 @
n"



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

24.

25.

‘C w
v.

BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, borrowings with amounts of RMBI 12,000,000 (2023:
RMB30,000,000) were secured by certain of the Group's trade receivables and
bank deposits (Notes 18 and 20) and guarantees from related parties (Note 30(c)).

As at 31 December 2024, the bank overdrafts facilities in aggregate of
RMBI 10,000,000 (2023: RMB70,000,000) were granted to the Group. As at 31
December 2024, the Group had undrawn bank overdrafts of RMB70,000,000 (2023:
RMB70,000,000).

The Group is required to comply with certain restrictive covenants. The Group
regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. As at 31 December 2024,

none of these covenants had been breached (2023: Same).

Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has obtained an
one-year bank borrowing of approximately RMB5,000,000 carried fixed interest

rate of 3.08% per annum.

DEFERRED TAXATION
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting

purposes:

24.

25.

CENE-P
BE-T-_WF+-A=1+—H &8
BARE 112000000 (ZTE==F:
AR¥30,000,0007T) MfERAAER
KB T8 5 B GRIE R RITER (F R
185220) K sk 77 4R (FTEE30(c)) 1R
o

BE-_ZT-WNF+=-A=+—H ' K
CEEERBIEIREAGHEARS
110,000,000 (ZE=Z=5F : AR¥
70,0000007T) - BE_ZT_WE+_A
=+—B AEERRRRIBEIAA
E#700000007C (ZEZ=F : AR
70,000,0007T) °

bl

e o Eﬁfﬁ m

REARTETRINER - ARE
BERALZSRROLTHR - B
Ft-A=t+-8  BmE
5(ZF-=4 AR -

=
i

=

Ie

X TH? Fit

5
&

REBEE-T-WNF+-A=+—BLF
Bi& - NEEBRFAAR5000,000
TR —FHRTER  BEFENER
308% °

ERERE
T BRENKRE B M RERERS
BT

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T AREFTT
Deferred tax assets ERENEEE (410) (80)
Deferred tax liabilities EXEFIEEE 9,409 9,673
8,999 9,593
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For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

25. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 25. EEBIE ()
The following are the deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised and movements AT AR KBTS PR iRT
thereon during the current and prior years: HE(EE)/ AEREES :
Taxable
management
Timing fee income
Allowance difference of Daily
for credit  on revenue Charge SZ
losses  recognition  Tax losses (Note) Total
RRERY
RO R B
8 hEERR EEEWA
BERRE WEZ  HEER (M&E) st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR ARETRT ARET:R
At | January 2023 RZZEZ=%—-H—H 43) 650 (42) 9,280 9,845
(Credited)/Charged to profit or loss (GtA)/ MkER
(Note I1) Gl (37) (257) f - (252)
At 31 December 2023 and RZZEZ=F+-A=t—H
| January 2024 R-Z_ME—-H—H (80) 393 = 9,280 9,593
(Credited)/Charged to profit or loss (BtA)/ MkER
(Note |1) (BaE11) (330) (264) — - (594)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ_MFE+_A=1—H (410) 129 = 9,280 8999

Bist a3 e ZeEAEEZ
—AEFT-_A=t—HLEE £
BugN=EEes  RIFFER
RAARTFINEDMHOERZEARE
37,120,000 TCROFR IS B/ 2 o

Note: Amount represented the tax effect on RMB37,120,000 management fee charged by
Shenzhen NNK to Daily Charge SZ for the year ended 31 December 2015 under the
VIE Arrangement as set out in Note 3.
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25.

‘C w
v.

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of RMB5,440,000 (2023:
RMB4,430,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of such unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of

future profit streams.

The expiry information of the tax loss is as follows:

25.

EERE (&)
W_EBE-_WNE+-_A=+—H " K&
BB KRB ARIAEE AR 5,440,0007T

(ZZ =% : AR¥44300007T) * 7]
ISR TR F o AR AR FIHOR A

$ﬂﬁﬂﬁvﬁﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
RIBLRIEEE -

BEERIHERINT -

2024 2023
—E-E —T-=F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT AREFTT

2027 “Eo4F I5 566
2028 “E-N\F 112 3,864
2029 =y 2 5313 =
5,440 4430

Under the PRC EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends declared in
respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from | January 2008 onwards.
As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of taxable temporary differences
associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax
liabilities have not been recognised amounted to RMB293,687,000 (2023:
RMB267,859,000). The Group does not have a plan to distribute these profits
out of the PRC and it is probable that such differences will not be reversed in the

foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

SHARE CAPITAL 26. BRA
Number of Number of Issued and fully
authorised issued paid share capital
shares shares ERTRBERE
'000 '000 US$'000 RMB’000
EERGEE ERTROHE
TR TR TEn AR¥TR
Asat | January 2023, 3| December 2023, R-ZE-_=f—H—H "
| January 2024 and 3| December 2024 —ZE-=#+-A=+—H"
“E-PE-A-BR
—F-mE+—A=1—H
— Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each — BR00IETHLBR 2,000,000 415,000 4,150 27,221
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from EBRRFAEABEUBRAREE IR K
time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. B UERNARFERE LRER—F
All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company's residual assets. RERR - AL BRBEANAAFERE
EZBRSHER -
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. BXEREE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concem while maximizing the return to owners through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains

unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which includes borrowings
and lease liabilities disclosed in Notes 24 and 23 respectively, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising

issued share capital, retained eamings and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure from time to time.
The Group considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. The Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of

dividends, the issue of new shares, new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

KEE%ﬁﬁﬁéuﬁ%$%E§%%
PR EEE IR EE AR
ﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁZﬁr%m$ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ
AFRBAEE - AEEHBRFERE
EE—GRETE -

AEERBAREEHERFRAK
o) %FW&M&B$&%mF*
HEAE HRASKBRSZEMUR
ADREE AEGER (BEEEITR
A REBFIREMERE) o

AEEEE B RRNEAER - A%
EEEESKANREEE M FHR
[ o AEERERIRMNRE - BITHR
- FERRERRE EBH FEEE
BERGR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 28. SEITH
a.  Categories of financial instruments a ERMIAEH

2024 2023
—EComE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT

Financial assets at amortised costs REBHERAGENERNEE
Trade receivables B AR 284,437 182,386
Deposits and other receivables e REMEYIE 14,326 5,681
Restricted bank deposits X EIHRITIER 6,631 =
Cash and cash equivalents REPBREFEY 50,841 89,782
356,235 277,849

Financial liabilities at amortised costs REBHEATTENSRAE
Trade payables B 5 REMNRIE 42,407 25,173
Other payables and accruals Hit N FIERETER 3,865 4941
Borrowings &3 122,000 30,000
168,272 60,114

Other financial liabilities HitemeE

Lease liabilities HERE 1,124 1,847

‘C.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, restricted bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
trade payables, other payables and accruals, borrowings and lease liabilities.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market risks (currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how
to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management of the Group
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk related primarily to certain
bank balances that are denominated in HK$ and US$. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated

monetary assets at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

28. £@IE#E)

b.

B EBREEREREK
AEENTIBESRIABEES
AR - e MO b YR
B ZBRHGIRTER  RERR
2EHEY  EHRENFUR - Kt
ENFERETER - B
ERE - ZFERTANFER
MREMEPRE - BZEERT
ERBNEREETSER (B
EEBEFZRR)  EERBRR
RENE TR o MR KR
REORREN T X - REEER
BEEREEZSAR - LHER
K AR IREVE & 11 ©

7

E®ER
AEEHBEIRENETIET
AHEME TRITASAE BN
R o A5 BRI A SMNE
HRBER - Al - BEEEEN
E 2 fin 6 7655 58 )R B K SN
2 (ML E) o

AKERE/EHMRAINNEHE
HEREENREED T -

2024 2023
—E-mE “EC=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT

Monetary assets aBEE
HK$ BT 896 471
US$ XL 27 *

& Less than RMBI,000

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the exposure to foreign
currency risk is immaterial. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented for

the currency risk impact.

* AR 10007 AT

REBEEEERE  INERRI
REK - Bt - WEREERER
FEZVNHRE SN o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

28.

‘C.

Y

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to lease
liabilities, fixed-rate bank and other borrowings and bank overdrafts (2023:
lease liabilities and fixed-rate bank borrowings). The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk which arises from restricted bank deposits
and bank balances (2023: bank balances) which carry interests at prevailing

market rates.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps in order to mitigate its
exposure associated with transactions relating to cash flows interest rate risk.
However, the management of the Group monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need

arise.

The interest rate risk to the Group are insignificant. Accordingly, no

sensitivity analysis is presented for the interest risk impact.

M 21 4 Yinsheng Digifavor Company Limited

Annual Report 2024
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties failure to perform their obligations at the end of the reporting
period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of these assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its (i) trade

receivables; (i) deposits and other receivables; (iii) bank balances.

Trade receivables

The management of the Group determines credit limits based on the credit
quality. Credit limits are reviewed annually over these balances. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. An impairment test is performed at the end of
the reporting period using the simplified approach. To measure the ECLs, the
balances are assessed individually and collectively with appropriate groupings,
which is based on similar loss pattemns (i.e, by product, service or customer
type and internal credit rating). The provision rates are calculated on external
credit ratings and historical credit loss experience. The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current conditions

and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Impairment (net) of RMBI,321,000 is recognised for the year ended 3|
December 2024 (2023: RMB66,000). Details of the quantitative disclosures
are set out below in this note. In this regard, the directors of the Company
consider that the Group's credit risk of trade receivables is significantly

reduced.

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

28. £@IE#E)

b.

BHRERREEBEREE (&)
EE R B ET

¥ FARRERRRERITR
EMEMR - AEERGECRHE
REMEEMBAINRAEE
R BEREE MBI ERZT
MEENEKEE AXEHEERS
BOBIHEMFIE : (ke kE
M EWGRIE (i) RITRESBNEER
R

ESRKRTE
AGEEEEEREEFEERE
EERRE - ASESFHSE
REEHNER LRAERE
B - AKECHIEEMmEERF
RRERIURER B R TR MG
% o NS RREAELCTEE
TTRERH - RFEBRHEER
B BRIBEEEUSERER
(BMZER - REHEPRAIEA
HEENR) RASBAENET
ERRERBERS - BEXTS
RENBEEFRLBEEER
BERHE - B ERREER
IERIAR N R E B ER
HERBBESM - ERIARIEK
REBMRBANEENEER
BH o

BE-_Z-_NF+-A=1—H
EFERRRECFE) ARE
13210007 (ZE==F : AR¥E
66,0007T) ° EE W EFBFER
AT - st s - RAA
EZRRAEEE FHRKFIAN
EERBRAERD o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28.

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Deposits and other receivables, restricted bank deposits and bank balances
For deposits and other receivables, the Group performs an ongoing
individual credit evaluation of their counterparties financial conditions and
historical settlement records. The directors of the Company believe that
there are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL and the

management is of the opinion that the outstanding debts are recoverable.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counterparties are

banks with high credit ratings and stated-owned banks with good reputation.

The Group's intemal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following

ERMIAE)

b.

BHREREEEBREE (£)
EEmpERBETE (E)
B2 REMBERFE - ZRAR
TR R TA,
Eﬁ?ﬁ’i\&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ;&fuﬂlmlﬁﬁﬁé K
SEREREHFHOMBMRLR
REL B ERETEETN
i o RRRIEERA - BYRTE
WLA?KM:,*”IEE’MZT ﬂIﬂE

13%%?@ qﬂmﬂﬁ%{% ﬂﬁE
BEIR/AEEERKA TRE -

REFHRAASEEFRMNR
TRABRFBEBNBEFRTT
HIRITEHNEERRAR -

AKENAREERR ST E

categories: BREATER
Internal credit Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AMEE i 5 =) Lee HitERMEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired I2m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts
(i¥E HFTMBRNERREAYEEFNEY FEPEHEERE -ARLEE NEAEBEEER
TR E
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates in Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired 12m ECL
full but usually settle after due date
RERE EBALERRERERTAS FESRBCEERE - ARLEEE NEARBEEER

RS IE

‘C.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

28.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. TWIA(#E)
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) b. HBEREEBRRBE(E)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERBREEFE (R
Internal credit Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
AMEE 9t 5 B2 RWHE HitteMEE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired Lifetime ECL - not credit-
credit risk since initial recognition through impaired

information developed internally or

external resources

B EBRIMNIREASEMAEZEERR REPRNEERE - ARLEE FENRDEERHE -
B IR RERR LA R BB 12 0 AL AEEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — credit-
credit impaired
EFS EERTEMEECRAGERE HEIEDEEFE -CRLEGE FEPRNEESE -
B EREEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off Amount is written off

is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
R BEBRTEBARABENTHERNE HEFBLE MEEREE
BARKBEIRRRRAKEARZE

The identification of internal credit rating for all financial assets regularly AREEEETHEN MR

reviewed by the management of the Company to ensure relevant BEZNEEETRES - AR

information about specific financial assets is updated. RETEREEZABENERE
i o

REBBEAFTHR QA 21 7 ‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. £RMIAE)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) b.
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group's financial

assets, which are subject to ECL assessment:

PEREDREBEREE (&)
EEERRBETG (E)
TRAMASEBETHENEER
BREMENEREENEER

i
2024 2023
—EomE —T-o=F
External Internal Gross Gross
Credit Credit 12-month or carrying carrying
Notes Rating Rating Lifetime ECL amount amount
5hB AR 2EANFEY
WE FEFR  FETIR RHMEEER #EEE L%RAEE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Financial assets
at amortised cost
REERANERMEE
Bank balances 20 Ba— AAA N/A 12m ECL 50,841 89,782
RITEER NER 12EAESEEEE
Restricted bank deposits 20 Ba— AAA N/A 12m ECL 6,631 -
RRBIRITE TER NEAEHEEER
Deposits and other receivables 19 N/A N/A 12m ECL 14,326 5681
BE R A EWHR NER NER NEAESREEER
Trade receivables 18 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired 237,083 124,745
B S ENGIR NER (P#3E)  (individually assessed)
FENEREEBER —ARLRE
ERfE (ERIFFHE)
Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired 48,994 57,960
(collectively assessed)
FEURHEEFE—RBER
ER(E (RREFHE)
286,077 182,705
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e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

28.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. £®MIAE)
b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) b. HBEEAREBEERBE(Z
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERBRBEEFEG (E)
Note: The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for s - TRIERFEREREERBE
trade receivables within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). (RBEFEERE) B EYGK

HEERREH -

2024 2023
—E-ME —E_=F
Gross Gross

carrying Lifetime Carrying Lifetime

amount ECL (not amount ECL (not

Average of trade credit- Average of trade credit-

loss rate  receivables impaired) loss rate  receivables impaired)

A TFEER TR

B% fFEER 2% [FEBR

9 EKRE (R#4E T REEUR (R#E

BRE #BREE FERE) BiEE  BREE FERE)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR¥TR ARETT ARETT

Current (not past due) BNH3 (R EA) 0.11% 274,995 (299) 0.18% 181,039 G17)

190 days past due #H 1 £90H 0.13% 2,398 @) 0.28% 714 Q)

More than 90 days past due B EAEE90 H 15.42% 8,684 (1,339) = 952 =

057% 286077 (1,640) 0.17% 182,705 (319)
The loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default rates EEERENEEAREEES
over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking ANEFERELNLREE - I
information that is available without undue cost or effort. BEHBLEEBZHAIEHE

AERHAIEE ERHEL B -

Except for the trade receivables with significant balances were assessed for BEEAEHRNERE FEESE
impairment individually, the remaining balances were assessed collectively for BETI LN BT ABREE

allowance of credit losses, as follows: Er iR TR O

2024 2023
ity 2 —EI=F

Individual Collective Individual Collective

BE £ B R

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR®TR ARETT ARET:R

Gross carrying amount BERE(E 237,083 48,994 124,745 57,960
Less: allowance of credit losses & : BB EEE (1,470) (170) (109) (210)

Net carrying amount REFE 235,613 48,824 124,636 57,750

'.‘
FRYEHFHRAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

28. &@WIE#E)
b. HEEREEEEREE(£)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEmpERBETE (E)
Movement of allowance for credit losses on trade receivables are as follows: BORKNFEEEREREBNE
BT
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
FROENEESR
(RBEFERME)
RMB’000
ARBTR
Asat | January 2023 Ef:? =F—- 253
Impairment losses reversed on financial instruments RZEZ=F— )5] H EEWE’]
recognised as at | January 2023 ﬁrﬁ'ﬂlﬂﬁfﬁgﬁ/ﬂ@@ (253)
New financial assets originated HEANEREE 319
As at 31 December 2023 and | January 2024 —=f+=ZA=+—H
E=—F-_mF—-A—H 319
Impairment losses reversed on financial instruments RZZ_MF—H—B#RN
recognised as at | January 2024 R TAREBRERMD (319)
New financial assets originated HEENERMEE 1,640
As at 31 December 2024 RZZE-WE+-A=+—H 1,640

During the year, none of the trade receivables has been written off or is

subject to enforcement activities (2023: Nil).

‘C.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

28.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 28. £®MIAE)
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) b. MBEREEEERBEXE(Z)
Liquidity risk MEELEE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains REBRBECRARE  AEE
a level of cash and cash equivalents as well as undrawn banking facilities ERVARERERRR RN
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group's operations FEBMEERAKRESRER
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management of BHERNFENRE KR LEE
the Group monitors the utilisation of borrowings to ensure compliance with WA R ARIREGRITRE KT o K
loan covenants. SEEREERERNERER
PARER B ST B 2%
The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturities T RFINAEEERBEDN
for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the RIAE DS HMR - ZFINER
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on the ERemBErBEEaENRET
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes RReRERERNAEFHE
both interest and principal cash flows. KN EFEABER - JIRE
EHEREENHRERE -
Weighted Repayable
average  on demand | year Total
effective or within 3 months to  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to | year 5 years cash flows amount
RRERY RS
mE¥S  MMEAR RERE
BRA= ®E 3MEREZIF  IFESF an REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETRT ARMTR ARET:R
2024 —E-ME
Trade payables BORNTE - 42407 - - 42,407 42,407
Other payables At TR - 3,865 - - 3,865 3,865
Borrowings sk 400 40,563 82,735 - 123,298 122,000
Lease liabilties HERE 5.05 155 398 64l 1,194 1,124
86,990 83,133 641 170,764 169,396
REBEHFTERAD A

'.‘
20244 5 221 ;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.  Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

28. £RTIHEE)

b.

PREBEEREREER ()

Liguidity risk (Continued) BEELEB (£)
Weighted Repayable
average  on demand | year Total
effective or within 3 months to  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to | year 5 vears cash flows amount
BRBEK AR
s RIEAR HeneE
ERAE B 3EAZIE IFEF ks REME
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETE
2023 ZZ-=F
Trade payables BHENTE - 25,173 - - 25,173 25,173
Other payables HiEAH0E - 494| - - 4941 494]
Borrowings 5 400 299 30,237 = 30,536 30,000
Lease liabiltes HER(R 505 20 604 1,193 1,998 | 847
30,614 30,841 1,193 62,648 61,96l
[ Fair value of financial instruments c} SRMIANATE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost is
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing model based on

discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in consolidated

financial statements approximate their fair values.

‘C.
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29.

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 29.

Certain of the Group's borrowings are secured by assets of the Group and the

carrying amounts of which at the end of each reporting are stated below:

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

EEHER
ETAKBEERDAASEEELRS

ERSHEHROKEESHINNT -

2024 2023
—B-mE it St
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARETT
Trade receivables B 5 WA 107,405 74,463
Restricted bank deposits R HIRITIER 2,000 =
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 0. BELXS
(O B 23 e N &=
(@) Save for disclosed in Notes 19 and 21, the Group entered into the @ BREEI9R2AMBRERS - AR
2T B Zx B
following transactions with the related party: BIEEBI AL FIIRS -
2024 2023
—B-mE —B-=F
Name of related party Name of transaction RMB’000 RMB'000
o)yt REEM AR®TR ARETT
Yinsheng Communication Company Limited  Purchase of top-up credits 2,274,109 1,765,787

REBEARAR BEARTH

Note: Yinsheng Communication Company Limited is controlled by Mr. Lin
Chongcheng, the sibling of Ms. Lam Ching Wan, a substantial shareholder
of the Company, it became a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules from 26 October 2021. The transactions disclosed represent
purchase of top-up credits by the Group from | January 2024 to 3|
December 2024 (2023: Same). Such amounts accounted for approximately
16% (2023: 13%) to the total gross purchase amount for the year ended 31
December 2024.

WisE - RBBIEHERA A AMER L
£ (MBI R) FTE
# - MRS =L T RARAA
FERE -R-TE-—F1+A
ZHABREETRAK AR
RAINMBEATL - IRENZ
SEAEEN IR -_ZE - MF
—A—BE-ZT-_NF+=A
St-BEHRBERRLE
(ZZ=Z=F : HRA/BR) - &%
SeHEBEE-_T-MF+=
A=+ HLEFEREEED
16%(ZTE-=%F :13%) °
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for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 30 BEMAXRS (&)
(b)  Compensation of key management personnel b) ETEBEEAENMS
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management FRN BEERHEMFETREN
during the year were as follows: MemT
2024 2023
—E-mE “E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Salaries and other short term benefits e REAMRE HER 7,336 9913
Discretionary bonuses FIETEAL 3,393 -
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRRAETEIHR 360 361
11,089 10274
‘C.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 300 BHARS (&)
()  Guarantee (o ¥R

ERBAERRDT :

The guarantee of borrowing facilities were as follows:

2024 2023
—E-E —EC-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETT
Secured bank borrowing facility guaranteed by BRI BRREAR AR (T
Shenzhen Haimeng Investment Company (iv)) ~ RRFEFYI (FIREQ)) =&
Limited (note (iv)), Daily Charge SZ (note (i)) e (BT (i) BRI AR IR
and Mr. Huang Junmou (note (i) TEHRE 30,000 30,000
Secured bank and other borrowings facility RARFTARY| (BEEG)) - MERKE
guaranteed by Daily Charge SZ (note (i)), A (Pt et (i) RE &R & (R
Mr. Lin Chongcheng (note (ii)) and (i) BREOBERRITREMEK
Mr. Huang Junmou (note(ii)) A& 20,000 =
Secured bank borrowings facility guaranteed RARTRY (M) REEFRE
by Daily Charge SZ (note (i)) and # (PMEEG)) BREBERRITE
Mr. Huang Junmou (note(i)) HEE 20,000 -
Bank overdraft facility guaranteed by BARFAYI - RERHE R EE
Daily Charge SZ, Yinsheng Technology BRAR] (ki) - REKEE
Services Group Company Limited (note (iii)), <W§j{(iii)) REBHEEE (M‘TE\(H))
Mr. Lin Chongcheng (note (iii)) and RRMBITEXRE
Mr. Huang Junmou (note(ii)) 40,000 =
Unsecured bank borrowing facility guaranteed RIRERERGEEFR A A] (M5
by Yinsheng Technology Services Group (iii)) ~ ARERK S A& (HEaE (i) ~ AR
Company Limited (note (i), Mr. Lin Bix e (HHEE (i) RERRLE
Chongcheng (note (iii)), Mr. Lin Ruibin (R (i) PR OR MO BRI THE K
(note (iii)) and Mr. Huang Junmou (note(ii)) mE 12,000 —
Notes: B aE -
0] Daily Charge SZ is one of the subsidiaries of the Group (Note 34). (i) ARFRNBAREE M E AR

Z— (MiE34) »

(i) Mr. Huang Junmou is an executive director and a substantial shareholder of iy BEFELEERERAMTES
the Company. REZRE o
(i) Both Mr. Lin Chongcheng and Mr. Lin Ruibin are the shareholders of Yinsheng (i)  MREREERARGREES R

RERREREEEAR R AK
BE MEREEEBER
(NBIEE30() FTal) » MRS
RERBUE=F o

Technology Services Group Company Limited where Mr. Lin Chongcheng
is a connected party as explained in Note 30(a) and Mr. Lin Ruibin is an
independent third party.

A mEBREFRDA AR
YIFFRMELRRZ — -

(iv)  Shenzhen Haimeng Investment Company Limited is one of the registered (iv)
shareholders of Shenzhen NNK.
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e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD SCHEME 3. BRESTERR G EEE

On 14 December 2015, the Company conditionally adopted a share option
scheme pursuant to a resolution passed by its then shareholders on 14 December
2015 (2015 Share Option Scheme"), for the primary purpose of providing
incentives or rewards to eligible employees, non-executive directors of the

Company and other selected participants.

The principal terms of which are summarised in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information F. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Company's
prospectus in respect of the listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange dated 24 December 2015. As at 31 December 2024, no share option
about 2015 Share Option Scheme was granted (2023: Same).

On 30 September 2024, the Board proposed to terminate the 2015 Share Option
Scheme and adopt a new share scheme involving the grant of options over new
Shares by the Company (2024 Share Option Scheme”) to replace the existing
share option scheme to satisfy the new requirements under the Listing Rules. Since
the adoption of the 2015 Share Option Scheme and up to the date of termination,
no option has been granted, exercised, lapsed nor cancelled under the 2015 Share

Option Scheme.

On the same day, the Board also proposed a share scheme involving the grant of

new Shares by the Company (2024 Share Award Scheme").

The adoption of the 2024 Share Option Scheme and the 2024 Share Award
Scheme were approved at the extraordinary general meeting held on 30 October
2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)
Particulars of the 2024 Share Option Scheme are set out below:

Purpose of the 2024 Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2024 Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to the eligible participants, who have contributed or may contribute to
the growth, development and success of the Group and for such other purpose as
the Board may approve from time to time to attract, retain and motive the eligible
participants to continue to contribute to the growth and development of the

Group.

The board of directors of the Company may, at its absolute discretion, invite
any director or employee of, or any person who has accepted an employment
offer (whether full time or part time) from, or who is being granted options as an
inducement to enter into employment contract with, the Company or any Member
of the Group to be an eligible participant of the 2024 Share Option Scheme and to

take up an option to subscribe for shares of the Company.

Total number of shares available for issue under the scheme

Under the 2024 Share Option Scheme, the maximum number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2024 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the share capital
of the Company in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under the
2024 Share Option Scheme if the grant of such option will result in the limit being
exceeded. Subject to the approval of the Company's shareholders, the aggregate
number of the Company's shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2024 Share Option

Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the Company'’s shares in issue from time to time.

31,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 3/ December 2024
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31.

‘C.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)
Maximum entitlement of each participant

No Participants shall be granted an option if total number of shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted (including both
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any |2-month period up to and
including the date of grant to such Participant would exceed in aggregate 1% of the
shares for the time being in issue unless the proposed grant has been approved by
the shareholders of the Company in general meeting with the proposed grantee

and his associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director or substantial shareholder of the Company, or
to any of their associates, are subject to approval in advance by the independent
non-executive directors of the Company. In addition, any share options granted
to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company's shares at the date of the grant) in excess of 0.1% of the shares in
issue on the grant date, within any |2-month period, are subject to shareholders’

approval in advance in a general meeting.

Period within which the share must be taken up under an option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2024 Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine which
shall not be more than ten years from the date of grant of the option subject to
the provisions of early termination thereof and the board of directors may provide
restrictions on the exercise of an option during the period an option may be

exercised.

Amount payable upon acceptance of the option and the period within which the
payment must be made HK$1.00 shall be paid within 21 days from the date of
offer of the option or for such other period as the Company may specify in writing
and notify to the eligible participant concerned, which period shall not in any event

exceed 60 days from the date of grant of an option (inclusive of the date of grant).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)
Basis of determining the subscription price of the option

The subscription price for shares under the 2024 Share Option Scheme shall be
a price determined by the board of directors, but in any case shall be at least the

higher of:

the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily

quotations sheet on the date of grant, which must be a business day;

2. the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date

of grant; or

3. the nominal value of a share on the date of grant, and as subsequently

adjusted pursuant to the terms of the Scheme, if relevant.

Remaining life of the 2024 Share Option Scheme

The 2024 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the date of adoption (i.e. 30 October 2024 and ending on 29 October 2034),
after which no further options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme
shall remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
options granted or exercised prior to otherwise as may be required in accordance

with the provision of the 2024 Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2024, no share option was granted under 2024 Share Option

Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

31.

‘C.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Particulars of the 2024 Share Award Scheme are set out below:

Purpose of the 2024 Share Award Scheme

The purposes of the 2024 Share Award Scheme are to effectively recognise
employee’s contribution to the Group and/or providing an incentive to employee
to remain with or join the Group, for participation in the Scheme as a selected
employee and determine the purchase, subscription and/or allocation of awarded

shares according to the terms of the 2024 Share Award Scheme.

Eligible participants

Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, such include any director or employee of, or any
person who has accepted an employment offer (whether full time or part time)
from, or who is being granted options as an inducement to enter into employment

contract with, the Company or any member of the Group.

Maximum number of shares to be awarded

The Scheme Mandate Limit under the 2024 Share Award Scheme will be
41,500,000 Shares, representing 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at 30
October 2024.

Termination
Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board, the 2024
Share Award Scheme will be valid and effective for 10 years commencing on the

Adoption Date.

Since the adoption of the 2024 Share Award Scheme and up to the date of this
report, none of the issued Shares has been purchased or issued nor any awards

have been granted under the 2024 Share Award Scheme.
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32.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 3. MEETHELENEEHRE
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing TEARAEERETHELNEEE
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing g BRASIEREEY - BEEY
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified EXNARERFEERERERER
in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing AREREXRRAEAEDHHWS
activities. BRREEHRENENEE -
Lease
Borrowings liabilities
(Note 24) (Note 23)
LA HERRE
(Ff5E24) (FFE23)
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
At | January 2023 RZE=-=%—H—H 60,000 2,194
Financing cash flows: MEREMNE -
Proceeds from borrowings EBRETERIE 230,000 -
Repayment of borrowings BEER (260,000) =
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities ERESEENAEHS - (858)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities EEEERENMNEHD = (116)
Interest paid BERFLE (789) -
Total changes from financing cash flows RERERENEHER (30,789) (974)
Other changes: HAth B -
New leases entered BETEA A - 501
Early termination of lease LA = =
Interest expenses (Note 9) FEFAX (FIEE9) 789 16
Total other changes Hih & 8hmss 789 627
'.‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 3/ December 2024
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32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 2. MEEHELNEEHERE)
ACTIVITIES (Continued)
Lease
Borrowings liabilities
(Note 24) (Note 23)
CEN HESE
(F&E24) (FffaE23)
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®TR
At 31 December 2023 and | January 2024 RZE_=%+-_A=1+—8BkK 30,000 1,847
—F-M$—A—H
Financing cash flows: MERTRE
Proceeds from borrowings fERFEIA 186,000 -
Repayment of borrowings BEER (134,000) -
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities EEEEaENAEHS - (723)
Repayment of interest portion of lease liabilities BREEBENMEFS - @81
Interest paid ERFHLE (2,204) -
Total changes from financing cash flows RERERENEHETE 49,796 (804)
Other changes: Hofh
Interest expenses (Note 9) FEFRXZ (FFEE9) 1,790 8l
Prepaid interest (included in prepayments, deposits HERHE (GTATERNFIE -
and other receivables) (Note 19) wE REMEKRIE) (K 19) 500 -
Interest payable (included in other payables FERAE (GEAE AN FIE
and accruals) (Note 22) KETER) (M3122) (86) -
Total other changes: H 8@z 2,204 8l
At 3| December 2024 R-FB-MF+_A=+—H 82,000 1,124
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For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 33. AATFMBMRRKEER
COMPANY
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REWB AR 966 [,162
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 491 289
Other receivables H it FEYT IR 114 =
Amounts due from a subsidiary FEUS Ff /B8 12 R FKIE 47 48
652 337
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables H it FEf50IE 4,691 4,091
Amounts due to a subsidiary FET BB A RIFRIR 16,893 7,890
21,584 11,981
Net current liabilities TEEEFE (20,932) (11,644)
Net liabilities BEFE (19,966) (10,482)
Capital and reserves EXK
Share capital [N 27,221 27,221
Reserves & (47,187) (37,703)
Capital deficiency MR AN At (19,966) (10,482)
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved and authorised ARANFBRRRER T _REF=
for issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf AZt+tREEESH A RRETE -
by: Wl TIEEFRRES
Zhou Jinhuang Huang Junmou
A& "ER
Executive Director and Chairman Executive Director and Honorary Chairman

HITEFRLE HITEERFEBTE
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33.

‘C.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Movement in the Company’s reserves

33. APAMBRRERFBEER(E)

AAAREED

Share  Accumulated

premium losses Total

R4 RE RitEE we

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMTT AR®BTR AR¥TR

At | January 2023 R-FE-_=F—H—H 38,037 (64,159) (26,122)

Loss and other comprehensive expense for the year  FAIE1E M E A4 2 HEF X - (11,581) (11,581)
At 31 December 2023 and | January 2024 RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H

R-E-mE—F—H 38,037 (75,740) (37,703)

Loss and other comprehensive expense for the year FAIE1E R A 2T - (9,484) (9,484)

At 31 December 2024 RZZE-_WNE+-_A=1+—H 38,037 (85,224) (47,187)
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34.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and 2023

were as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
BE-FT-MFF-A=+—HUFE

34, MIBRARFHE

ARAN-F-MER=F-=F+=

A=t+—RMBARFENT

Percentage of issued

capital held
Place of incorporation/ e RTELRED L
Names of subsidiary registration/operation 2024 2023 Principal activities
AL R

WEAR AR BB ZRDRE o= FEER

Phone Charge Technology Limited British Virgin Islands 100 100 Investment holding

Phone Charge Technology Limited HBERAHE REER

NN Payment Limited (Note iv) British Virgin Islands N/A 100 Investment holding

NN Payment Limited (Fi7Eiv) HEBRAHE @A REER

Daily Charge (Hong Kong) Technology Limited ~ Hong Kong 100 [00  Investment holding

Daily Charge (Hong Kong) Technology Limited & REER

FEZNARAF (Note iv) Hong Kong N/A 100 Inactive

FEXNARRT (i) &R TER TEEX

Daily Charge SZ (Note ii) The PRC 100 100 Investment holding and digital
marketing service

RRFEAIN (B i) e BB N ET 2 HRE

Shenzhen NNK (Note i) The PRC 100 00 Mobile top-up, digital marketing
services and technical
development

ARYEER (Bt P FHEBAR EFEBRBR
YRS

BEFFRBERRARAF (Note i) The PRC 100 100 Digital marketing service

REFFIREMRBERAT (M) 5 BT 2 HRS

Y| A8 2R EBE R AR 2 7] (Note i) The PRC 100 100 Technical development

AR BB AR AR () i AR

ZETARBHE (RY) B R 2 8] (Note ii) The PRC 100 100 Digital marketing service

AR ORYN) BB AR (M) hE BT 2HRS

IR BERRAR 2 F](Note i) The PRC 100 100 Digital marketing service

ERYERBR AT (M) P BT 2 MRS

Shenzhen Yinsheng Huitang Technology Co,, Ltd.  The PRC 51 51 Sale of consultation packages and

(Note iii) products related to diabetes

(2023: inactive)

AYmReE SRR AR AR (M) hE HERKRIEBFARERER
(ZB-=F : EELH)

BREHENRERAA The PRC 100 N/A  Digital marketing services

REHERBARAR i TR BETEHRS

caman o
REHEHFERAA
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34.

‘C.

Yea

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

M

(i

(iii)

)

The equity interests of the subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company through
the VIE Arrangement and the subsidiaries are wholly domestic owned enterprises
established in the PRC.

The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC.

On 8 December 2023, the Group and an independent third party (the “Non-
controlling interests”), reached an agreement (the "“Agreement”) for establishment of
Shenzhen Yinsheng Huitang Technology Co., Ltd. (“Yinsheng Huitang”). The business
portfolio including but not limited to establishing an online consultation, diagnosis and
treatment management service platform for chronic diseases such as diabetes, and
providing relevant big data, artificial intelligence models and digital human customer

service.

According to the Agreement, the issued capital of the Yinsheng Huitang is
RMB 10,000,000, and the Group owned 51.0% equity interest of the Yinsheng Huitang
and the non-controlling interests owned 49.0% of the equity interest of the Yinsheng
Huitang. The Group will contribute the share capital in cash and the non-controlling
interests will contribute the share capital by technologies and intellectual property
rights. Yinsheng Huitang was established on 22 December 2023 and the capital
contribution of RMB5,100,000 was injected and paid by the Group during the year
ended 3| December 2024.

These subsidiaries have been deregistered during the year.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the each

reporting period or at any time during the year.
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35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Defined contribution retirement plans

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a state-
managed retirement benefits scheme being operated by the local PRC government.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of the average
basic salary to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make

the specified contributions.

Under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance regulated by the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority in Hong Kong, the Group
participates in a MPF Scheme operated by an approved trustee in Hong Kong
and makes contributions for its eligible employees. Under the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income. The cap of monthly relevant income is HK$30,000 (2023:
HK$30,000) during the year. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of employer's
contribution made by the Group is RMB5,482,000 (2023: RMB4,110,000) (Note
10).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e WA ME

for the year ended 3/ December 2024
HBE-—F-ME+=A=1—AI5E

Defined benefit retirement plans and LSP obligations

For the Group's subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong, pursuant to the Employment
Ordinance, Chapter 57, the Group has the obligation to pay LSP to qualifying
employees in Hong Kong under certain circumstances (e.g. dismissal by employers
or upon retirement), subject to a minimum of 5 years employment period, based

on the following formula:

Last monthly wages (before termination of employment) X 2/3 X Years of service

Last monthly wages are capped at HK$22,500 (equivalent to approximately
RMB21,000) while the amount of long service payment shall not exceed
HK$390,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB368,000). This obligation is
accounted for as a post-employment defined benefit plan. Furthermore, the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group
to utilise the Group's mandatory MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/

negative retumns thereof, for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable to an employee.

The Amendment Ordinance was gazetted on 17 June 2022, which abolishes the
use of the accrued benefits derived from employers” mandatory MPF contributions
to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect on the Transition Date (i.e.,
| May 2025). Separately, the Government of the HKSAR has introduced a subsidy
scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years after the Transition Date on

the LSP payable by employers up to a certain amount per employee per year.

35.  RETIREMENT SCHEMES (Continued) 35. RRGHEI(E)
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35.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RETIREMENT SCHEMES (Continued)

Defined benefit retirement plans and LSP obligations (Continued)

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group's mandatory MPF contributions,
plus/minus any positive/negative returns, after the Transition Date can continue
to be applied to offset the pre-Transition Date LSP obligation but are not eligible
to offset the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP obligation
before the Transition Date will be grandfathered and calculated based on the Last
monthly wages immediately preceding the Transition Date and the years of service

up to that date.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance cause immaterial
impacts to the Group's LSP obligation with respect to Hong Kong employees.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, there is no significant actuarial

assumption for determination of the LSP obligation.

35.

e P AR MR

For the year ended 3/ December 2024
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Five-Year Financial Summary

LFEHMBRE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSSAND ~ FEBIfR &Rz R E M2 EKmER
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
ZE-mE -—B-=F —T--F -5 -B-FF
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMBIO0O RMBI00O
ARETR ARBTT ARETR AR®TT ARETR
Revenue Wiz 128,627 91,030 86,655 90622 81,742
Cost of revenue WA (23461) (16475) (13,887) (14783) (18228)
Gross profit 7 102,101 73825 72478 75,551 63001
Profit before tax ER AT A 38,390 24779 36,162 3,037 30219
Income tax expense FiEHiR (9,049) (8426) (8897) (5559) (6)
Profit and total comprehensive income wH R EERRAR 29341 16,353 27,265 26478 30213
Attrbutable to: FE(G
Owners of the Company KREEBA 31,943 16,353 27265 26478 30213
Non-controlling interests MRS (2,602) = = = =
Earnings per share — basic (RMB cents) BREXEN (AEES) 7.70 394 6.57 6.38 7.28
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HRFEEERAER
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—B-NE —F-=F ZE--f T4 CZIT-TF
RMB'000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMBI00O RMB000
ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARBTT ARETR
Total assets REE 560,824 412533 506,599 379842 352970
Total liablities BafE 252,181 133231 243,650 144158 143764
Net asset BEFE 308,643 279,302 262949 235,684 209,206
Equity attributable to owners KRFIER A BER
of the Company 311,245 279302 262949 235,684 209,206
Non-controlling interests FPE R (2,602) = = = =
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